TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN Lehrstuhl für Biofunktionalität der Lebensmittel

Dietary factors in the modulation of Crohn's disease-like ileitis

Stefan J. Wagner

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzende:

Univ.-Prof. Dr. H. Daniel

Prüfer der Dissertation: 1. Univ.-Prof. Dr. D. Haller

2. apl. Prof. Dr. K. Schümann

Die Dissertation wurde am 03.05.2012 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt am 04.08.2012 angenommen.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
ABSTRACT
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)6
1.2. The role of nutrition in IBD
1.2.1. Dietary factors in the pathogenesis of IBD9
1.2.2. Malnutrition in IBD
1.3. Medical therapy of IBD12
1.3.1. Conventional therapy 12
1.3.2. Biologicals
1.4. Nutritional therapy in IBD15
1.4.1. Maintenance of remission15
1.4.2. Induction of remission
1.5. Celiac disease
1.6. Animal models of IBD
1.6.1. Ileitis model (TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mouse)19
1.6.2. Colitis model (IL-10 ^{-/-} mouse)
1.6.3. T cell transfer model of colitis and ileitis
1.6.4. Elemental diet and animal models of mucosal inflammation
2. AIMS OF THE WORK
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS
3.1. Animals
3.2. Diets
3.3. Histological scoring
3.4. Immunohistochemical labeling
3.5. RNA isolation, reverse transcription and real-time PCR
3.6. IEL/LPL isolation
3.7. Flow cytometry
3.8. Particle size distribution measurement27
3.9. FT-IR spectroscopy 27
3.10. Cecal lysates

3.11. Dietary suspensions	28
3.12. Peptic-tryptic digestion of gluten (PT-gluten)	28
3.13. Isolation of MLNs and splenocytes	29
3.14. Cell culture and stimulation	29
3.15. CD4 ⁺ T-cell isolation	30
3.16. Generation of BM-DCs	30
3.17. Coculture of BM-DCs and $CD4^+$ T-cells	31
3.18. ELISA	31
3.19. Statistical analysis	32
4. RESULTS	33
4.1. Effects of dietary intervention on Crohn's disease-like ileitis	33
4.1.1. Semi-synthetic diet ameliorates ileitis in TNF $^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice	33
4.1.2. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of TNF $^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ and WT mice	36
4.1.3. Cellular analysis of TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} and WT mice	39
4.1.4. Time-dependent effects of dietary intervention	44
4.1.5. Rapid development of chronic intestinal inflammation in TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice	45
4.1.6. Low concentrations of Chow diet induce chronic ileitis in TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice	46
4.1.7. Particle size distribution measurements	49
4.1.8. Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) analysis	51
4.1.9. Antigenicity of cecal lysates is not altered by experimental diet	56
4.1.10. Chow suspensions have immunogenic potential	60
4.1.11. Gluten-fortified experimental diet induces chronic ileitis in TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice	63
4.1.12. Effects of a wheat depleted Chow diet on tissue pathology in TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice	69
4.2. Dietary modulation of IL-10 ^{-/-} colitis by experimental diet	72
4.3. Experimental diet in the modulation of adoptive transfer colitis and ileitis	74
5. DISCUSSION	79
5.1. Effects of dietary intervention on Crohn's disease-like ileitis	80
5.2. Gluten and Crohn's disease-like ileitis	86
5.3. Impact of experimental diet on IL-10 ^{-/-} mice and T-cell transfer colitis	88
5.4. Conclusion and outlook	90
6. APPENDIX	92
LIST OF FIGURES	99
LIST OF TABLES	102
ABBREVIATIONS	103
REFERENCES	105

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	118
PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS	119
CURRICULUM VITAE	121
ERKLÄRUNG	122

ABSTRACT

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) comprising Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) are chronic relapsing inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract. Accumulating evidence suggests that a combination of environmental factors such as smoking or diet may contribute to a dysbalanced immune-response against the commensal microbiota in a genetically susceptible host. The worldwide incidence of IBD is rising and a general adaptation to Western lifestyle including a Western diet has been implicated in this observation, especially in developmental countries. Enteral nutritional therapy has been proven successful for treatment in a subset of IBD patients. However, the underlying mechanisms are not completely understood. Thus, we aimed at elucidating the effects of a semi-elemental diet in genetically susceptible animal models of mucosal inflammation. The TNF^{ARE/WT} mouse resembles a model for CD, which develops chronic ileitis under conventional conditions on a standard Chow diet. By contrast, we could show that pathogenesis of Crohn's disease-like ileitis could be inhibited by early dietary intervention using a semi-elemental experimental diet (Exp). The protective state was associated with decreased expression of proinflammatory cytokines, pattern recognition receptors and homing related addressins in distal ileal tissues. Although, dietary intervention was not associated with a phenotypic change of CD8⁺ effector IEL/LPL subpopulations, we did observe an overall decrease in infiltrating leukocytes. However, administration of experimental diet was not effective for induction of remission in an already established inflammatory setting. Moreover, supplementation of experimental diet with low concentrations (10%) of Chow was sufficient to induce maximal chronic intestinal inflammation. FT-IR analysis of cecal contents from Chow and Exp treatment groups showed diet-related differences in spectral distance. However, no alteration in antigenicity could be observed in a coculture model of cecal lysate pulsed BM-DCs and CD4⁺ T-cells. Furthermore, gluten was identified as dietary antigen that plays a role in Crohn's disease-like ileitis. Peptic tryptic digests of gluten induced TNF secretion in total MLNs and gluten-fortified experimental diet could induce chronic ileitis in TNF^{ARE/WT} mice. The protective effect of experimental diet inhibiting mucosal inflammation could be confirmed in the IL-10^{-/-} mouse, whereas results in a T-cell transfer model of colitis seemed to be equivocal. In conclusion, we could show that Crohn's disease-like ileitis can be inhibited by dietary intervention using a semi-elemental experimental diet. Unraveling the underlying mechanisms might reveal new concepts for the improvement of nutritional therapy in IBD patients. Moreover, gluten fortification of experimental diet could reverse the protective effect. Thus, the TNF $^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mouse might serve as a new model for spontaneous gluten intolerance.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) are chronic relapsing inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract with a multifactorial etiology. Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) represent the two major forms of IBD, which typically show disease onset in the second and third decades of life in genetically predisposed individuals [1]. Histologically, ulcerative colitis is characterized by superficial inflammation that is limited to the mucosa and submucosa of the colon. Inflammation usually starts in the rectum, spreads proximally in a continuous fashion and may be associated with cryptitis and crypt abscesses. By contrast, Crohn's disease most typically involves the terminal ileum but may affect any part of the gastrointestinal tract in a non-continuous fashion. The microscopic features of Crohn's disease include transmural inflammation, a thickened submucosa and commonly associated complications such as strictures, abscesses, fistulas and non-caseating granulomas. [2, 3].

The incidence of IBD is increasing worldwide, and their prevalence is higher than 200 cases per 100,000 inhabitants in Western countries [4]. Several factors that contribute to disease pathogenesis have been identified, including genetic factors, a dysregulated immune system and environmental factors such as diet and the gut microbiota [2, 5] (**Figure I-1**). Balancing the need to respond to pathogens while co-existing with commensal bacteria and luminal antigens is a key challenge of the intestinal immune system [3]. There is accumulating evidence that IBD is associated with an imbalance in the composition of the intestinal microbiota, termed dysbiosis. The concept of substantial microbial impact on disease pathogenesis is supported by various mouse models of IBD in which inflammation is ameliorated by their development in a germ-free environment [6]. Yet, it is not clear whether dysbiosis represents a primary or secondary predisposing factor for IBD, as it may be related to, or intensified by other defects [5, 7]. However, there is strong evidence to support that IBD results from an inappropriate innate and adaptive immune response to commensal microorganisms in genetically susceptible individuals, but the precise etiology remains unclear [8].





The interaction of environmental factors such as diet and the gut microbiota in / with a genetically susceptible host may lead to impaired regulation of intestinal homeostasis associated with chronic mucosal inflammation.

To identify genes that contribute to disease susceptibility, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have been conducted, successfully revealing 99 non-overlapping genetic risk loci (71 in Crohn's disease and 47 in ulcerative colitis), including 28 that are shared between both types of IBD [9, 10]. In 2001, two groups identified NOD2 (also designated CARD15 and *IBD1*), which is an intracellular sensor of bacterial peptidoglycan, as a susceptibility gene in Crohn's disease [11, 12]. Since then, several additional susceptibility loci have been implicated in IBD and confirmed by replication. Analyses of the genes and genetic loci revealed by GWAS show several pathways that are crucial for intestinal homeostasis, including barrier function, epithelial restitution, microbial defence, innate immune regulation, reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation, autophagy, regulation of adaptive immunity, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and metabolic pathways associated with cellular homeostasis [1]. Evidence suggests that there are distinct pathogenic mechanisms related to microbial processing in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, as several genetic risk factors such as NOD2 and autophagy related ATG16L1 and IRGM are specific to patients with Crohn's disease and are not observed in those with ulcerative colitis. By contrast, multiple genes implicated in the IL-23 pathway, including IL23R, IL12B and STAT3 have been associated with both forms of IBD [13, 14].

Interestingly, more than 50% of IBD susceptibility loci have been found to be associated with other inflammatory and autoimmune diseases as well. Moreover, overlapping genetic risk loci may have contrasting effects in different diseases. For example, protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 22 (*PTPN22*, R620W) is associated with altered

responsiveness of T and B cell receptors and is protective against Crohn's disease, while being a strong risk factor for type 1 diabetes and rheumatoid arthritis [15, 16]. These data illustrate the complex interplay between genetic variations and disease phenotypes.

Furthermore, the relatively low concordance rate in monozygotic twins of 10–15% in ulcerative colitis and 30–35% in Crohn's disease suggests that non-genetic environmental factors may have a strong impact on IBD pathogenesis [9, 10]. For example, smoking seems to exacerbate Crohn's disease while being protective against ulcerative colitis, thus being a disease-specific modifier of pathogenesis. Recent evidence suggests that smoking impairs autophagy, a process that seems to play a role especially in Crohn's disease, demonstrating how an environmental factor may mechanistically affect IBD development in a genetically predisposed individual [17]. Apart from smoking, environmental factors such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), infections and diet have been implicated in the pathogenesis of IBD [18].

Interestingly, over the last several decades, the incidence of IBD has severely increased especially in developing countries with historically low rates for these diseases. Increasing prevalence of IBD has been associated with a spread of "Western lifestyle" and increased status of hygiene in general, which might refer to the Hygiene Hypothesis, postulating that a missing exposure to microbial and/or infectious agents during childhood may negatively affect immune development and predispose to immunological and autoimmune diseases like IBD later in life [19-21]. Yet, the vast majority of studies in this area are impaired by methodological limitations, particularly the reliance on retrospective recall of information making it difficult to determine the importance of the Hygiene Hypothesis in IBD. However, apart from hygiene, an adaptation to "Western diet", high in fat and protein but low in fruits and vegetables has also been associated with the increasing incidence of IBD in developing countries [22]. There are several biologically relevant mechanisms, by which diet may influence intestinal inflammation, including antigen presentation, prostaglandin imbalance or alteration of the gut microbiota, which may have severe effects on immune and inflammatory responses of the host [23-25]. Accordingly, diet and the effects it has on immune homeostasis are suggested as important factors in the development of IBD.

1.2. The role of nutrition in IBD

1.2.1. Dietary factors in the pathogenesis of IBD

Several studies examined the relationship between specific dietary factors and the risk of IBD, including the macronutrients carbohydrate, fat and protein in general, and subgroups such as refined sugar, fiber, saturated fatty acids, omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids in specific. Other food groups like fruits, vegetables, meat and certain dairy products have also been investigated [22, 26, 27]. However, only high dietary intake of total fats, PUFAs, omega-6 fatty acids and meat seems to confer to an increased risk of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. By contrast, high intake of fiber and fruits was associated with decreased risk of Crohn's disease and high intake of vegetables pointed at a decreased risk for the development of ulcerative colitis, as demonstrated by a recent meta-analysis of 19 studies comprising 2,609 IBD patients (1,269 Crohn's disease and 1,340 ulcerative colitis patients) and over 4,000 controls [28]. Accordingly, the noticeable rise of Crohn's disease in Japan was analyzed by an epidemiologic study, demonstrating that increased dietary intake of n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and animal protein together with a change towards a more westernized diet were found to be associated with increased risk of developing Crohn's disease [29].

However, in spite of positive results in several clinical settings, the overall findings are equivocal because of insufficient data and methodological limitations, which might reflect that additional environmental and genetic factors modulate the impact of diet on IBD pathogenesis. Though, diet as a source of luminal antigens is still thought to play an important role in the immunopathogenesis of IBD. Whether antibodies against dietary antigens are a primary cause for IBD etiology or secondary to intestinal inflammation is yet to be established [30].

Major efforts have been made to analyze the effects of fatty acids in IBD development and several plausible underlying mechanisms could be revealed. For example, arachidonic acid (AA), derived from omega-6 fatty acids, serves as a precursor for eicosanoids, a family of proinflammatory signaling molecules. By contrast, eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), which belong to the omega-3 fatty acids, have the ability to antagonize the formation of eicosanoid mediators from AA, which results in suppression of inflammatory cytokines [31]. Omega-3 fatty acids may also decrease the expression of various proinflammatory genes by serving as cofactors for transcriptional factors such as nuclear factor-κB (NF-κB). Furthermore, PUFAs may be integrated into cell membranes and thus can alter membrane structure and function or induce lipoxins and resolvins (signaling molecules involved in the resolution of inflammation) [32]. Effects of fatty acids have also been investigated in animal models of mucosal inflammation. Studies in IL-10^{-/-} and dextran

sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis models showed a reduction in tissue pathology and downregulation of proinflammatory cytokine expression after administration of a diet high in EPA [33, 34]. Moreover, a modulation of intestinal permeability was demonstrated by a study with rats being fed a high-fat diet based on lard (high in saturated fatty acids (SFA) and monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs)). Interestingly, these animals showed increased small intestinal permeability due to reduced tight junction protein expression, which was independent of an obese phenotype [35]. Hudert et al. showed that mice, which endogenously biosynthesized omega-3 PUFAs from omega-6 PUFAs produced anti-inflammatory resolvins leading to effective reduction in inflammation and tissue injury in DSS-induced colitis. The protective effect was probably enhanced by higher expression of trefoil factor 3 and zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1) [36].

Less data is available concerning the molecular effects of high protein intake and diets rich in mono-, di- and polysaccharides or total carbohydrates on IBD pathogenesis and studies demonstrated equivocal outcomes [28, 37, 38]. By contrast, clear mechanisms could be attributed to the positive effects of dietary fiber. Fermentable fiber can be metabolized by the microbiota to short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) (acetate, propionate and butyrate), lactate and gas [39]. These byproducts are suggested to exert anti-inflammatory and anti-carcinogenic functions [40] as exemplified by the SCFA butyrate, which may prevent transcription of proinflammatory cytokines by inhibiting NF-kB. Further, butyrate can enhance peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) y activation, leading to reduced colonic permeability [41]. PPARy primarily senses fatty acids and a mutation in PPARy leading to insufficient activation of toll like receptor (TLR) 4-mediated activation of inflammatory pathways in response to commensal bacteria has recently been found to be associated with a subset of ulcerative colitis patients [42]. Moreover, several studies showed that colonic inflammation could be suppressed via PPARy induction by dietary supplementation of conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) [43, 44]. This effect seemed to be associated with a CLA-dependent increase of regulatory T-cells [45, 46]. CLA is mainly found in dairy products but can also be produced from linoleic acid by the human gut microbiota [47]. Thus, CLA provides a link between diet, microbial compounds and the control of inflammatory responses related to IBD pathogenesis [48].

Another role for nutrient-specific receptors in the context of IBD is demonstrated by human polymorphisms in the vitamin D receptor (VDR), which is associated with increased susceptibility to IBD development [49, 50]. The active form of vitamin D (1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol) induces cathelicidin production by specific nutrient-gene interaction, thereby contributing to innate immune defense mechanisms as well as driving immune cell functions towards a regulatory state [51, 52]. Consequently, animal models for IBD deficient

in vitamin D or VDR show increased susceptibility to develop experimental IBD and vitamin D supplementation successfully ameliorated the pathogenesis of colitis in these mice [53, 54]. Apart from direct effects, dietary factors may also have indirect effects on IBD pathogenesis via modulation of the gut microbiota and its metabolites. High-fat diet has been shown to alter the microbiome including a decrease in Bacteroidetes and an increase in both Firmicutes and Proteobacteria independently of an obese phenotype in wild-type and RELMbeta knockout mice [55]. Moreover, it could be demonstrated that dietary fiber and prebiotics not only serve as energy substrates for intestinal bacteria, but may also induce a shift in the microbial composition [56]. Consistently, feeding of infants with breast milk, which antimicrobial. anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory besides agents contains oligosaccharides that serve as prebiotics, has been shown to decrease the risk of developing Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis [57-59].

1.2.2. Malnutrition in IBD

Malnutrition is defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as the cellular imbalance between the supply of nutrients and energy on the one hand, and the body's demand for them to ensure growth, maintenance, and specific functions, on the other [60]. Malnutrition is a common side-effect in patients with IBD, especially in active Crohn's disease. The most important causes of malnutrition are reduced food intake,[61, 62] presence of active inflammation [63] and enteric loss of nutrients, in periods of disease activity but also during remission [64]. Micronutrient deficiencies are most frequently observed for iron, folate, and vitamin B12, but vitamin E, vitamin A, beta-carotene, magnesium, selenium, and zinc also may be depleted.

Several studies have reported weight loss in 70%-80% of hospitalized IBD patients and in 20%-40% of outpatients with Crohn's disease [65, 66]. The prevalence of malnutrition is lower in patients with ulcerative colitis, but nutritional deficiencies may develop fast in these patients during periods of active disease [67]. Anaemia is very often seen in patients with IBD, the incidence being up to 80%, [68], most likely because of iron deficiency caused by blood loss through gastrointestinal lesions. Oral iron supplementation seems effective for short periods of time, but intolerance can lead to discontinuation in up to 21% of patients [69]. In addition, a significant number of children with IBD, especially in Crohn's disease have impaired linear growth. Increased energy expenditure from chronic inflammation, proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF and IL-1, hormonal imbalances, decreased IGF-1, and exogenous steroids are suggested to be responsible factors. Moreover, as a consequence of malnutrition and malabsorption, protein-energy malnutrition has been found in 20–85% of patients with Crohn's disease and may further decrease quality of life [62, 70].

1.3. Medical therapy of IBD

1.3.1. Conventional therapy

Several different therapeutics and therapeutic strategies are available for IBD patients. The actual treatment of each patient may however depend on specific goals, such as relief of symptoms, induction of remission in patients with active disease, prevention of relapse, healing of fistulas, or avoidance of emergency surgery. The majority of IBD patients use aminosalicylates, corticosteroids, conventional therapy (namely, antibiotics and immunomodulatory agents) for prolonged periods of time [71]. Classic drug treatments aimed to induce and maintain the patient in remission and ameliorate the disease's secondary effects, rather than modifying or reversing the underlying pathogenic mechanism [72]. However, over the past decade, the goals of therapy for IBD have changed. In addition to induction and maintenance of corticosteroid-free remission, the expectations of treatment have been raised to include mucosal healing, avoidance of surgery and reduced rates of admission to hospital, as well as minimizing adverse effects [73].

Anti-inflammatory 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA, Mesalazine) remains the first-line therapy for both induction and maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis and is well-tolerated in the majority of patients. However, their use in patients with Crohn's disease remains limited, although some evidence suggests that 5-aminosalicylate therapy could help to prevent recurrence following surgically induced remission [74]. Yet, not all patients respond to 5-ASA therapy within the initial 2–4 weeks and high rates of non-adherence among patients (up to 60%) may affect treatment efficacy [75, 76].

Alternatively, corticosteroids are highly effective agents for inducing remission of active IBD in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients. Glucocorticoids bind to the glucocorticoid-receptor, which induces a signaling cascade that results in upregulation and downregulation of anti-inflammatory and proinflammatory factors, respectively. However, corticosteroids do not maintain remission and their adverse effects may be severe, which has led to an increased emphasis on limiting the duration and cumulative dose of steroids in IBD [77].

Immunomodulatory drugs may be an alternative therapeutic option for IBD patients. Azathioprine and 6-mercaptopurine have been used for more than 40 years in the treatment of both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. They are effective for both induction [78] and maintenance [79, 80] of remission in both diseases. These thiopurine antimetabolites impair purine biosynthesis and inhibit cell proliferation. Findings from a number of studies highlight the ability of thiopurines to achieve mucosal healing [81, 82], however thiopurine therapy may become ineffective in just over half of all patients and side effects may appear. Although immunosuppressant agents have significant adverse effects, they are safer and better tolerated than long-term corticosteroid therapy [83].

Furthermore, antibiotics may be applied in patients with IBD in specific situations. Antibiotics may be used to induce remission in mild to moderate Crohn's disease. They can also be administered as adjunctive treatment along with other medications for therapy of active IBD and for specific complications or prophylaxis for disease recurrence in postoperative Crohn's disease [84]. Yet, no good evidence supports their use in ulcerative colitis and significant side effects of prolonged systemic antibiotic use must be balanced against their potential benefits in Crohn's disease [85].

1.3.2. Biologicals

The development of the new biologic therapies was made possible by the clarification of the immunopathogenic mechanisms underlying chronic gut inflammation in IBD [86, 87]. In particular, the understanding of the primary role of the potent proinflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor (TNF) in mediating the classic lesions of IBD, i.e. ulcers, fistulas, granulomas and intestinal strictures, suggested that targeting this cytokine could offer a better therapeutic chance to IBD patients than conventional therapies [88]. Infliximab belongs to the first generation of anti-TNF antibody-based therapeutics. It is a chimeric immunoglobulin (25% mouse, 75% human) that binds to and neutralizes TNF, representing a new class of therapeutic agents for treating IBD [89]. Although infliximab was specifically designed to target TNF, it also may have more complex actions. Infliximab binds membrane-bound TNF and may cause lysis of these cells by complement- and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity Thus, infliximab may deplete specific populations of subepithelial inflammatory cells [90, 91]. Its long-term role in Crohn's disease is evolving, but emerging evidence supports its efficacy in inducing and maintaining remission, healing mucosa, preventing recurrence of fistulas, reducing hospitalizations and surgical operations [92, 93]. The impact of anti-TNF therapy on mucosal healing has also been investigated in ulcerative colitis. Infliximab achieved mucosal healing in nearly half of ulcerative colitis patients after 54 weeks in randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trials [94]. Unfortunately, about 50% of IBD patients undergo relapse within 1 year after cessation of infliximab [95]. Moreover, loss of response, also known as secondary non-response, occurs in a significant proportion of patients treated with anti-TNF therapy, and its risk has been estimated to be 13% per patient and year (e.g. due to development of anti-drug antibodies (ATI)) [96]. The relatively high costs of anti-TNF antibodies and their potential toxicity, mostly related to opportunistic infections and malignancy, have led to debate regarding the time of starting and the duration of treatment with biologicals [97].

The introduction of immunomodulators such as Azathioprine, and biologicals like antibodies to TNF has shifted the benchmark from clinical remission toward mucosal healing, which could not be accomplished by corticosteroids. However, one-third of patients do not clinically respond to anti-TNF antibodies, and durable remission is achieved in only a minority of the responder patients [96].

1.4. Nutritional therapy in IBD

1.4.1. Maintenance of remission

The European Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (ESPEN) [98] published guidelines for the role of enteral nutrition (EN) in patients with IBD suggesting oral nutritional supplements including tube feeding in undernourished patients with Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis to improve nutritional needs. Thus, EN has often been used as an adjunctive therapy to correct or to avoid malnutrition [99-101]. In addition, several authors have considered EN as a strategy to induce and maintain remission in patients with Crohn's disease using supplementary oral formula in combination with a regular diet throughout the day. This approach may also be used adjunctive to medical therapy [99, 102, 103]. There have been several studies assessing the efficacy of EN for maintenance of medically [104-106] or surgically [107-109] induced remission. Four prospective trials compared maintenance of remission between patients who received EN (elemental diet) and patients who did not. All of these studies showed a significantly better clinical remission rate in patients who had been treated with elemental diet, and notably, in one of these studies, [105] elemental diet therapy was associated with an improved endoscopic disease activity index. This observation suggested that EN may alleviate mucosal inflammation and this effect may promote better remission outcome. Thus, long-term EN supplementation may significantly reduce clinical and endoscopic recurrence after resection in Crohn's disease. Moreover, a retrospective review of children with new diagnosed Crohn's disease confirmed the superiority of eight weeks of enteral feeding over treatment with corticosteroids in maintaining remission, improving nutrition status, and recovering linear growth. In addition, mucosal healing was confirmed endoscopically in children on EN [110]. However, in contrast to Crohn's disease, EN therapy has not been adequately evaluated and seems to be less effective in patients with active ulcerative colitis [111, 112].

1.4.2. Induction of remission

1.4.2.1. Parenteral nutrition (PN)

Dudrick et al. [113] were the first to suggest that PN was safe and possibly beneficial to patients with IBD. The use of PN for managing adults with Crohn's disease succeeded in achieving clinical remission and avoiding surgery [113, 114]. However, the remission was often short lived and the number of patients remaining in remission three months later varied between 20% and 79% depending on the length of PN administration, population of patients, definitions of remission or recurrence and simultaneous use of medications [115]. PN was also proven a useful adjunctive therapy for ulcerative colitis patients requiring bowel rest and nutritional support, though not effective in induction of remission [116].

Since EN was shown to be at least as efficient as PN including lower costs and fewer significant side effects, the indications for PN support are restricted to severe malnutrition and for pre- and postoperative nutritional support, in both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis [117, 118].

1.4.2.2. Enteral nutrition (EN)

EN was shown to induce clinical remission, improve nutritional status and body composition, induce mucosal healing, decrease pro-inflammatory cytokine levels and reduce serum inflammatory markers in patients with Crohn's disease [119-121]. Three meta-analyses and two Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews published in recent years examined the efficacy of EN compared with corticosteroid therapy in Crohn's disease. The most recent included 192 patients treated with EN and 160 treated with steroids, which yielded a pooled OR of 0.33 favoring steroid therapy (95% CI: 0.21-0.53), and patients in whom remission was achieved, the relapse rates at 12 months were identical (65% and 67%) regardless of the therapy [122-124].

In spite of data suggesting that corticosteroid therapy produces higher efficacy rates as compared with EN in inducing remission, the results of dietary intervention studies should be interpreted with reservations. There are numerous factors that potentially may influence the efficacy of EN, such as population demography, study design, compositions of enteral formulae, route of administration, patient compliance and timing of endpoint assessment as well as definition of clinical remission. Additionally, the long-term efficacy of EN is rarely reported and therefore, is less well-established [30]. Thus, comparison of efficacy alone between EN and corticosteroids is not sufficient, as the two treatment modalities possess entirely different safety profiles. EN has minor, immediate side effects and no known long-term adverse effects, in contrast to corticosteroid therapy that may exhibit severe

complications. Especially for the patients who are steroid-refractory, steroid-dependent or steroid-intolerant, EN should be considered as alternative treatment strategy. As adjunctive therapy, EN is recommended for any malnourished patient or for patients with difficulty in maintaining normal nutritional status [99]. However, there is no evidence to support the use of EN as primary therapy in ulcerative colitis [112].

1.4.2.3. Exclusive enteral nutrition (EEN) in pediatric Crohn's disease

A number of controlled clinical trials conducted in the late 1980s demonstrated that elemental diet was effective in inducing clinical remission in children with active Crohn's disease [125]. A meta-analysis of five randomized clinical trials comprising 147 pediatric patients demonstrated that EEN was as effective as corticosteroids, regarding the induction of remission in children [relative risk = 0.95 (95% CI 0.67-1.34)] [126]. Besides improved growth and nutritional status, treatment with EEN may induce remission in up to 85% of newly diagnosed patients, while avoiding the adverse effects of steroids. These findings make EEN the preferred choice of treatment in children with active Crohn's disease [126, 127]. Thus, in the current European guidelines for the treatment of active Crohn's disease in children, EEN is recommended as the primary therapy [128].

Johnson et al. investigated whether partial enteral nutrition (PEN) might be as effective as EEN in induction of remission in pediatric Crohn's disease. They randomized children with active Crohn's disease to either receive all of their nutrition as elemental diet (EEN) or only 50% (PEN). Total nutritional intake was similar in both groups, but the remission rate was higher in the EEN group (42%) compared with the PEN group (15%) [129]. Regarding the effects of disease location on EEN efficacy, studies in children showed contradictory results. Two studies found no difference in the remission rate of children with ileal *versus* isolated colonic disease [130, 131], in contrast, another report noted a decreased response rate in patients with isolated colonic disease. There is no convincing evidence that the effect of EEN is restricted to small bowel disease only but the impact of disease location and other environmental factors on clinical response to EEN requires further evaluation [132]. In general, EEN is safe and well tolerated with minimal side effects such as nausea, abdominal pain, flatulence, or diarrhea [133]. The only reported severe adverse effect associated with EEN is a single case of re-feeding syndrome [134].

Numerous studies demonstrated that corticosteroids failed to induce mucosal healing in the treatment of Crohn's disease. By contrast, EN showed positive effects of on mucosal integrity in several studies [135, 136] associated with downregulation of mucosal proinflammatory cytokine profiles in both the ileum and the colon. Given that the ultimate goal in the treatment

of Crohn's disease is mucosal healing (in addition to symptomatic improvement) this advantage of EN over corticosteroids seems valuable regarding the choice of a therapeutic strategy [137].

1.5. Celiac disease

In contrast to IBD, in celiac disease, the role of diet as environmental factor seems quite clear and nutritional means are highly efficient for treatment. Celiac disease is one of the most common inflammatory disorders of the small intestine, with an incidence of 1% in western populations. In genetically susceptible individuals (human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8), the ingestion of gluten containing cereals trigger an immune-mediated enteropathy [138]. Deamidation of gliadin peptides by tissue transglutaminase (tTG) enables them to be bound with high affinity to HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DQ8 molecules of antigen presenting cells. The inflammatory process can be avoided by a gluten-free diet, which will normalize the clinical manifestations, represented by mucosal inflammation, crypt hyperplasia, small intestinal villous atrophy, increased intestinal permeability and elevated levels of intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) [139-141].

Another common disorder of the gastrointestinal tract is irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), a functional disorder that leads to symptoms such as abdominal pain, cramping and changes in bowel movements. Interestingly, in clinical practice, some patients for which celiac disease has been excluded show symptoms of IBS and respond well to a gluten-free diet [142]. Increasing discussion has emerged over the last several years, regarding the topic of gluten sensitivity as a cause of IBS symptoms, termed "non-celiac gluten intolerance" [143-145]. Indeed, wheat has been identified to be one of the most common inducers of gastrointestinal symptoms and gluten is suggested to be the major factor. Yet, it is not known whether gluten is the only responsible agent for enteral irritation in this context [146, 147].

1.6. Animal models of IBD

Understanding the complex interplay between genetic and environmental factors that lead to IBD pathogenesis is a demanding challenge. Animal models are useful tools for this respect, providing fundamental insight into the importance of genetic and immunologic regulatory mechanisms.

1.6.1. lleitis model (TNF^{△ARE/WT} mouse)

Anti-TNF neutralizing antibodies are efficient in induction of remission in IBD therapy [97]. However, the specific molecular and cellular mechanisms of the pathogenic action of TNF are still not completely understood. Gene targeting of AU-rich elements (ARE) in the untranslated region of the TNF mRNA in mice (TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice) leads to impaired regulation of TNF translation and development of a severe ileitis. The TNF^{AARE/WT} mouse is one of the very few Crohn's disease-like models leading to transmural inflammation in the terminal ileum. Progression of pathology is accompanied by villous atrophy, crypt hyperplasia and intestinal leukocyte infiltration, closely resembling the clinical manifestations of human Crohn's disease. Intestinal inflammation in TNF^{ARE/WT} mice is associated with early reduction of CD8αα-expressing intraepithelial lymphocytes and predominance of TNF/IFN-γ producing CD8αβ lymphocytes in the epithelium. Furthermore, lamina propria CD4⁺ lymphocytes show decreased Th1 and increased Th17 responses and increased $\alpha E\beta7$ integrin expression can be observed in peripheral intestinal-homing CD8 $\alpha\beta$ lymphocytes [148, 149]. Interestingly, selective chronic overproduction of TNF by intestinal epithelial cells (IEC) suffices to cause full development of intestinal pathology and is associated with early activation of the underlying intestinal myofibroblast, a cell type previously identified as a sufficient target of TNF for disease development in the TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mouse model [150]. The pathogenesis of chronic ileitis seems to be CD8⁺ T cell dependent, as genetic ablation of beta-2 microglobulin or $\beta7$ integrin results in complete amelioration of intestinal pathology whereas genetic deletion of CD4 exacerbates Crohn's disease-like ileitis [151].

1.6.2. Colitis model (IL-10^{-/-} mouse)

IL-10 is a well-known suppressor of Th1 cells and macrophage effectors functions. Several *in vitro* studies have shown that IL-10 inhibits IL-12 and TNF production, T cell proliferation and costimulatory B.7.1 and B.7.2 molecule expression. Furthermore, IL-10 may also promote the formation of antigen-specific regulatory T cells [152]. Mice with targeted deletion of the IL-10 gene (IL-10^{-/-}) spontaneously develop a chronic enterocolitis with massive infiltration of

lymphocytes, neutrophils and activated macrophages [153]. IL-10^{-/-} colitis is accompanied by a Th1 cytokine response, which can be ameliorated by neutralizing antibodies to IL-12p40 and to a lesser extent IFN- γ or systemic administration of recombinant IL-10. Colitis in IL-10^{-/-} mice does not develop under germ-free conditions and is thus suggested to be driven by antigens of the mucosal microbiota [154].

1.6.3. T cell transfer model of colitis and ileitis

Adoptive transfer of CD4⁺CD45RB^{Hi} T cells isolated from the spleens of immunocompetent donor mice in immunodeficient RAG2^{-/-} recipient mice causes a wasting syndrome with transmural intestinal inflammation primarily in the colon. Inflammation starts five to ten weeks after T cell transfer, depending on the microbiota [155-157]. Adoptive transfer of CD4⁺ IL10^{-/-} T cells is also a suitable method to induce experimental colitis and several studies identified IL-10 and TGF- β as central anti-inflammatory factors in this model. Regulatory T cells prevent the onset of gut inflammation and antigen-specific immune responses, when transferred together with pathogenic CD4⁺CD45RB^{Hi} T cells. Systemic administration of recombinant IL-10 or TGF- β has been shown to inhibit pathogenesis in a similar way. Moreover, bacterial antigens play a crucial role for pathology since treatment with antibiotics or germ-free breeding of recipient mice is associated with significantly less inflammatory response [158]. Another interesting yet underappreciated aspect of this model is the development of small bowel inflammation, which is characterized by leukocyte infiltration and loss of goblet cells and paneth cells most noticeable in the ileum [159].

1.6.4. Elemental diet and animal models of mucosal inflammation

The beneficial effect of enteral nutrition using elemental diet (ED) in the treatment of Crohn's disease has been demonstrated frequently. Alteration of the gut microbiota, low antigenicity and low fat content of the diet as well as improvement of nutritional status are suggested to play a role in the anti-inflammatory effect of ED, however the exact mechanisms remain to be elucidated.

Menezes et al. tested the effects of ED and Chow diet on conventional C57BL/6 wild type mice and compared differences in immunological parameters. The authors demonstrated that ED-fed mice presented an underdeveloped gut-associated-lymphoid tissue (GALT) with lower numbers of TCR $\alpha\beta^+$ IELs and lamina propria cells and low levels of secretory IgA when compared to Chow-fed mice. ED-fed mice showed a systemic decrease in the production of IgG and IgA as well as a skewing towards a Th2 profile of cytokine production upon *in vitro* stimulation with increased IL-4 and a reduced IFN- γ and IL-6 secretion [160]. Interestingly,

Shou et al. found significant bacterial translocation to mesenteric lymph nodes but not other organs in conventional C57/BL6 mice being fed an ED. Further experiments suggested that enteral feeding of ED downregulated host oxidative and antimicrobial mechanisms and TNFdependent cytotoxicity in conventional mice [161]. Furthermore, a rat model of granulomatous enteritis induced by a single intramural injection of peptidoglycanpolysaccharide showed significantly decreased macroscopic and histologic damage scores when being fed ED compared with rats being fed a control diet. ED inhibited the increase in the numbers of macrophages and IL-2R-positive T-cells in Peyer's patches, associated with decreased production of nitric oxide and generation of oxygen free radicals [162]. In IL-10^{-/-} mice, partial replacement of dietary omega-6 fatty acids with medium-chain triglycerides in an experimental diet decreased the incidence of spontaneous colitis. Feeding of the experimental diet resulted in fewer total and apoptotic intraepithelial CD3⁺ and lamina propria CD3⁺CD4⁺ lymphocytes, as well as reduced expression of IL-6, interferon-y and TLR9 [163]. Accordingly, in a T-cell transfer model of colitis using IL-10^{-/-} donor mice in combination with SCID recipients, ED significantly suppressed intestinal inflammation. The total amount of cecal bacteria decreased in ED-fed mice and the diversity of bacterial species decreased to 60% of that found in the regular diet groups, suggesting a strong impact of ED on the gut microbiota [164]. Another study was performed in TCR α^{-1} mice to assess the potential role of luminal antigens on the development of chronic colitis. ED-fed TCR α^{--} mice showed no pathologic features of colonic inflammation. The protective state was associated with suppressed mucosal B-cell responses and decreased production of Th2-type cytokines in ED-fed mice compared with mice on regular diet. However, rectal administration of Bacteroides vulgatus resulted in development of intestinal inflammation. The authors concluded that ED-induced alteration of the intestinal microbiota prevented the development of IBD in TCR α^{-1-} mice [165].

These studies demonstrate that ED may have beneficial effects on intestinal inflammation in several mouse models with diverse genetic backgrounds. A low antigenicity of the diet in combination with indirect immunomodulatory effects through an alteration of the gut microbiota might influence mucosal immune responses and maintain intestinal homeostasis. However, the precise mechanism of action remains to be revealed.

2. AIMS OF THE WORK

Nutritional therapy may be a valuable option for the treatment of IBD patients, with minimal adverse effects compared with conventional therapeutics. However, the underlying mechanisms are not completely understood and data from clinical studies present equivocal results. Animal models may serve as a tool to clarify the complex interactions of genetics, environmental factors and microbial influence on disease pathogenesis.

We aimed at elucidating the impact of dietary intervention therapy on inflammation development in animal models with a strong genetic predisposition. In our study, we focused on the TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mouse model to evaluate the effects of a semi-elemental diet on the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease-like ileitis at histological, cellular and transcriptional level in combination with functional analysis of diet-induced alterations of the cecal microbiota. In addition, IL-10^{-/-} mice and a T-cell adoptive transfer model were used to analyze the effects of dietary intervention on colitis and ileitis development with respect to different genetic predispositions.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Animals

Heterozygous TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} and WT mice (C57BL/6 background) were conventionally raised at constant room temperature (22 ± 2 °C), air humidity (55 ± 5%), and a light/dark cycle of 12/12 h. Ultrapure water and standard Chow diet (Ssniff R/M-H, Soest, Germany) were provided *ad libitum*. At seven weeks of age, mice were transferred to a semi-synthetic experimental diet (Ssniff E15000, Soest, Germany or Altromin C1000, Lage, Germany) or as indicated in the experiment. Mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation at the age of 18 weeks or as indicated.

Interleukin-10 deficient (IL-10^{-/-}) mice (129/SvEv background) were raised under specific pathogen-free (SPF) conditions. IL10^{-/-} mice were moved to a conventional animal facility at seven weeks of age being provided ultrapure water and standard Chow (Ssniff R/M-H, Soest, Germany) or experimental diet (Altromin C1000, Lage, Germany) *ad libitum*. Mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation at the age of 24 weeks.

Lymphocyte-deficient Rag2^{-/-} mice (129/SvEv background) were reconstituted with 5x10⁵ CD4⁺ IL-10^{-/-} T-cells suspended in 200µl of PBS by intraperitoneal injection at 7 weeks of age. CD4⁺ IL-10^{-/-} T-cells were positively selected from donor IL-10^{-/-} mice (129/SvEv background, SPF conditions) using FITC-conjugated anti-CD4 antibodies (FITC Rat Anti-Mouse CD4, BD Pharmingen) and anti-FITC MicroBeads (LS columns, Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) in combination with magnetic cell separation columns (LS columns, Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The purity of isolated CD4⁺ IL-10^{-/-} T-cells was determined by flow cytometric analysis using the LSRII flow cytometer in combination with FACSDiva software (BD Bioscience) and was >90% in all experiments. Recipient Rag2^{-/-} mice were moved from SPF to conventional conditions two weeks before transfer. Ultrapure water and standard Chow diet (Ssniff R/M-H, Soest, Germany) or experimental diet (Ssniff E15000, Soest, Germany) were provided *ad libitum*. Body weights were measured once a week and mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation 10 weeks after transfer.

3.2. Diets

The following diets were used as indicated in the experiments (Table M1).

Description	Name	Manufacturer
Semi-synthetic experimental diet	C1000	Altromin, Lage, Germany
Semi-synthetic experimental diet	E15000	Ssniff, Soest, Germany
Experimental diet fortified with 10g Chow/kg	1% Chow	Ssniff, Soest, Germany
Experimental diet fortified with 100g Chow/kg	10% Chow	Ssniff, Soest, Germany
Experimental diet fortified with 300g Chow/kg	30% Chow	Ssniff, Soest, Germany
Experimental diet fortified with 700g Chow/kg	70% Chow	Ssniff, Soest, Germany
Standard Chow diet	R/M-H V1534-0	Ssniff, Soest, Germany
Autoclavable Chow diet	R/M-H V1534-3	Ssniff, Soest, Germany
Experimental diet fortified with 10g Gluten/kg	Glu	Altromin, Lage, Germany
Wheat depleted Chow diet	Wheat (-W)	Ssniff, Soest, Germany

Table M1. Diet description and information.

Gluten was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). For details about nutrient composition, see Appendix 1.

3.3. Histological scoring

Tissues were fixed in 4% neutral buffered formalin and embedded in paraffin. Distal ileal or distal colonic sections (5 μ m) were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany). Histological scoring was performed by blindly assessing the degree of lamina propria mononuclear cell infiltration, crypt hyperplasia, goblet cell depletion and architectural distortion in the different gut sections, resulting in a score from 0 (not inflamed) to 12 (massively inflamed), as previously described [166].

3.4. Immunohistochemical labeling

Paraffin embedded tissue was cut into 5µm sections using a Leica RM2255 and applied onto polylysine coated slides, air dried at room temperature for 1h and dried at 37°C over night. Samples were deparaffinized and antigens were unmasked by incubation in boiling 10mM sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0) (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) for 10min. Immunostaining was performed according to the protocol provided by Cell Signaling. Anti-CD3 antibody (Abcam,

Cambridge, UK) was used in combination with AlexaFluor 546 goat anti rabbit IgG (Invitrogen Carlsbad, USA). Briefly, for labeling, slides were washed in PBS (pH 7.4) and blocked with 5% normal goat serum for 60min, followed by incubation with the primary antibody overnight at 4°C. Slides were washed in PBS and incubated with the fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibody for 90 min at RT. Confocal microscopy was performed using LAS AF Version 2.3.0 (Leica Microsystems).

3.5. RNA isolation, reverse transcription and real-time PCR

Tissue samples (0.5 cm) from distal ileum and distal colon were ground in liquid nitrogen. Total RNA was isolated using the column-based RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA concentrations and purity (A260/A280 ratio) was determined by spectrophotometric analysis (ND-1000 spectrophotometer, NanoDrop Technologies, Willigton, USA). Reverse transcription was performed using 1µg total RNA. The adequate amount of RNA for 1µg was mixed with 1µl random-hexamer primers (500ng/µl) and filled up to 12µl with PCR-H₂O. After incubation for 5min at 65°C in a thermocycler, 8µl of a solution containing 4µl of 5x First Strand Buffer, 2µl of 0.1M DTT, 1µl of RNase Out (40U/µl) and 1µl MMLV-reverse transcriptase (200U/µl) were added to each sample. The mixture was incubated for 60min at 37°C using a thermocycler, followed by heating to 99°C for 1min.

Real-time PCR was performed using 1µl cDNA in a Light Cycler ® 480 (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany) applying the Universal Probe Library system according to the manufacturer's protocol. Relative induction of gene mRNA expression was normalized to GAPDH expression and calculated as fold change against the mean of the control group using the Light Cycler® 480 software. Primer sequences are given in **Table M2**.

Targert gene Forward primer		Reverse primer	UPL probe
Tnf (NM_013693.2)	5'-tgcctatgtctcagcctcttc-3'	5'-gaggccatttgggaacttct-3'	#49
<i>lfng</i> (ENSMUST0000068592.3)	5'- ggaggaactggcaaaaggat-3'	5'- ttcaagacttcaaagagtctgagg-3'	#21
<i>Tlr</i> 2 (AF124741.1)	5'- ggggcttcacttctctgctt-3'	5'- agcatcctctgagatttgacg-3'	#50
<i>Tlr4</i> (NM_021297.2)	5'-ggactctgatcatggcactg-3'	5'-ctgatccatgcattggtaggt-3'	#2
<i>Tlr5</i> (NM_016928.2)	5'-ctggagccgagtgaggtc-3'	5'-cggcaagcattgttctcc-3'	#1
Lbp (NM_008489.2)	5'-acctctgacctgcagcctta-3'	5'-ggacattgtcgatctctgctg-3'	#53
<i>Tlr</i> 9 (NM_031178.2)	5'-gaatcctccatctcccaacat-3'	5'-ccagagtctcagccagcact-3'	#79
Nod2 (NM_145857.2)	5'-tgtggagtcaccgcaaaac-3'	5'-tcctctgtgcctggaactct-3'	#100
Madcam1 (L21203.1)	5'- ggggaggtgaccaatctgta-3'	5'- ataggacgacggtggagga-3'	#72
<i>lcam1</i> (NM_010493.2)	5'- cccacgctacctctgctc-3'	5'- gatggatacctgagcatcacc-3'	#81
<i>lp10</i> (NM_021274.1)	5'- gctgccgtcattttctgc-3'	5'- tctcactggcccgtcatc-3'	#3
<i>ll15</i> (NM_008357.1)	5'- cagctcagagaggtcaggaaa-3'	5'- catgaagaggcagtgctttg-3'	#106
Ocln (NM_008756.2)	5'- tccgtgaggccttttgaa-3'	5'- ggtgcataatgattgggtttg-3'	#10
Z01 (ENSMUST00000102592.2)	5'- cgcggagagagacaagatgt-3'	5'- agcgtcactgtgtgctgttc-3'	#81

Table M2. F	Primer	sequences	for	real-time	PCR.
-------------	--------	-----------	-----	-----------	------

3.6. IEL/LPL isolation

Mice were sacrificed and the ileum was removed. Mesenteric fat and peyer's patches were trimmed off. The ileum was cut open longitudinally and washed with wash buffer (HBSS, 2% FBS). Digestion buffer (HBSS, 5mM EDTA, 1mM DTT, 10% FBS) was freshly prepared before use and prewarmed in 37°C water bath until use. The tissue was cut in 0.5 cm pieces and incubated with 5 ml digestion buffer in a horizontal shaker at 220 rpm, 37°C, 30 min. Undigested tissue residues were mashed through a 100 µm cell strainer (BD Falcon). Tissue cell suspensions were combined and centrifuged at 350 g, 4°C, 5 min. For density gradient centrifugation, the pellet was resuspended in 40% isotonic percoll (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) and put beneath a 20% isotonic percoll layer. Another layer of 80% isotonic percoll was put beneath both layers. Density gradient centrifugation was performed at 720 g, 20 min, 4°C. The IEL/LPL fraction was collected at the interface of 80% and 40% percoll layers. Cells were washed in wash buffer, counted using a Neubauer counting chamber and prepared for flow cytometric analysis.

3.7. Flow cytometry

For flow cytometric analysis, cells were washed in staining buffer (HBSS, 2% FBS), centrifuged at 350 g, 5 min, 4°C and resuspended in 50 μ l staining buffer (1x10⁶ cells in 50 μ l). Staining solution (50 μ l staining buffer including a mixture of fluorochrome conjugated antibodies (1 μ l each) as indicated in the experiments) was added and incubated at 4°C, 20 min. Cells were washed, resuspended in 500 μ l staining buffer and analyzed (1x10⁴ cells were acquired per sample) using the LSRII flow cytometer in combination with FACSDiva software (BD Bioscience). The following antibodies were used: Anti-CD3-APC-Cy7, Anti-CD4-PE-Cy7, Anti-CD8 α -PE, Anti-CD8 β -FITC (all from BD Pharmingen). Regulatory T-cells were analyzed using the Mouse Th17/Treg Phenotyping Kit (BD Pharmingen) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

3.8. Particle size distribution measurement

Diet pellets (50 g) were dissolved in dH_2O (500 ml) at RT on a magnetic stirrer. Ceca and small intestines were dissected from animals, cecal and ileal content was collected and dissolved in dH_2O (100 mg/ml).

The samples were analyzed by laser diffraction (Malvern Mastersizer MS2000, software version 5.6) with wet analysis using the Hydro 2000S dispersion unit according to the the manufacturer's protocol. Data were compared based on calculated volume based particle size D[4,3].

3.9. FT-IR spectroscopy

Cecal contents were diluted in PBS (1:10), vortexed and centrifuged at 350 g, 5 min, RT. Supernatants were collected and centrifuged at 10000 g, 3 min, RT. Supernatants were discarded and pellets were resuspended in the same volume of dH₂O. Samples (technical duplicates) were transferred onto a ZnSe support material (Bruker) and dried (44°C, 30 min). Spectra were recorded using an IFS-28B FT–IR spectrometer (Bruker) and analyzed using OPUS (Bruker, software version 3.1). The average linkage algorithm was used for cluster analysis on vector normalized first derivatives of the spectra.

3.10. Cecal lysates

Cecal lysates (CL) were prepared from cecal contents of WT and TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Chow and experimental diet as indicated in the experiments. CL preparation was performed as previously described [167, 168]. Briefly, the cecum was dissected, cecal content was collected, diluted in sterile PBS (1:1) and vortexed thoroughly. DNAse I (0.1 mg/ml) was added and incubated for 15 min at RT. Cecal suspensions (0.5 ml) were mixed with mg of 0.1 mm glass beads (ROTH) and disrupted in a bead-beater (FastPrep-24, MP Biomedicals LLC) at 6.5 M/s, 0.5 min (four cycles interrupted by 3 min on ice). The glass beads and unlysed cells were removed by centrifugation at 350 *g* for 5 min. Supernatants were collected and centrifuged at 10000 g, 10 min. After centrifugation, the supernatant was filter-sterilized (0.22 µm filter) and the protein concentration was adjusted to 1.0 mg/ml with PBS using a Bradford assay according to the manufacturer's protocol (Roti-Quant, Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany). Cecal lysates were aliquoted and frozen at -80° C.

3.11. Dietary suspensions

Diet pellets were ground under sterile conditions and dissolved in sterile PBS (3 g in 12 ml). Suspensions were vortexed and incubated in a horizontal shaker at 220 rpm, 37°C, 30 min. Dietary suspensions (DS) were vortexed and centrifuged at 350 g, 5 min. Supernatants were collected and centrifuged at 10000 g, 10 min. After centrifugation, the supernatant was filter-sterilized (0.22 μ m filter) and the protein concentration was adjusted to 1.0 mg/ml with PBS using a Bradford assay according to the manufacturer's protocol (Roti-Quant, Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany). DS were aliquoted and frozen at -80°C.

3.12. Peptic-tryptic digestion of gluten (PT-gluten)

PT-gluten was prepared as previously described [169]. Briefly, gluten from wheat (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) was dissolved (1 mg/ml) in 10 mM HCl (pH 1.8) and pepsin (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) was added (1:100 enzyme:substrate ratio). Gluten was digested for 4 h at 37°C in a water bath. NaOH was added to adjust the ph to 7.8. Trypsin was added at an enzyme/substrate ratio of 1:100 in 100 mM ammonium bicarbonate (pH 8) and the mixture was incubated for 4 h at 37°C. The reaction was stopped by heating (95°C, 10 min). The mixture was centrifuged at 10000 g for 10 min. After centrifugation, the

supernatant was filter-sterilized (0.22 μ m filter) and the protein concentration was adjusted to 1.0 mg/ml with PBS using a Bradford assay according to the manufacturer's protocol (Roti-Quant, Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany). PT-gluten was aliquoted and frozen at -80°C.

3.13. Isolation of MLNs and splenocytes

Mesenteric lymph nodes or spleens were dissected from mice and immediately stored in cold T-cell culture medium (RPMI 1640 medium (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) supplemented with 10% FBS (Biochrom, Berlin, Germany), 1% Antibiotic-Antimycotic (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA)) and mashed through a 100 μ m cell strainer (BD Falcon). Mesenteric lymph node leukocytes (MLNs) or splenocytes were resuspended in 10 ml PBS and centrifuged at 350 g, 5 min, 4°C. The pellet was washed with 10ml PBS, centrifuged, resuspended in 5 ml red blood cell lysis buffer (0.8% NH₄Cl, 0.1% KHCO₃, 0.0037% Na₂EDTA*3H₂O in H₂O, pH 7.2) and incubated for 5min at RT. The reaction was stopped by adding 15 ml PBS. After filtering (70 μ m cell strainer) and centrifugation, the pellet was resuspended in 10 ml PBS. Cells were counted using a Neubauer counting chamber and prepared for flow cytometric analysis or used in cell culture experiments.

3.14. Cell culture and stimulation

Total MLNs were isolated from mesenteric lymph nodes and seeded at $2x10^6$ cells/ml (100 µl/well) in 96-well cell culture plates (Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark) in T-cell culture medium (RPMI 1640 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), 10% FBS (Biochrom, Berlin, Germany), 1% Antibiotic-Antimycotic (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA)). Cells were stimulated with Cecal lysates (CL), Dietary suspensions (DS) or peptic-tryptic digests of gluten (PT-gluten) at different concentrations (10 µg/ml, 50 µg/ml, 100 µg/ml) as indicated in the experiments. MLNs were cultured for 24 h in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere at 37°C. Cell culture plates were centrifuged at 350 g, 4°C, 5 min and supernatants were collected for subsequent ELISA analysis.

3.15. CD4⁺ T-cell isolation

CD4⁺ T-cells were positively selected from MLN or splenocyte cell suspensions using FITCconjugated anti-CD4 antibodies (FITC Rat Anti-Mouse CD4, BD Pharmingen) and anti-FITC MicroBeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) in combination with magnetic cell separation columns (LS columns, Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, cells were washed in staining buffer (HBSS, 2% FBS), centrifuged at 350 g, 5 min, 4°C and resuspended in 100 µl staining buffer. Staining solution (50 µl staining buffer, 1 µl anti-CD4 antibody) was added and incubated at 4°C, 20 min. Cells were washed, resuspended in 100 µl staining buffer and mixed with 300 µl MicroBeads solution (260 µl staining buffer + 40 µl anti-FITC MicroBeads). Cells were incubated for 10min on ice, washed and resuspended in 1ml staining buffer. Labeled CD4⁺ Tcells were isolated by magnetic cell separation technology using LS Columns (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). The purity of isolated CD4⁺ T-cells was determined by flow cytometric analysis using the LSRII flow cytometer in combination with FACSDiva software (BD Bioscience) and was >90% in all experiments.

3.16. Generation of BM-DCs

DC from mouse bone marrow were generated as previously described [170]. Briefly, Wt mice (C57BL/6 background) were sacrificed by cervical dislocation. Femurs and tibiae were removed and cleaned from muscle tissue. Bones were washed in PBS on ice and transferred to 70% EtOH for 3 min at sterile conditions. Bones were washed in sterile PBS and cut at each end with sterile scissors. The bone marrow was flushed through a cell strainer (50 μ m) into a 50 ml tube using a syringe (27G needle) and sterile PBS. Cells were pelleted at 350 g, 4°C, 5 min and resuspended in 10 ml PBS. Cells were counted using a Neubauer counting chamber, washed and seeded in petri dishes at 0.2x10⁶ cells/ml in10 ml BM-DC culture medium (RPMI 1640 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), 10% FBS (Biochrom, Berlin, Germany), 50µM 2-mercaptoethanol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), 1% Antibiotic-Antimycotic (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), 1% glutamine (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), 15 ng/ml GM-CSF (PeproTech, Offenbach, Germany), 15 ng/ml IL-4 (PeproTech, Offenbach, Germany)). Cells were cultured in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere at 37°C. At day three, 10 ml of BM-DC culture medium was added. At day six, eight and ten, 50% of the cell suspension was removed, centrifuged (350g, 5 min), resuspended in fresh BM-DC culture medium of same volume and given back in culture. BM-DCs were collected between day ten and twelve, when CD11b⁺ CD11c⁺

double positive cells were > 90% as assessed by flow cytometry using the LSRII flow cytometer in combination with FACSDiva software (BD Bioscience).

3.17. Coculture of BM-DCs and CD4⁺ T-cells

BM-DCs were seeded at 0.1×10^6 cells/ml (100 µl/well) in 96-well cell culture plates (Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark) in coculture medium (RPMI 1640 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), 10% FBS (Biochrom, Berlin, Germany), 50µM 2-mercaptoethanol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), 1% Antibiotic-Antimycotic (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), 1% glutamine (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), 15 ng/ml GM-CSF (PeproTech, Offenbach, Germany)). BM-DCs were pulsed by adding 50 or 100 µg/ml of cecal lysates, dietary suspensions or PT-gluten as indicated in the experiments. In MHCII blocking experiments, 12 µg/ml or 25 µg/ml of anti-MHCII blocking antibody (BD Pharmingen) was added together with the antigens. BM-DCs were incubated for 6 h in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere at 37°C. Cells were washed twice with PBS and isolated CD4⁺ T-cells from mesenteric lymph nodes of TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice were added at 2x10⁶ cells/ml (100 µl/well). BM-DCs and CD4⁺ T-cells were cocultured for 72 h in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere at 37°C. BM-DCs and CD4⁺ T-cells that were cultured alone served as a control. Cell culture plates were centrifuged at 350 g, 4°C, 5 min and supernatants were collected for subsequent ELISA analysis.

3.18. ELISA

Cytokine protein concentrations of TNF, IFN-γ and IL-12p40 in supernatants of cell culture and coculture experiments were determined by mouse-specific ELISA kits according to the manufacturer's instructions (Ready-Set-Go! ELISA kits, eBioscience, San Diego, CA). Briefly, NuncMaxiSorp flat-bottom 96 well plates (Greiner Bio-One GmbH, Frickenhausen, Germany) were coated with the appropriate capture antibody overnight at RT. Plates were washed, blocked and incubated with cell culture supernatants for 1.5 h at RT. Plates were washed and incubated with the appropriate detection antibody for 1.5 h at RT. Plates were washed and incubated with a detection enzyme. Plates were washed and incubated with a substrate solution. Protein concentration was determined by photometrical analysis of the reaction of substrate and detection enzyme.

3.19. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SigmaPlot 11.0 (Systat Software). Data comparing two groups were analyzed using the unpaired t test. Data comparing more than two groups were analyzed using One-Way or Two-Way ANOVA followed by an appropriate multiple comparison procedure. Differences between groups were considered significant if P values were < 0.05.

4. RESULTS

4.1. Effects of dietary intervention on Crohn's disease-like ileitis

4.1.1. Semi-synthetic diet ameliorates ileitis in $\text{TNF}^{\Delta \text{ARE/WT}}$ mice

Genetically susceptible TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice being kept under conventional conditions on standard Chow diet developed a severe chronic intestinal inflammation in the distal ileum after 18 weeks of age. In contrast, TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice being transferred to a semi-synthetic, experimental diet (Exp) showed no or only mild symptoms of inflammation (P < 0.001). The observed protective effect was not specific for one diet manufacturing company and could be reproduced using semi-synthetic diet of an alternative manufacturer. Neither Chow diet nor experimental diet induced any signs of tissue pathology in wild type (WT) mice (**Figure 1**).



Figure 1. Tissue pathology of WT and TNF^{ΔARE/WT} **mice on Chow diet and experimental diet.** Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination (score 0-12) of distal ileal sections from WT and TNFΔARE/WT (ARE) mice (18 weeks of age) on standard Chow diet (manufacturer Ssniff) and experimental diet

TNF Δ ARE/WT (ARE) mice (18 weeks of age) on standard Chow diet (manufacturer Ssniff) and experimental diet (Exp) (manufacturer Ssniff or Altromin, as indicated). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b,c} Within each graph, means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

WT mice had significantly (P < 0.05) higher body weights compared to TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice and showed no differences according to diet. Inflamed TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Chow did not differ from the non-inflamed Exp group (**Figure 2A**).

The reversed pattern could be observed, when we compared spleen weights of the distinct trial groups. $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice showed significantly (P < 0.001) increased spleen weights compared with WT mice. Interestingly, although $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice on Exp showed only very

mild tissue pathology, spleen weights were not different from highly inflamed $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice (Figure 2B).

We observed strong differences in cecum size and weight depending on genotype and diet. Inflamed TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Chow showed highest cecum weights (P < 0.001), followed by WT on Chow and TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Exp. WT mice on Exp revealed the lowest cecum weights. A strong diet dependent effect could be observed in the WT and TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} group. Animals on Chow showed significantly increased cecum weights compared to animals on Exp of the same group. Interestingly, cecum weights of protected TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Exp were comparable with those of WT mice (**Figure 2C**).

Mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN) play a pivotal role in mucosal immune responses. Therefore, we were also interested in MLN weights and associations with genotype and diet. Inflamed TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Chow showed significantly increased MLN weights compared with the WT Chow and ARE Exp group. TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Exp showed a higher variance in MLN weight but ranked between highly inflamed TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} and completely healthy WT mice (P < 0.001). No differences could be seen, comparing WT mice on Chow and Exp diet (**Figure 2D**).





Body weight, spleen weight, cecum weight and mesenteric lymph node (MLN) weight of WT and TNFΔARE/WT mice on Chow and experimental diet (Exp), sacrificed after 18 weeks of age by cervical dislocation. Values are

means \pm SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b,c} Within each graph, means without a common letter differ, P < 0.05 and P < 0.001 for (A) and (B, C, D), respectively.

We next wanted to evaluate whether the differences in splenocyte and MLN weights could be confirmed at total cell numbers. Splenocytes and MLNs were isolated and counted using a Neubauer counting chamber. Although $\text{TNF}^{\Delta \text{RE/WT}}$ mice on Chow and Exp had different inflammatory conditions as shown above, total splenocyte numbers were not different. The WT Chow and WT Exp group did also not differ in total splenocytes. Though, both ARE groups showed significantly (P < 0.05) increased cell numbers, compared with the WT groups, independently of the diet (**Figure 3A**).

Inflamed TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Chow showed highest (P < 0.001) total MLN leukocyte numbers. The ARE Exp group counted significantly (P < 0.001) less but significantly (P < 0.001) more total cells than the ARE Chow and both WT groups, respectively. No difference was found comparing WT mice on different diets (**Figure 3B**).





Total leukocyte numbers of (A) spleens and (B) MLNs from WT and TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet and experimental diet (Exp). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b,c} Within each graph, means without a common letter differ, P < 0.05 and P < 0.001 for (A) and (B), respectively.

4.1.2. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of TNF^{ΔARE/WT} and WT mice

TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice that develop a chronic ileitis show strongest disease manifestation in the distal ileum. We therefore assessed the level of proinflammatory gene expression in affected tissue regions. Cytokine expression in the distal ileum was measured by qRT-PCR and revealed significantly (P < 0.001) elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF and IFNy in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Chow diet. Cytokine expression in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on experimental diet did not differ from WT mice, suggesting that pathogenesis of Crohn's disease-like ileitis was inhibited by the experimental diets (**Figure 4**).





Relative mRNA expression of TNF and IFN-y in distal ileal tissue from WT and TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet and experimental diet (Exp). Tumor necrosis factor (TNF); interferon-y (IFN-y). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b,c} Within each graph, means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

The expression of pattern recognition receptors TLR-2 and TLR-4 as well as LBP was highly elevated in distal ileal tissues of inflamed $\text{TNF}^{\Delta \text{ARE/WT}}$ mice on Chow diet (P < 0.05), whereas mice on experimental diet did not show increased expression compared to WT mice. Interestingly, expression of TLR-2, TLR-4 and LBP was also increased in WT mice on Chow diet compared with WT mice on experimental diet, although no tissue pathology could be detected. In contrast, flagellin related TLR-5 showed no regulation under any condition (**Figure 5**).


Figure 5. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of pattern recognition receptors.

Relative mRNA expression of pattern recognition receptors in distal ileal tissue from WT and TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet and experimental diet (Exp). Toll like receptor 2 (TLR-2); toll like receptor 4 (TLR-4); toll like receptor 5 (TLR-5); LPS binding protein (LBP). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b,c} Within each graph, means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

TLR-9 and NOD-2 recognize CpG rich motifs in bacterial or viral DNA and muramyl dipeptide (MDP) moieties of peptidoglycan, respectively. Both are expressed intracellularly and play a crucial role in immune activation and are associated with autoimmune inflammatory disorders.

The inflamed ARE Chow group showed increased (P < 0.01) expression of TLR-9 and NOD-2, whereas $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice on experimental diet showed no difference in mRNA expression compared with WT mice on Chow or experimental diet (**Figure 6**).



Figure 6. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of pattern recognition receptors.

Relative mRNA expression of pattern recognition receptors in distal ileal tissue from WT and TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet and experimental diet (Exp). Toll like receptor 9 (TLR-9); Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (NOD-2). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b,c} Within each graph, means without a common letter differ, P < 0.01.

Infiltration of leukocytes into sites of inflammation is a pivotal step in Crohn's disease-like ileitis. IP-10 has been attributed to several roles, such as chemoattraction of antigen presenting cells (APCs) and promotion of T-cell adhesion to endothelial cells. The cell adhesion molecules MAdCAM-1 and ICAM-1 are also important factors for leukocyte recruitment and extravasation in inflamed tissues.

Distal ileal sections of inflamed TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Chow showed significantly (P < 0.01) increased expression of IP-10, MAdCAM-1 and ICAM-1 compared to all other groups. WT Chow, WT Exp and ARE Exp groups had similar mRNA expression levels, suggesting that tissue activation had not taken place in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on experimental diet (**Figure 7**).



Figure 7. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of cell adhesion molecules and IP-10.

Relative mRNA expression of cell adhesion molecules MAdCAM-1 and ICAM-1 and proinflammatory chemokine IP-10 in distal ileal tissue from WT and TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet and experimental diet (Exp). Mucosal vascular addressin cell adhesion molecule 1 (MAdCAM-1); intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b,c} Within each graph, means without a common letter differ, P < 0.01.

4.1.3. Cellular analysis of TNF^{△ARE/WT} and WT mice

Leukocyte infiltration in distal ileal tissues of $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice was visualized by immunohistochemical labeling of CD3⁺ T-cells. Distal ileal sections of $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice on Chow diet showed increased infiltration of CD3⁺ T-cells and impaired intestinal architecture as compared with $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice on experimental diet (**Figure 8**).



Figure 8. Fluorescence microscopy of distal ileal tissues from $\text{TNF}^{\text{DARE/WT}}$ mice.

Representative H&E staining (upper panels) and immunohistochemical labeling (CD3+ T-cells) of distal ileal sections from inflamed and non-inflamed TNFΔARE/WT mice (18 weeks of age) on Chow diet (left column) and experimental diet (right column). Fluorescence microscopy is visualized by phase contrast, fluorescence and merged images as indicated (100x magnification).

We determined total ileal leukocyte cell numbers after isolation from ileal tissue by density gradient centrifugation. Inflamed TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Chow showed significantly (P < 0.001) higher leukocyte numbers compared with all other groups. TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Exp revealed a non significant trend for elevated leukocyte numbers compared with the WT groups. Dietary intervention had no effects on total cell numbers in WT mice (**Figure 9**).





Total leukocyte numbers in ileal tissues from WT and TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet and experimental diet (Exp) were determined using a Neubauer counting chamber after density gradient centrifugation. Values are means ± SD, n = 5-6 per group. ^{a,b,c} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

Infiltrating lamina propria lymphocyte (LPL) and intraepithelial lymphocyte (IEL) populations were further characterized by flow cytometric analysis. $CD8\alpha\beta^+$ T-cells are suggested to be a major effector T-cell population in the TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mouse model. $CD8\alpha\alpha^+$ T-cells represented the dominant phenotype in the ileum of WT mice, whereas TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice showed a significant (P < 0.01) increase of CD8 $\alpha\beta^+$ T-cells associated with a significant decrease of CD8 $\alpha\alpha^+$ T-cells (P < 0.01), irrespective of the different diets (**Figure 10**).



Figure 10. Flow cytometric analysis of IEL and LPL in WT and $\text{TNF}^{\Delta \text{RE/WT}}$ mice.

Flow cytometric analysis of CD8 α a + and CD8 α β+ subpopulations of CD8+ IEL and LPL from ileal tissues of WT and TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet and experimental diet (Exp). Values are means ± SD, n = 4-6 per group. ^{a,b,c} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.01. Intraepithelial lymphocytes (IEL); lamina propria lymphocytes (LPL).

Regulatory T-cells (Tregs) play a crucial role in immune homeostasis and regulation of inflammatory responses. To assess the role of Tregs in the distinct treatment groups, we analyzed IEL/LPL fractions for CD4+ Foxp3+ Tregs. There was no difference between the inflamed ARE Chow group and the non-inflamed ARE Exp group. Both ARE groups showed a trend to have higher proportions of Tregs compared to the WT Chow group, but values did not reach significance. WT mice on Exp had significantly (P < 0.01) less Tregs than both ARE groups but did not differ from WT mice on Chow (**Figure 11**).



Figure 11. Flow cytometric analysis of IEL and LPL in WT and TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice.

Flow cytometric analysis of CD4+ Foxp3+ subpopulations of CD4+ IEL and LPL from ileal tissues of WT and TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet and experimental diet (Exp). Values are means ± SD, n = 4-6 per group. ^{a,b,c} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.01. Intraepithelial lymphocytes (IEL); lamina propria lymphocytes

(LPL); forkhead box P3 (Foxp3).

We measured significant differences in MLN weights from WT and $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice with dietary effects in the latter group. Next we wanted to investigate, whether these changes were associated with alterations of T-cell phenotypes.

Flow cytometric analysis of total mesenteric lymph node cells revealed no difference in CD4+/CD8+ T-cell ratios comparing WT and ARE groups. Although a significant difference in MLN weights was observed, no phenotypical difference could be detected in T-cell populations of $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice on different diets (**Figure 12**).





Flow cytometric analysis of (A) CD4+ and (B) CD8+ T-cell populations of total mesenteric lymph node leukocytes (MLNs) from WT and TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet and experimental diet (Exp). Values are means ± SD, n = 4-6 per group.

4.1.4. Time-dependent effects of dietary intervention

We next aimed at characterizing the protective effect of the experimental diet in a timedependent manner. Figure 13 represents a schematic illustration of the feeding experiment. TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice being transferred to an experimental diet with seven weeks of age did not develop pathology (P < 0.001). In contrast, dietary transfer in week 10 or 14 of age did not inhibit the development of full intestinal inflammation after 18 weeks of age compared with TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Chow diet *ad libitum*. These results suggest a small time frame between weeks seven and ten for effective dietary prevention of ileitis in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice (**Figure 13**).





Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination (score 0-12) of distal ileal sections from TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on different diets as indicated. TNF Δ ARE/WT mice were transferred from Chow diet to experimental diet at 7, 10 or 14 weeks of age as indicated. Mice were sacrificed at 18 weeks of age. Upper graphic, schematic representation of the feeding experiment. Values are means \pm SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

4.1.5. Rapid development of chronic intestinal inflammation in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice

We performed another feeding experiment to analyze the kinetics of disease development. $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice were kept on experimental diet until week 12 of age. Animals were then transferred to Chow diet for two or six weeks.

After two weeks on Chow diet, $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice showed a significant (P < 0.01) increase in histopathology. Animal housing on Chow diet for six weeks resulted in severe ileitis with low standard deviation (**Figure 14**).





Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination (score 0-12) of distal ileal sections from TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on different diets as indicated. TNF Δ ARE/WT mice were transferred from experimental diet to Chow diet at 7 or 12 weeks of age. Mice were kept on the different diets for 2, 6, or 11 weeks, as indicated in bracket. Upper graphic, schematic representation of the feeding experiment with endpoints after 14 (II) or 18 weeks of age (I, III, IV). Values are means ± SD, n = 3-6 per group. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.01.

4.1.6. Low concentrations of Chow diet induce chronic ileitis in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice

In order to characterize disease pathogenesis of TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice on Chow diet, we designed a Chow titration experiment. Customized diets differing in Chow content were prepared and fed *ad libitum*.

Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination (score 0-12) of distal ileal sections revealed moderate inflammation (score 3.17 ± 0.85) in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice being fed 1% Chow diet. Experimental diets with a Chow content of 10%, 30% or 70% induced strong ileal inflammation and showed no difference compared to 100% Chow diet. TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on pure experimental diet showed very mild tissue pathology (**Figure 15A**). We apportioned the mean histological scores according to infiltration of leukocytes into mucosa, submucosa and muscularis as well as condition of intestinal architecture. There was a steady increase of scores in all categories, starting lowest in the Exp group, increasing in the 1% Chow group and reaching its maximum in the 10% Chow group with no difference to 30%, 70% and 100% Chow groups. Scoring criteria that differed the most from the Exp group were infiltration of leukocytes into the muscularis and destruction of intestinal architecture via crypt loss and villous atrophy (**Figure 15B**). Increase of pathology is visualized by representative H&E staining (**Figure15C**).





Figure 15. Tissue pathology of TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice being kept on diets with increasing Chow content.

(A) Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination (score 0-12) of distal ileal sections from TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on experimental diet, 1%, 10%, 30%, 70% and 100% Chow. (B) Apportioned mean histological scores according to leukocyte infiltration into mucosa, submucosa, muscularis and appearance of intestinal architecture. (C) Representative H&E staining of distal ileal sections from TNF Δ ARE/WT mice (18 weeks of age) on diets as indicated (100x magnification). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

4.1.7. Particle size distribution measurements

Standard Chow diet seemed to have a coarse-grained appearance with higher variations in particle size compared with the homogenous grain structure of the experimental diet. Inflammatory responses might be triggered by shear forces of non-digested coarse-grained particles that might induce mechanic stress on distal ileal tissue, where the intestine forms a bottleneck before entering the cecum. To confirm our macroscopical observations of different diet structures, we performed a particle size distribution measurement by laser diffraction analysis.

The mean particle size of Chow was significantly (P < 0.001) bigger, than the mean particle size of the experimental diet. Thus, we ordered a modified Chow diet with increased grinding state (Chow fine). Particle size distribution measurement revealed that the mean particle size was significantly decreased compared with standard Chow diet, although it was still more coarse-grained (P < 0.001) than the experimental diet (**Figure 16**).





We next measured the particle size of ileal and cecal contents in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Exp, Chow fine and standard Chow diets to analyze the effect of dietary graining state on luminal content. Ileal contents of the Chow groups showed no difference in particle size, suggesting that standard Chow diet had been comminuted and digested to the size of Chow fine diet. Interestingly, particle sizes of Chow fine and Exp diets were not further decreased during digestion (289 ± 18 µm and 121 ± 9 µm, respectively) and had approximately the same values as the original diets (263 ± 13 µm and 125 ± 6 µm, respectively). A significant (P < 0.001) difference in particle size was still visible, comparing ileal contents of Exp with each of the Chow groups (**Figure 17**).



Figure 17. Laser diffraction analysis of ileal contents from $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice being kept on experimental (Exp), fine Chow and standard Chow diet.

(A) Volume-based mean diameter size of particles, calculated upon equivalent sphere theory [D(4,3)]. (B) Mean particle size distribution diagram after wet analysis. Values are means \pm SD, n = 5 per group. ^{a,b,c} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

Particle size determination of cecal contents showed the same pattern as observed in ileal content analysis. There was no difference in cecal content particle size distribution of the Chow fine and standard Chow group. Yet, each of these groups significantly (P < 0.001) differed from the Exp group (**Figure 18**). These findings corroborated our results from ileal content measurements.





(A) Volume-based mean diameter size of particles, calculated upon equivalent sphere theory [D(4,3)]. (B) Mean particle size distribution diagram after wet analysis. Values are means \pm SD, n = 5 per group. ^{a,b,c} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

We analyzed grinding state associated effects on pathology development using histological scoring after 18 weeks of age. The increased grinding state of Chow fine diet had no effects on chronic ileitis compared with coarse-grained standard Chow diet (**Figure 19**).



Figure 19. Tissue pathology of $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice being kept on experimental (Exp), fine Chow and standard Chow diet.

Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination (score 0-12) of distal ileal sections from TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on different diets as indicated. Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

4.1.8. Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) analysis

We prepared bacterial suspensions of cecal content from TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice on Chow diet (Chow) and experimental diet (Exp) to evaluate possible alterations in the cecal microbial composition by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR).

Figure 20 shows the dendrogram, generated by average linkage algorithm for cluster analysis of vector normalized first derivatives of total range FT-IR absorption spectra (4000 – 600 cm ⁻¹). Cecal bacterial samples showed a clear cluster formation according to the different diets used in the feeding experiment. Exp samples were related closely to each other and exhibited increased spectral distance to cecal bacterial samples derived from the Chow group. "Chow a" showed least spectral relation to all other groups, even regarding the Chow group itself.



Figure 20. FT-IR analysis of cecal bacterial suspensions from $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice being kept on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (4000 – 600 cm⁻¹).

Dendrogram, generated by average linkage algorithm for cluster analysis of vector normalized first derivatives of total range FT-IR absorption spectra (4000 – 600 cm $^{-1}$). Cecal bacterial suspensions of three (a, b, c) female TNF Δ ARE/WT mice per group (Chow and Exp) were prepared and measured in duplicates.

To analyze the observed cluster formation of cecal bacterial samples in more detail, we focused on macronutrient specific regions. Strong cluster formation according to dietary treatment was observed in the carbohydrate specific region (1240-900 cm⁻¹). Cecal bacterial samples of experimental diet exhibited close internal spectral distance and clearly separated from cecal bacterial samples of the Chow feeding (**Figure 21A**). The associated absorption spectra showed a clear difference in the fingerprint region (~ 1000 cm⁻¹), probably responsible for the strong clustering (**Figure 21B**).





(A) Dendrogram, generated by average linkage algorithm for cluster analysis of vector normalized first derivatives of carbohydrate specific FT-IR absorption spectra (1240-900 cm⁻¹). Cecal bacterial suspensions of three (a, b, c) female TNFΔARE/WT mice per group (Chow and Exp) were prepared and measured in duplicates. (B) Vector normalized first derivatives of carbohydrate specific FT-IR absorption spectra (1240-900 cm⁻¹). Black (Chow), green (Exp).



No clear cluster formation according to dietary treatment could be found in the protein specific region $(1720 - 1480 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ (**Figure 22**).



(A) Dendrogram, generated by average linkage algorithm for cluster analysis of vector normalized first derivatives of protein specific FT-IR absorption spectra (1720-1480 cm ⁻¹). Cecal bacterial suspensions of three (a, b, c) female TNFΔARE/WT mice per group (Chow and Exp) were prepared and measured in duplicates. (B) Vector normalized first derivatives of protein specific FT-IR absorption spectra (1720-1480 cm ⁻¹). Black (Chow), green (Exp).



The lipid specific region ranges from 3000 - 2780 cm⁻¹. No clear cluster formation according to dietary treatment could be observed in this region (**Figure 23**).

Wavenumber [cm -1]

Figure 23. FT-IR analysis of cecal bacterial suspensions from TNF^{△ARE/WT} mice being kept on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (3000-2780 cm⁻¹).

(A) Dendrogram, generated by average linkage algorithm for cluster analysis of vector normalized first derivatives of lipid specific FT-IR absorption spectra (3000-2780 cm⁻¹). Cecal bacterial suspensions of three (a, b, c) female TNFΔARE/WT mice per group (Chow and Exp) were prepared and measured in duplicates. (B) Vector normalized first derivatives of lipid specific FT-IR absorption spectra (3000-2780 cm⁻¹). Black (Chow), green (Exp).

4.1.9. Antigenicity of cecal lysates is not altered by experimental diet

The commensal microbiota is suggested to play a pivotal role in the development of Crohn's disease-like ileitis of $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice [7]. Experimental diet might have an impact on the commensal bacterial composition compared to the microbiota of mice on Chow diet, thus leading to dysbiosis and an altered immune response.

We tested the antigenicity of cecal lysates originating from cecal content of WT and $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice on Chow and experimental diet. Therefore, BM-DCs were cultured and differentiated *in vitro* and stimulated with 10 ug/ml and 100 ug/ml of cecal lysates.

Cecal lysate mediated activation of BM-DCs triggered a dose dependent secretion of TNF (P < 0.001). But no difference could be observed regarding the type of cecal lysate (**Figure 24A**). BM-DCs were differentiated *in vitro* and therefore had not experienced any tolerance or priming mechanisms which might be important for a differentiated response. Thus, we isolated total mesenteric lymph node cells (MLNs) from WT and TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Chow diet and experimental diet for cecal lysate stimulation.

MLNs from TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice showed significantly (P < 0.001) higher TNF secretion after cecal lysate stimulation compared with MLNs from WT mice, irrespective of the diet. Though, no difference in stimulation capacity could be observed regarding the type of cecal lysate (**Figure 24B**).



Figure 24. Cell culture analysis of cecal lysates (CL) prepared from WT and TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice being kept on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet.

Concentration of TNF in cell culture supernatants, measured by ELISA. (A) Bone marrow derived dendritic cells (BM-DCs) were cultured in vitro for 10-12 days until CD11b+ CD11c+ cells were > 95%. BM-DCs were stimulated with 10 ug/ml or 100 ug/ml cecal lysate from WT (CL-WT) or TNF Δ ARE/WT mice (CL-ARE) on Chow diet or experimental diet, as indicated, for 24 h. (B) Mesenteric lymph node cells from WT (MLN-WT) and TNF Δ ARE/WT (MLN-ARE) mice on Chow diet (Chow) and experimental diet (Exp) were stimulated with 100 ug/ml cecal lysate, as indicated, for 24 h. Values are means ± SD of three independent experiments. ^{a,b,c} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

T-cell specific responses were analyzed using a coculture system of isolated CD4+ T-cells and BM-DCs which were pulsed with the appropriate cecal lysates. CD4+ T-cells from TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice showed significantly higher IFN-y secretion compared with WT mice (P < 0.05). No difference regarding the type of cecal lysate could be detected (**Figure 25A**).

A dose-dependent inhibition (P < 0.001) of IFN-y secretion could be achieved by using an anti-MHCII blocking antibody. CD4+ T-cells and BM-DCs alone did not respond to cecal lysate stimulation, suggesting that IFN-y secretion was dependent on MHCII:peptide complex presentation (**Figure 25B**). MHCII blocking had no effect on BM-DC activity as shown by secretion of IL-12 (**Figure 25C**).







Concentration of IFN-y in coculture supernatants, measured by ELISA. (A) Bone marrow derived dendritic cells (BM-DCs) were pulsed with cecal lysates from WT (CL-WT) or TNF Δ ARE/WT mice (CL-ARE) on Chow diet (Chow) and experimental diet (Exp) for 6 h. CD4+ T-cells were isolated from mesenteric lymph nodes of WT and TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet and experimental diet. BM-DCs and CD4+ T-cells were cocultured in 96-well plates for 72 h. (B) Coculture blocking experiment. Antigen presentation of cecal lysate (50 ug/ml or 100 ug/ml) pulsed BM-DCs was blocked, using 12 ug/ml or 25 ug/ml of anti-MHCII blocking antibody. BM-DCs and CD4+ T-cells were cocultured for 72 h. (C) Coculture blocking experiment. Determination of IL-12p40 in coculture supernatants after 72 h. In each experiment, keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH, 100 ug/ml) was used as a negative control. Values are means \pm SD of three independent experiments. ^{a,b,c,d} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

4.1.10. Chow suspensions have immunogenic potential

TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice being kept on autoclaved Chow diet under specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions showed scattered disease pathogenesis after 18 weeks of age, ranging from non-inflamed over moderately inflamed to highly inflamed distal ileal tissues (unpublished data of E. Berger and I. Sava, data not shown). Apart from airborne germs, diet-resident bacteria might have an effect on disease development in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice.

We compared the endotoxin content of experimental and Chow diet and observed highly increased (P < 0.001) amounts of endotoxin in the Chow diet, whereas almost no endotoxins could be measured in the experimental diet (**Figure 26**). These data suggest microbial contamination of Chow and very low bacterial burden in the experimental diet.



Figure 26. Endotoxin content in experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet.

Endotoxin unit (EU). Values are means \pm SD of three independent experiments. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

To investigate possible effects of live bacteria and microbial compounds in the diet, we prepared dietary suspensions from Chow (DS Chow), autoclaved Chow (DS Chow (A)) and experimental diet (DS Exp). Culture of DS Chow on unspecific blood agar plates for 24 hours resulted in dense colony formation, whereas DS Exp developed only sporadic or no colonies. No colonies could be detected after culture of DS Chow (A) (data not shown).

Immunostimulatory properties of dietary suspensions were evaluated by total MLN culture. DS Chow significantly (P < 0.001) induced cytokine secretion, whereas DS Exp had no significant effect on TNF secretion. The DS Chow (A) group showed significantly less (P < 0.001) TNF secretion compared with the standard Chow group, but still more (P < 0.001) TNF secretion than unstimulated controls. The difference in supply of diet (Chow vs Exp) during animal housing of TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice had no influence on TNF secretion by total MLNs (**Figure 27A**).

Accordingly, CD4+ T-cells from $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice on Chow and experimental diet showed significantly (P < 0.001) increased IFN-y secretion in coculture experiments using DS Chow pulsed BM-DCs compared to DS Exp and DS Chow (A) pulsed BM-DCs. (**Figure 27B**).





Concentration of TNF and IFN-y in cell culture supernatants, measured by ELISA. (A) Concentration of TNF in cell culture supernatants. Mesenteric lymph node cells from TNFΔARE/WT mice (MLN-ARE) on Chow diet (Chow) and experimental diet (Exp) were stimulated with dietary suspensions of Chow diet (DS Chow, 100 ug/ml)

autoclaved Chow diet (DS Chow (A), 100 ug/ml) or experimental diet (DS Exp, 100 ug/ml) for 24 h. (B) Concentration of IFN-y in coculture supernatants, measured by ELISA. Bone marrow derived dendritic cells (BM-DCs) were pulsed with DS Chow (100 ug/ml), DS Chow (A) (100 ug/ml) or DS Exp (100 ug/ml) for 6 h. CD4+ T-cells were isolated from mesenteric lymph nodes of TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on Chow diet (MLN-ARE Chow) and experimental diet (MLN-ARE Exp). BM-DCs and CD4+ T-cells were cocultured in 96-well plates for 72 h. In each experiment, keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH, 100 ug/ml) was used as a negative control. Values are means \pm SD of three independent experiments. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

We designed a feeding experiment, where we transferred TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice to autoclaved Chow diet in week seven of age. To assess possible differences in progression of pathology, we sacrificed mice after 12 and 18 weeks of age. Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination of distal ileal sections could show no differences in disease development and severity compared with standard Chow fed TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice (**Figure 28**). These results suggest that live microbial contamination of the Chow diet seems to have no effect on histopathology in the TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mouse model.





Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination (score 0-12) of distal ileal sections from TNF Δ ARE/WT mice on different diets as indicated. Animals have been sacrificed after 18 or 12 weeks of age. Values are means ± SD, n = 3-6 per group. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

62

4.1.11. Gluten-fortified experimental diet induces chronic ileitis in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice

Chow diet is a standard diet that consists of natural components with wheat as a major ingredient. Thus, Chow diet is rich in gluten proteins, whereas experimental diet is gluten-free. We next wanted to investigate, whether there was an effect of gluten in the genetically susceptible TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mouse model. For this purpose, we designed a gluten-fortified experimental diet (Glu). **Table 1** illustrates the nutritional composition of Chow, Exp and Glu.

	Chow	Ехр	Glu	
Energy [MJ ME/kg]	12,8	14,7	14,7	
Crude protein [%]	19,0	17,6	17,6	
Crude fat [%]	3,3	5,1	5,1	
Crude fiber [%]	4,9	4,1	4,1	
Crude ash [%]	6,4	5,5	5,5	
Starch [%]	36,5	47,2	47,2	
Sugar [%]	4,7	11,3	11,3	

Table 1. Nutritional composition of Chow diet (Chow), experimental diet (Exp) and gluten-fortified experimental diet (Glu).

Wheat and wheat products account for 50% and 0% of Chow and Exp ingredients, respectively. Glu has been fortified with 100 g gluten per kg diet. For a more detailed illustration of nutrients, see Appendix 1.

In order to assess the inflammatory potential of gluten in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease-like ileitis, we set up a feeding experiment using the gluten-fortified experimental diet (Glu). Activation of total MLNs from $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice, being fed Chow, Exp and Glu, with peptic-tryptic digested gluten (PT-gluten) significantly (P < 0.001) induced secretion of TNF (**Figure 29A**). In contrast, CD4+ T-cell specific IFN-y secretion in coculture experiments with PT-gluten pulsed BM-DCs could not be detected, suggesting an antigen-independent co-activation. In contrast, DS Chow pulsed BM-DCs induced high secretion (P < 0.001) of IFN-y (**Figure 29B**).



Figure 29. Cell culture analysis of peptic-tryptic digested gluten (PT-gluten).

Concentration of TNF and IFN-y in cell culture supernatants, measured by ELISA. (A) Concentration of TNF in cell culture supernatants. Mesenteric lymph node cells from TNFΔARE/WT mice (MLN-ARE) on Chow diet (Chow), experimental diet (Exp) and gluten fortified experimental diet (Glu) were stimulated with peptic-tryptic digests of gluten (PT-Gluten, 100 ug/ml) or dietary suspensions of Chow diet (DS Chow, 100 ug/ml) for 24 h. (B) Concentration of IFN-y in coculture supernatants, measured by ELISA. Bone marrow derived dendritic cells (BM-DCs) were pulsed with PT-Gluten (100 ug/ml) or DS Chow (100 ug/ml) for 6 h. CD4+ T-cells were isolated from mesenteric lymph nodes of TNFΔARE/WT mice on experimental diet (ARE Exp CD4+) or gluten fortified experimental diet (ARE Glu CD4+). BM-DCs and CD4+ T-cells were cocultured in 96-well plates for 72 h. In each

experiment, keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH, 100 ug/ml) was used as a negative control. Values are means \pm SD of three independent experiments. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

We performed qPCR analysis of distal ileal tissues to analyze changes in inflammationrelated gene expression. TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice being kept on Glu showed significantly (P < 0.01) increased expression of TNF and IFN-y compared with TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on experimental diet. There was no difference in expression levels of IFN-y as compared with animals on Chow diet. Interestingly, IL-15 expression was significantly (P < 0.01) elevated in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Glu but not on Chow diet (**Figure 30A**). A similar expression pattern could be observed regarding TLR2 and TLR4. TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice on Glu showed significantly induced expression of both pattern recognition receptors and Chow fed mice showed even higher values (P < 0.01) (**Figure 30B**).



Figure 30. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of proinflammatory cytokines and pattern recognition receptors.

Relative mRNA expression of (A) TNF, IFN-y and (B) TLR2, TLR4 in distal ileal tissue from TNF Δ ARE/WT mice being kept on Exp, Chow and Glu (sacrificed at 18 weeks of age). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b,c} Within each graph, means without a common letter differ, P < 0.01.

Tight junction-related occludin (OCLN) was significantly (P < 0.01) decreased in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice with chronic ileitis on Glu and Chow diet. By contrast, zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1) expression was not changed in any condition (**Figure 31**).



Figure 31. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of tight junction molecules.

Relative mRNA expression of occludin (OCLN) and zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1) in distal ileal tissue from TNF Δ ARE/WT mice being kept on Exp, Chow and Glu. Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b,c} Within each graph, means without a common letter differ, P < 0.01.

Glu significantly (P < 0.001) induced tissue pathology in the distal ileum after 18 weeks of age as assessed by histological scoring of distal ileal sections (**Figure 32**). Tissue pathology was accompanied by strong diarrhea of $TNF^{\Delta RE/WT}$ mice on Glu diet.



Figure 32. Tissue pathology of $TNF^{\Delta RE/WT}$ mice being kept on experimental diet (Exp), gluten-fortified experimental diet (Glu) and Chow diet.

Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination (score 0-12) of distal ileal sections from TNF Δ ARE/WT mice (ARE, 18 weeks of age) on experimental diet (Exp), gluten fortified experimental diet (Glu) and Chow diet (Chow). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

Leukocyte infiltration in distal ileal tissues of $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice was visualized by immunohistochemical labeling of CD3⁺ T-cells. Distal ileal sections of $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice on Glu and Chow diet showed increased infiltration of CD3⁺ T-cells and impaired intestinal architecture as compared with $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice on experimental diet (**Figure 33**), corroborating the histological findings. These results suggest gluten as a potential trigger of Crohn's disease-like ileitis in the $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mouse model.



Figure 33. Fluorescence microscopy of distal ileal tissues from $\text{TNF}^{\text{dare/WT}}$ mice.

Representative H&E staining and immunohistochemical labeling (CD3+ T-cells) of distal ileal sections from TNFΔARE/WT mice (18 weeks of age) on experimental diet (Exp), gluten fortified experimental diet (Glu) and Chow diet (Chow). Fluorescence microscopy is visualized by phase contrast, fluorescence and merged images as indicated (100x magnification).

68

4.1.12. Effects of a wheat depleted Chow diet on tissue pathology in TNF $^{\Delta \text{ARE/WT}}$ mice

We could show that gluten-fortified experimental diet induced chronic ileitis in $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice, in contrast to gluten-free experimental diet, which inhibited the development of tissue pathology. Next we wanted to analyze the effects of a modified Chow diet (Chow –W), which was depleted from wheat products (**Table 2**).

	Chow	Chow (-W)	
Wheat & wheat products [%]	50,0	1	
Babycorn, pre-treated [%]	/	30,6	
Puffed rice [%]	1	16	
Soybean products [%]	22,7	27,4	
Barley [%]	16,0	16,0	

Table 2. Natural ingredients in standard Chow diet and wheat depleted Chow diet (Chow -W).

Wheat and wheat products have been substituted by corn and rice products in Chow (-W). For a more detailed illustration of nutrients, see Appendix 1.

Activation of total MLNs from $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ with dietary suspensions of Chow (DS Chow) or wheat depleted Chow (DS Chow (-W)) significantly (P < 0.001) induced secretion of TNF. No difference in immunostimulatory potential of DS Chow and DS Chow (-W) could be detected (**Figure 34A**).

CD4+ T-cell specific IFN-y secretion in coculture experiments reached comparable levels using DS Chow and DS Chow (-W) pulsed BM-DCs. (**Figure 34B**).



Figure 34. Cell culture analysis of dietary suspensions (DS) from Chow diet (DS Chow) and wheat depleted Chow diet (DS Chow (-W)).

Concentration of TNF and IFN-y in cell culture supernatants, measured by ELISA. (A) Concentration of TNF in cell culture supernatants. Mesenteric lymph node cells from TNFΔARE/WT mice (MLN-ARE) on Chow diet (Chow) and experimental diet (Exp) were stimulated with dietary suspensions of Chow diet (DS Chow, 100 ug/ml) or wheat depleted Chow diet (DS Chow (-W), 100 ug/ml) for 24 h. (B) Concentration of IFN-y in coculture supernatants, measured by ELISA. Bone marrow derived dendritic cells (BM-DCs) were pulsed with DS Chow (100 ug/ml) or DS Chow (-W) (100 ug/ml) for 6 h. CD4+ T-cells were isolated from mesenteric lymph nodes of TNFΔARE/WT mice on Chow diet (ARE Chow CD4+) and experimental diet (ARE Exp CD4+). BM-DCs and

CD4+ T-cells were cocultured in 96-well plates for 72 h. In each experiment, keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH, 100 ug/ml) was used as a negative control. Values are means \pm SD of three independent experiments. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.001.

To evaluate the effects of the wheat depleted Chow diet on disease pathogenesis, we started a feeding experiment with seven weeks old $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice and kept them on Chow (-W) until 18 weeks of age. No differences in ileitis severity could be observed after histological examination of distal ileal sections (**Figure 35**).



Figure 35. Tissue pathology of TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} **mice being kept on Chow diet and wheat depleted Chow diet.** Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination (score 0-12) of distal ileal sections from TNF Δ ARE/WT mice (18 weeks of age) on Chow diet and wheat depleted Chow diet (Chow (-W). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group.

4.2. Dietary modulation of IL-10^{-/-} colitis by experimental diet

In contrast to TNF^{ARE/WT} mice, which develop a Crohn's disease-like ileitis, IL-10^{-/-} mice develop spontaneous colitis. It has been shown that IL-10^{-/-} mice being kept under germ-free conditions do not develop pathology. Thus, the commensal microbiota is suggested to play a crucial role in disease development.

Based on our findings regarding the protective potential of experimental diet in feeding experiments with TNF^{ARE/WT} mice, we wanted to assess possible effects of experimental diet on colitis development in IL-10^{-/-} mice. Animals were transferred from specific pathogen free (SPF) to conventional housing conditions at six weeks of age. IL-10^{-/-} mice were kept on Chow or experimental diet and sacrificed after 24 weeks of age.

Dietary treatment had no effect on body weight development. Spleens of IL-10^{-/-} mice on Chow and Exp were of comparable size and weight (Figure 36A and B). Spleen to body weight ratios showed no significant difference either (data not shown). Colons of animals in the Exp and Chow group were of comparable length (Figure 36C).



4

2

0

Exp

Chow

(A) Body weight, (B) spleen weight and (C) colon length of IL-10^{-/-} mice on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet after 24 weeks of age. Values are means ± SD, n = 5 per group.

Histological scoring of the distal colon revealed strong tissue pathology in IL-10^{-/-} mice being fed Chow, whereas animals on experimental diet showed only mild colitis (p< 0.05) (Figure

72
37A). We next tried to confirm our findings by serum amyloid A (SAA) measurement in plasma samples. SAA values of the Chow group were significantly (P < 0.01) increased, compared with plasma samples of animals on experimental diet and did highly correlate with histology scores (**Figure 37B**). These data might direct to an interchangeable protective effect in Crohn's disease-like ileitis and IL-10^{-/-} colitis by dietary intervention using experimental diet.





mice (24 weeks of age) on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (Chow). (B) Serum amyloid A (SAA) values in plasma samples of IL-10^{-/-} mice. Values are means \pm SD, n = 5 per group. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.05 and P < 0.01 for (A) and (B), respectively.

4.3. Experimental diet in the modulation of adoptive transfer colitis and ileitis

To evaluate the effects of dietary intervention on disease location, we performed an adoptive transfer of CD4⁺ IL-10^{-/-} T cells into Rag2^{-/-} recipient mice. Recipient mice were kept on Chow or experimental diet for 10 weeks after transfer. The T cell transfer model is a valuable tool to investigate development of chronic enterocolitis as well as ileitis in the same animal.

Body weights were measured every week to generate a weight curve. There was no difference in weight development comparing Rag2^{-/-} recipient mice on Chow and experimental diet (**Figure 38**).





Body weights of male and female $Rag2^{-/-}$ mice on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (Chow) were measured every week starting at the day of T-cell transfer (Baseline). Values are means ± SD, n = 3 per group.

а

Chow

We measured organ weights and noticed a significantly (P < 0.05) increased colon weight-tolength ratio of Rag2^{-/-} mice in the Chow group. Accordingly, cecum weights of Rag2^{-/-} mice were significantly higher (P < 0.001) when kept on Chow. However, no significant difference could be found comparing the spleen weights (**Figure 39**).

B 700

Cecum weight [mg]

600

500 400

300 200

100 0



Exp

b

(A) Colon weight-to-length ratio, (B) cecum weight and (C) spleen weight of Rag2^{-/-} mice (10 weeks after Tcell transfer) on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (Chow). Values are means \pm SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.05 and P < 0.001 for (A) and (B), respectively. We next aimed at evaluating the effects of dietary intervention on colitis compared with ileitis pathogenesis. Tissue pathology in distal ileal and distal colonic tissues was assessed by histological scoring of H&E stained sections. Surprisingly, no difference in histopathology could be observed in moderately inflamed distal ileal tissues of Rag2^{-/-} recipient mice kept on Chow or experimental diet (**Figure 40A**). There was a trend to stronger tissue pathology in distal colonic sections of Rag2^{-/-} mice on Chow compared with Rag2^{-/-} mice on experimental diet, yet values did not reach significance (**Figure 40B**).

(A) Tissue pathology assessed by histological examination (score 0-12) of (A) distal ileal and (B) distal colonic sections from Rag2^{-/-} mice (10 weeks after T-cell transfer) on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (Chow).

We next performed qPCR analysis of distal ileal and colonic tissue sections. Interestingly, TNF and IFN-y levels were significantly (P < 0.05) higher in distal ileal tissues of Chow fed Rag2^{-/-} mice compared with Exp fed Rag2^{-/-} mice (**Figure 41A**). By contrast, no difference in TNF and IFN-y expression could be seen in colonic tissue mRNA (**Figure 41B**).

Figure 41. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of proinflammatory cytokines in the ileum and colon. Relative mRNA expression of TNF in (A) distal ileal and (B) distal colonic tissue from $Rag2^{-/-}$ mice (10 weeks after T-cell transfer) on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (Chow). Values are means ± SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b} Within each graph, means without a common letter differ, P < 0.05.

Systemic inflammation was assessed by serum amyloid A (SAA) measurement in plasma samples of all animals. SAA values were significantly (P < 0.01) elevated in the Chow group, suggesting an increased systemic inflammatory response in T-cell transfer recipient mice on Chow diet compared with those on experimental diet (**Figure 42**).

Serum amyloid A (SAA) values in plasma samples of Rag2^{-/-} mice (10 weeks after T-cell transfer) on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (Chow). Values are means \pm SD, n = 6 per group. ^{a,b} means without a common letter differ, P < 0.01.

5. DISCUSSION

In clinical studies, nutritional therapy was shown to be efficacious in inducing and maintaining remission in Crohn's disease patients, associated with improved nutritional status, decreased proinflammatory cytokine levels and mucosal healing [119-121]. Even though meta-analysis reviews comparing therapeutic efficacy have yielded clinical data that favor corticosteroid therapy in adult Crohn's disease patients [122, 124, 171], therapeutic outcome may be influenced by several factors like patients demography, nutritional adherence, disease state and time of intervention [30]. Interestingly, nutritional therapy in the form of EN seems to be much more promising in Crohn's disease patients and less effective in ulcerative colitis patients, the reasons for which are as yet unknown [112, 172]. It is noteworthy that EEN is recommended as primary therapy in pediatric Crohn's disease with clinical response rates as high as in corticosteroid therapy, while avoiding its severe adverse effects [126, 128]. Moreover, children with newly diagnosed Crohn's disease showed highest responsiveness (up to 85%) to EEN. By contrast, in children on relapse, the clinical response rate fell to 50%, comparable to the response rate of 53% achieved in the European Cooperative Crohn's Disease Study IV, including 107 adults [127, 173]. Thus, timing and IBD subtype seem to be important factors for therapeutic outcome.

Several studies have been performed to elucidate to role of EN formula on therapeutic efficacy. Meta-analysis of ten trials comprising 334 patients demonstrated no difference in the efficacy of elemental versus non-elemental formulas (OR 1.10; 95% CI 0.69 to 1.75). Subgroup analyses performed to evaluate the different types of elemental and non-elemental diets (elemental, semi-elemental and polymeric) showed no statistically significant differences [122]. A semi-synthetic diet was used in our dietary intervention studies, with close resemblance to semi-elemental diet, as applied in clinical settings. However, animals were kept on diets provided in a pelleted form instead of liquid diets, as used in clinical studies. We used different animal models of mucosal inflammation with focus on the TNF^{ΔARE/WT} model for Crohn's disease-like ileitis, regarding the fact that EN yields highest clinical response in Crohn's disease patients. Tissue pathology was selected as main experimental endpoint and results were compared with experimental outcome on a standard Chow diet.

5.1. Effects of dietary intervention on Crohn's disease-like ileitis

The semi-synthetic experimental diet exhibited a clear protective effect on tissue pathology development in $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice, demonstrated by histological examination of distal ileal sections after 18 weeks of age. This effect was accompanied by a significant reduction of leukocyte infiltration, MLN weights and total MLN leukocyte numbers. We observed reduced tissue activation in the distal ileum with decreased expression of pattern recognition receptors, proinflammatory cytokines, as well as reduction of homing associated addressins. These findings suggest that chronic intestinal inflammation was inhibited in $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice on experimental diet.

Interestingly, dietary intervention seemed to have no effect on spleen attributes. TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice on Chow and experimental diet did not differ concerning spleen weight and yield of splenocyte numbers and showed increased values compared with WT animals on each of the diets. The spleen plays a crucial role in initiating immune reactions to blood-borne antigens and for filtering the blood of foreign material and old or damaged red blood cells. Increased spleen size may be associated with several immunologic conditions such as viral, parasitic or bacterial infections, lymphoma or chronic inflammatory diseases [174, 175]. Besides Crohn's-like intestinal inflammation, constitutive expression of TNF in the joints of TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice results in erosive polyarthritis, which has also been associated with increased spleen size [176]. We did not investigate the effects of dietary intervention on polyarthritis pathogenesis in detail but macroscopic and functional observations regarding impaired grabbing and climbing ability suggested no dramatic changes of disease phenotype. Thus, joint inflammation in addition to constitutive TNF expression in the spleen might be the reason for unaltered spleen weights in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice on Chow and experimental diet.

We performed flow cytometric analysis to further characterize ileitis development in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice. Crohn's disease-like ileitis is suggested to be CD8 $\alpha\beta^+$ T-cell dependent [149] and we could confirm an increased ratio of CD8 $\alpha\beta^+$ to CD8 $\alpha\alpha^+$ T-cells in ileal tissues of TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice. However, inhibition of chronic ileitis did not modify ratios of CD8⁺ T-cell subpopulations, suggesting that a relative increase of CD8 $\alpha\beta^+$ T-cells is not necessarily associated with intestinal inflammation in TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mice. Apostolaki et al. [149] have shown that development of intestinal inflammation in this mouse model is critically dependent on $\beta7$ integrin-mediated T-lymphocyte recruitment, suggesting that upregulation of homing mechanisms in immunoactivated tissues, associated with increased infiltration of leukocytes in general might be more important for ileitis development than dominance of the CD8 $\alpha\beta^+$ T-cell subtype. Moreover, it has been shown that selective chronic overproduction of TNF by IEC suffices to cause full development of Crohn's-like pathology [177]. Epithelial TNF

overexpression leads to early activation of underlying intestinal myofibroblasts, which are a sufficient target of TNF for disease development in the TNF^{ΔARE/WT} model.

Analogous to flow cytometric results of intestinal tissues, in this study no phenotypic difference could be seen in MLN leukocyte populations after dietary intervention, although clear differences in MLN weight and leukocyte numbers could be detected. MLNs play a crucial role in the induction of mucosal immune responses. Intravascular naive T-cells home to the inductive sites of the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), including Peyer's patches (PPs), isolated lymphoid follicles as well as the gut-draining MLNs to mount a protective immune response to enteric pathogens. It is suggested that MLNs may function as primary gut-associated inductive site where *naive* T-cells first encounter enteric antigens, which are transported by antigen-loaded dendritic cells (DCs) from the intestinal lamina propria and PPs via afferent lymphatics [178]. When naive T-cells encounter their cognate antigens, antigen-driven priming/activation, polarization, and expansion takes place to yield specific effector T-cells [179, 180]. Results from several different animal studies suggest that in the absence of appropriate regulatory mechanisms, this same sequence of events may occur in response to commensal bacteria resulting in enteric antigen-dependent induction of chronic intestinal inflammation [181-183]. Thus, we suggest that increased MLN weights of TNF^{ARE/WT} mice on Chow were associated with increased effector T-cell generation and presence of enteric antigens required for the induction of chronic intestinal inflammation.

On Chow diet, TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice develop a moderate inflammation in the distal ileum within eight weeks of age and severe pathology can be observed after 12 weeks of age [184]. Dietary intervention using experimental diet was successful in the inhibition of intestinal inflammation in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice. To find out whether experimental diet could also be used to induce remission in a state of progressed inflammation, we transferred TNF^{ARE/WT} mice to experimental diet at different time points. Histological findings showed that early dietary intervention seems to be crucial to maintain gut homeostasis, whereas induction of remission at later time points (10 and 14 weeks of age) was not possible. These data suggest that progression of pathology could be inhibited by experimental diet at an early stage. However, an established inflammatory setting could not be reversed. There seems to be a critical time frame between week 7 and 10 with regards to efficacy of the experimental diet. Severe intestinal inflammation is associated with reduced barrier function, increased intestinal permeability and bacterial translocation, leading to direct contact of luminal antigens and gut resident immune cells [185]. A proinflammatory environment in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice with dysregulated TNF biosynthesis might dominate regulatory mechanisms. Under these conditions, direct contact with luminal antigens might be the inflammatory point of no return, when dietary intervention becomes ineffective. Yet, these are speculations and further experiments need to be done to elucidate the underlying mechanisms. Interestingly, when

we transferred mature mice from experimental diet to Chow diet after 12 weeks of age, inflammation was already found to be moderately and strongly expressed after two and six weeks on Chow, respectively. Histological scores describing tissue pathology resembled those being reported by Baur et al. [184] after eight and 12 weeks, respectively, pointing at an accelerated onset of pathology in mature TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice. To investigate the pathogenesis of Crohn's disesase-like ileitis on Chow diet in more detail, we designed customized diets with increasing concentrations of Chow content on the basis of a semi-synthetic diet. A Chow content of only 1% was sufficient to produce a scattered picture of inflammation and 10% induced maximal pathology in the treatment groups. These observations may suggest pure experimental diet to maintain a homeostatic state, which is protective but labile and susceptible for modulation.

It is noteworthy that we could not detect any effect of Chow compared to experimental diet in WT mice regarding the histological appearance of the distal ileum. However, we identified a small but significant diet-related effect on mRNA expression of the pattern recognition receptors TLR-2 and TLR-4, which were less expressed in WT mice on experimental diet compared with Chow diet. But we did not analyze TLR signaling and thus may only speculate about modified TLR sensing and activity. Nonetheless, there was a significant diet-related effect on cecum weight in WT and TNF^{ARE/WT} mice. Cecum weights were clearly increased on Chow diet and this effect was even pronounced under inflammatory conditions. The cecum is a pouch, connecting the ileum with the ascending colon of the large intestine. It hosts a large number of bacteria, which aid in the enzymatic breakdown of nutrients. Thus, dietary intervention may have a big impact on cecal microbial composition and related metabolite production [186, 187]. Certain indigenous microorganisms may play an essential role in maintaining the integrity of sodium chloride associated water-transport mechanism in the intestinal epithelium [188-190]. Water was shown to accumulate in the cecal lumen in mice given antibacterial drugs in their drinking water after the first 24 to 48 hours of the treatment leading to increased cecal size. The microorganisms most likely to be involved, affecting cecal physiology are anaerobic bacteria that predominate in the cecal microbiota [189, 191]. Germ-free rodents show also enlarged cecal proportions corroborating the impact of cecal microbes on cecum physiology [190]. Dietary effects on cecum size, thus, may be related to changes in the cecal microbiota and might also be associated with altered expression and recognition of enteric antigens. Moreover, inflammation in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice is not only restricted to the distal ileum, but may also affect the cecum and proximal colon. Thus, inflammatory processes may play an additional role in the modulation of cecal proportions. In this study, we could not detect an accumulation of cecal water but an increase in total mass of cecal content. Thus, we suggest that differences in cecum weight originated

from the interplay between an altered microbial composition and metabolic activity in combination with dysregulated tissue physiology due to inflammatory processes.

Furthermore, we observed Chow pellets to have a coarse-grained particle structure, in contrast to the homogenous grained pellets of experimental diet. Bowel activity was speculated to be enhanced in animals being kept on Chow diet, which was associated with a general increase of intestinal thickening in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} and WT mice. However, achievement of induction of remission in nutritional therapy is in part suggested to be associated with decreased bowel activity [192]. The intestinal mucosal layer is confronted with numerous forces. For example, mucosal cells may experience pressure and shear stress from interaction with relatively non-compressible endoluminal chyme and increasing evidence suggests that such forces may substantially influence intestinal mucosal cell biology [193]. In pathologic conditions such as chronic inflammatory states, intraluminal pressures are often elevated and may adversely affect gut physiology and healing [194]. Contraction of the muscular layers thus may result in mucosal compression, as the mucosa is squeezed between the contracting musculature and the non-compressible chyme [195]. Although Chow fine had a decreased grinding state as measured by laser diffraction analysis, particle size distribution in ileal and cecal contents did not differ and no reduction of tissue pathology could be observed in distal ileal sections.

To analyze the composition of cecal contents in more detail, we prepared cecal bacterial suspensions and performed Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) analysis. FT-IR is a physiochemical technique, considered to be a powerful method for characterizing chemical compositions of complex probes [196]. In FT-IR, all cellular components contribute to the spectral pattern generated, and thus represents an adequate tool to differentiate and identify microorganisms in situations, where environmental conditions affect the whole cell. In addition, a number of recent studies have shown that FT-IR spectroscopy can help to understand microbial responses, when exposed to stress conditions in the environment such as inflammation or dietary intervention [197]. Spectral distances of bacteria-associated clusters between Chow and experimental diet groups were most striking in dendrograms of whole range (4000-600 cm⁻¹) FT-IR spectra and spectra focusing on the fingerprint region in the carbohydrate specific area between 1200 and 900 cm⁻¹. Carbohydrate specific differences in the absorption spectra might occur due to the effects of a distinct sugar composition of the complex Chow diet on cecal bacteria. Indeed, alterations of glycoprotein structures in bacterial cell walls or variations in carbohydrate metabolite profile may be factors that contribute to differences in this region. Consequently, we next aimed at characterizing functional alterations in the cecal microbiota with effects on microbial antigenicity.

Coculture analyses with cecal lysate pulsed BM-DCs in combination with CD4⁺ T-cells showed strong immunostimulatory effects of the cecal lysates, yet no difference in antigenicity could be found. Kim et al. [198] described that colitis initiated by inoculation of nonpathogenic bacteria (Enterococcus faecalis and Escherichia coli) into germ-free IL-10^{-/-} mice exhibited distinct patterns of intestinal inflammation in different anatomical locations. In a coculture system they could show that CD4⁺ T-cells from Enterococcus faecalis or Escherichia coli monoassociated interleukin 10^{-/-} mice selectively produced higher levels of IFN-y and IL-4 when stimulated with APCs pulsed with the bacterial species that induced disease. Thus, the authors suggested that different cytokine levels could be explained by bacterial-antigen specific responses. In contrast to our study, Kim et al. used T-cell depleted splenocytes as APCs that were mainly composed of B-cells (88%–95%) [198]. Regulatory mechanisms of primed APCs compared with in vitro generated BM-DCs may have an influence on experimental outcome. Strong activation of T-cells by highly activated BM-DCs might overshadow cecal lysate associated specific effects. Thus, modifications of the coculture system regarding the use of primed APCs isolated from local tissues might identify diet induced differences in antigenicity. Furthermore, the pre-purification of cecal lysates using endotoxin-removal systems or targeted culture of bacterial candidates from cecal content on selective agar plates followed by bacterial lysate preparation might be an additional approach. Yet, another possibility is that there is no antigen specific effect of the experimental diet on the cecal microbiota and that the protective state of TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice on semi-synthetic diet is independent of the cecal microbial antigenicity.

TNF^{ARE/WT} mice under conventional conditions invariably developed chronic ileitis. By contrast. TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice raised in a specific pathogen free environment partly did not show tissue pathology, indicating that modulation of pathogenesis seems to be possible also on Chow diet (personal communication). Apart from absence of certain microbial species and an increased level of general hygiene, Chow diet was autoclaved for SPF conditions to avoid contamination with food-borne microbial agents. In contrast to experimental dietary we could show that dietary suspensions of Chow pellets had suspensions. immunostimulatory properties in cell culture experiments. However, autoclaving of the Chow diet did not have a disease preventative effect on ileitis development in vivo, although autoclaved Chow lost its immunostimulatory effects in cell culture experiments. Several animal models of intestinal inflammation do not develop pathology under germ-free conditions, indicating microbial interactions to play a crucial role in the modulation of gastrointestinal disorders [199]. The effects of a germ-free environment on Crohn's diseaselike ileitis have not yet been investigated. However, the invariable expression of chronic ileitis in Chow fed TNF^{ARE/WT} mice under conventional conditions in contrast to the scattered

occurrence of inflammation in SPF animal housing and disease-ameliorating effects of antibiotic treatment (personal communication) may suggest that the gut microbiota plays a crucial role in the $\text{TNF}^{\Delta \text{ARE/WT}}$ mouse model. Interestingly, we have noticed that dietary intervention using experimental diet was not exclusively protective for ileitis development. Approximately 10% of $\text{TNF}^{\Delta \text{ARE/WT}}$ mice showed moderate and less often severe inflammation despite being kept on experimental diet. This phenomenon did not seem to be related with caging or breeding effects, because it could also be observed between siblings in the same cage. These observations corroborated the theory of a protective but labile state of intestinal homeostasis on experimental diet.

Earlier experiments suggested iron deficient experimental diet to be protective against ileitis development in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice, whereas iron adequate experimental diet seemed to induce inflammation. It could be shown that iron-depleted experimental diet induced significant changes in cecal microbial composition and that abundance of certain bacterial genera correlated with histology scores of distal ileal sections [200]. These findings might seem to be contradictory to our present observations at first glance, though, at the same time, they might reflect the susceptibility of experimental diet related intestinal homeostasis to external triggers and variations in the gut microbiota. It is noteworthy that microbiota dependent animal models, being bred in different animal facilities may have different characteristics and experimental outcomes [201]. This circumstance further corroborates the strong impact microbial variations may have on disease phenotype. It is reasonable that the microbial ecology may be subject to variations over time and that animal models may adapt to environmental factors with increased numbers of breeding generations which might also shift the narrow time frame where experimental diet can exhibit a preventive effect on chronic ileitis development in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice. However, further analyses need to be performed to reveal putative correlations between distinct microbial agents and Crohn's disease-like pathogenesis. Pyrosequencing technology will be used to characterize the microbial composition of TNF^{ARE/WT} mice on different diets associated with intestinal homeostasis and inflammation. Comparison of pyrosequencing data from earlier and recent experiments showing equivocal results will reveal changes of the microbial composition over time and may lead to the identification of microbial agents critical for Crohn's disease-like pathogenesis.

5.2. Gluten and Crohn's disease-like ileitis

A striking difference between Chow diet and experimental diet regarding nutrient composition is the presence of wheat and wheat derived products that account for 50% of Chow components, whereas experimental diet is free of wheat compounds. Wheat related gastrointestinal disorders are of common incidence. Apart from wheat allergies, gluten intolerance seems to be one of the most prevalent reasons [202]. It is to note that recent studies could show gluten to have effects not only in genetically predisposed people. HLA DQ2 or DQ8 haplotypes are found in over 90% of celiac disease patients, leading to an inappropriate T-cell mediated immune response against ingested, deamidated gliadin peptides [203, 204]. Several studies reported that celiac disease is a condition in which paracellular permeability is enhanced and the integrity of the tight junction system is compromised [205, 206]. However, accumulating clinical evidence supports the existence of an irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)-like form of gluten sensitivity named non-celiac gluten intolerance [207, 208]. Drago et al have investigated the effect of gliadin on permeability of celiac and non-celiac intestinal mucosa. Their results provided evidence that gliadin activates zonulin signaling, resulting in immediate reduction of intestinal barrier function and passage of gliadin into the subepithelial compartment irrespective of a genetic predisposition [209].

Moreover, Biesiekierski et al. conducted a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled rechallenge trial in patients with irritable bowel syndrome in whom celiac disease was excluded and who were symptomatically controlled on a gluten-free diet. Compared with the gluten group, patients who remained gluten free reported significant improvements in pain, bloating, satisfaction with stool consistency and tiredness. The authors concluded that gluten is associated with overall IBS symptoms, in a subset of patients [142]. Another group suggested that several forms of gluten intolerance might occur frequently not only in patients with gastrointestinal symptoms, but also in first- and second-degree relatives and patients with numerous common disorders even in the absence of gastrointestinal symptoms [210]. The negative effects of gluten administration might have even more impact in a setting where intestinal homeostasis is disturbed and proinflammatory mechanisms dominate like in the TNF^{Δ ARE/WT} mouse. In support of this hypothesis, it has been shown that the persistent presence of inflammatory mediators such as TNF and IFN-y may increase the permeability across the endothelial and epithelial layers [211, 212].

To test this hypothesis, we designed a gluten-fortified experimental diet, which was identical with pure experimental diet except that parts of the casein fraction were replaced by gluten. The gluten-fortified experimental diet induced intestinal inflammation in AREs *in vivo*, which was associated with increased levels of TNF, IFN-y and IL-15 as well as TLR-2 and TLR-4 expression in distal ileal tissues. Interestingly, PT-gluten stimulation of MLNs from Chow,

experimental and gluten- fortified experimental diet treatment groups resulted in comparable TNF secretion, whereas T-cell dependent IFN-y secretion did not occur. These findings suggest an antigen-independent co-activation of immune cells rather than T-cell specific antigen recognition. Several studies have been performed to identify the antigenic agent, responsible for gluten intolerance in celiac patients. Gluten consists of gliadin and glutenin fractions. Specific gliadin peptides that are deamidated by tissue transglutaminase (e.g., alpha-gliadin P57-68) bind to HLA DQ2 and/or DQ8 molecules and may induce an adaptive Th1 proinflammatory response in a genetically susceptible host [213]. However, early innate immunity has been considered as another possible key element in celiac disease [214]. In the case of the innate immune response, alpha-gliadin P31-43, which is not recognized by T cells, induces IL15 production, which in turn is thought to cause expansion of intra epithelial lymphocytes (IEL) and induction of epithelial apoptosis that is independent of TCR specificity [215-217]. In addition, imbalances in the intestinal microbial composition have been associated with celiac disease, suggesting a role of intestinal microbiota in this pathology as well [218]. Mouse models for celiac disease are rare and need to have genetically humanized modifications regarding TCR and HLA genes to develop pathogenesis [219]. To our knowledge, no spontaneous celiac disease model exists to date and gluten responsiveness of the TNF^{ARE/WT} mouse could especially contribute to the understanding of non-celiac gluten intolerance. Further experiments need to be performed to describe the fundamental mechanisms in more detail, including the analysis of gluten related effects on intestinal homeostasis in WT mice.

Adherence to a gluten-free diet is efficient for induction of remission and recover of intestinal homeostasis in patients with celiac disease and gluten intolerance [202]. However, wheat depleted, gluten-free Chow diet neither had reduced immunostimulatory properties in cell culture experiments, nor was there any positive effect on ileitis development in $\text{TNF}^{\Delta \text{ARE/WT}}$ mice *in vivo*. Yet, wheat depleted Chow still is a complex mixture of natural ingredients, with barley accounting for 16% of content. Indeed, it has been shown that gluten-like proteins in barley and rye may also trigger immune responses in celiac patients [220], thus, Chow (-W) may not be an adequate equivalent to a gluten-free diet.

5.3. Impact of experimental diet on IL-10^{-/-} mice and T-cell transfer colitis

Dietary intervention using experimental diet was successful for prevention of chronic ileitis in TNF^{ARE/WT} mice. To investigate the effects of experimental diet on colitis pathogenesis, we performed a feeding experiment with IL-10^{-/-} mice. In contrast to the TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mouse model, where proinflammatory mechanisms dominate due to impaired regulation of TNF translation, imbalance of immune homeostasis in the IL-10^{-/-} colitis model originates from impaired anti-inflammatory mechanisms that lead to the development of enterocolitis [153]. Although no differences could be found in body weight, spleen weight and colon length, histological examination of colonic sections clearly showed increased tissue pathology in the Chow group, which was confirmed by increased SAA plasma levels. The high standard deviations of the Chow group derived from two outliers, one that did not develop colitis and another that showed extreme tissue pathology. Interestingly, IL-10^{-/-} mice on experimental diet showed only mild signs of inflammation with low interindividual variations, suggesting that the efficacy of dietary intervention with experimental diet was not restricted to Crohn's disease-like ileitis. Generally, IL-10^{-/-} mice raised in a SPF or conventional environment develop colitis marked by epithelial cell hyperplasia and transmural inflammation [153]. Yet, colitis does not develop under germ-free conditions and thus is suggested to be driven by antigens of the mucosal microbiota [221, 222]. Moreover, IL-10^{-/-} mice exhibit increased intestinal permeability even prior to the development of overt colitis. This change in barrier function may lead to increased contact with or stimulation by antigens in the mucosal microbiota and thus might be a factor that facilitates the development of inflammation [223]. The break in normal "tolerance" to commensal antigens thus might be modified by dietary intervention using experimental diet. Though, whether the underlying mechanism, which inhibits mucosal inflammation in IL-10^{-/-} colitis is similar to the prevention of Crohn's diseaselike ileitis could not be resolved and remains to be elucidated.

The T-cell transfer model of colitis represents another model of inadequate regulatory response, which is driven by microbial antigens and leads to mucosal inflammation. In addition to naïve CD4⁺ CD45RB^{hi} T-cells, CD4⁺ IL-10^{-/-} T-cells may be used for the induction of T-cell transfer colitis in immunocompromised Rag2^{-/-} recipient mice. It seems to be underappreciated that apart from colitis, these animals develop small intestinal inflammation, especially in the distal part [159]. Thus, the T-cell transfer model may be used as a tool to study the effects of dietary intervention on colitis and ileitis development at the same time. Although we could not detect a significant difference in body or spleen weight, comparison of Chow and experimental diet treatment groups revealed significant differences in cecum weight and colon weight-to-length ratios, which have been found to correlate with histological scores in T-cell transfer colitis [224]. However, in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mouse experiments, we have

observed that significant differences in cecum weights may also occur among healthy WT mice due to dietary effects. Interestingly, histological examination of distal ileal and distal colonic sections exhibited no pathological difference comparing Chow and experimental diet groups.

In T-cell transfer models, increased tissue pathology usually is associated with a loss of body weight [224]. As we could not see differences in weight over time in any group (apart from gender-specific differences), dietary effects on mucosal inflammation might have been visible with prolonged experimental time. Furthermore, molecular characteristics of the transferred effector T-cells and their interaction with the commensal microbiota seem to be crucial factors for disease pathogenesis. Animals fail to develop disease under germ free conditions and co-transfer of regulatory T-cells can inhibit colitis development [225]. Moreover, Strauch et al. have shown that SCID recipients, which received naive T-cells from germ free donors, developed an earlier onset of colitis compared with mice reconstituted with lymphocytes from conventionally housed animals [226]. Earlier experiments showed that T-cell transfer colitis exhibited a late onset of inflammation associated with a scattered inflammatory phenotype of the immunodeficient recipient mice when conducted in our SPF animal facility (personal communication). In the T-cell transfer experiment described above, donor CD4⁺ IL-10^{-/-} Tcells were derived from SPF, whereas Rag2^{-/-} recipient mice were kept under conventional conditions. Therefore, it would be interesting to repeat the experiment with both donors and recipients being kept under conventional conditions to avoid differences in the initial microbiota. Nevertheless, proinflammatory cytokines TNF and IFN-y were increased in distal ileal tissues of Chow fed animals, although no difference in regulation could be observed in distal colonic tissues. Moreover, T-cell transfer recipient mice on experimental diet showed clearly reduced levels of SAA compared with mice on Chow diet, suggesting a lower state of systemic inflammation and thus a positive effect of experimental diet on T-cell adoptive transfer colitis in Rag2 -/- mice.

5.4. Conclusion and outlook

We have shown that pathogenesis of Crohn's disease-like ileitis can be inhibited by early dietary intervention using an experimental diet. However, administration of experimental diet could not be used for induction of remission in an already established inflammatory setting. Interestingly, clinical studies of nutritional therapy have shown that EEN is effective for inducing remission in pediatric Crohn's disease especially in newly diagnosed patients [172]. In conclusion, these observations might suggest that early administration of nutritional therapy could be associated with a favored therapeutic outcome

Strong efforts have been made to elucidate the mechanisms underlying EN therapy. Several aspects have been suggested to be involved such as induction of bowel rest, decreased intestinal permeability, modulation of the microbiota and associated increase and decrease of anti-inflammatory and proinflammatory responses, respectively [227-229]. Dietary antigens in the protein fraction were assumed to be another factor contributing to immune dysbalance, though evaluation of polymeric diets showed no difference in efficacy compared with elemental diets. Apart from being solid, the semi-synthetic experimental diet used throughout the experiments has a similar composition to semi-elemental diets used for EN therapy. Consequently, the observed protective effects in our feeding experiments and its underlying mechanisms might also reveal interesting concepts, relevant for the improvement of EN therapy.

In general, intestinal homeostasis on experimental diet seems to be labile and Chow contents of only 1% were sufficient to induce moderate ileitis. In addition, transfer of mature TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice from experimental diet to Chow diet resulted in rapid disease development. It is strongly suggested that the microbial composition and microbe-host interactions play a crucial role in the modulation of Crohn's disease-like ileitis in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice. To dissect the contribution of microbial interactions in more detail, transfer of TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice to a germ free environment in combination with monoassociation studies may be a promising approach. A comprehensive analysis of pyrosequencing data from different feeding experiments with different inflammatory outcomes may yield microbial candidates for further monoassociation studies. Apart from ileitis prevention, it would be interesting whether experimental diet may also be effective in maintenance of remission. Anti-TNF antibody or antibiotic therapy might be tested to induce remission in TNF^{ΔARE/WT} mice. Subsequent administration of Chow or experimental diet in absence of medical intervention might yield important knowledge about the role of experimental diet in maintaining remission. In clinical practice, responsiveness of Crohn's disease patients to EN is variable and the relapse rate is about 65% at 12 months in adult studies [122]. Moreover, EN therapy seems to be not efficient in ulcerative colitis

patients. The reasons for this variability are not known but might be useful for the improvement of therapeutic strategies.

Profound understanding of the modulation of microbial ecologies using nutritional therapy and the immunologic consequences caused by altered microbe host interactions would strongly contribute to the development of improved therapeutic strategies for IBD treatment. Cutting edge technologies such as pyrosequencing analysis, metabolomics and nutrigenomics may provide deeper insights into the effects of dietary intervention on intestinal homeostasis and interindividual variations. A combination of these technologies might have strong impact on the future development of highly efficient, personalized strategies for nutritional therapy.

6. APPENDIX

Appendix 1. Nutrient composition of the diets used in the project. Detailed information about diet ingredients is provided on the following pages in form of the original manufacturer's data sheets.

Ingredients	Percentage

Ssniff Exp (Control diet EF R/M (E15000))

Casein, acid	%	24.0
Corn starch, pre-gelatinized	%	30.0
Maltodextrin	%	19.6
Glucose (Dextrose)	%	10.0
Cellulose powder	%	5.0
L-Cystine	%	0.2
Vitamin premix, w/o choline Cl	%	1.0
Mineral & tace element premix	%	6.0
Choline Chloride	%	0.2
Soybean oil	%	4.0

Altromin Exp (Control diet C1000)

-

Casein, purified	%	20.0
Corn starch, purified	%	53.0
Saccharose, refined	%	10.0
Cellulose powder, purified	%	4.0
Vit. Form. C 1000 with Saccharose	%	2.0
Minerals and trace elements.Form. C 1000	%	6.0
Sunflower oil, refined.	%	5.0

Altromin Glu (Control diet C1000 + 10% gluten)

Casein, purified	%	10.6
Corn starch, purified	%	52.4
Saccharose, refined	%	10.0
Cellulose powder, purified	%	4.0
Vit. Form. C 1000 with Saccharose	%	2.0
Minerals and trace elements.Form. C 1000	%	6.0
Sunflower oil, refined.	%	5.0
Gluten from wheat (Sigma-Aldrich)	%	10.0

Ssniff Chow (R/M-H (V1534))

Wheat & wheat products	%	50.0
Barley	%	16.0
Soybean products	%	22.7
Amino acids	%	0.2
Vitamins & trace elements	%	1.3
Minerals	%	3.4
Fiber sorces (Ø ~19 % CF)	%	6.4

Ssniff Chow (-W) (S5745-S020)

Babycorn, pre-treated	%	30.6
Puffed rice	%	16.0
Barley	%	16.0
Soybeanmeal	%	19.4
Soybean concentrate	%	8.0
Lignocellulose	%	1.0
L-Lysine HCI	%	0.1
DL-Methionine	%	0.1
Vitamin & trace element premix	%	1.0
Monocalcium phosphate	%	1.4
Calcium carbonate	%	1.0
Calcium propionate	%	0.5
Salt (NaCl)	%	0.6
Sorbic acid	%	0.1
Choline Chloride	%	0.3
Sugar beet pulp. dehydrated	%	3.0
Soybean oil	%	1.0

ssniff[®] R/M-H

Alleinfuttermittel für die Haltung von Ratten und Mäusen

Beschreibung

Dieses Futtermittel ist für Ratten und Mäuse im Erhaltungsstoffwechsel vorgesehen. Aufgrund der ausgewogenen Nährstoffkonzentrationen bei mittlerer Energiedichte und niedrigem Nitrosamin-Gehalt ist es auch als Basisfutter für Langzeitstudien gut geeignet.

Rohnährstoffe	[%]
Trockensubstanz	87,7
Rohprotein (N x 6,25)	19,0
Rohfett	3,3
Rohfaser	4,9
Rohasche	6,4
N-freie Extraktstoffe	54,1
Stärke	36,5
Zucker	4,7

Mineralstoffe	[%]	Aminosäuren
Calcium	1,00	Lysin
Phosphor	0,70	Methionin
Natrium	0,24	Met+Cys
Magnesium	0,22	Threonin
Kalium	0,91	Tryptophan
Fattaäuran	F 0/ 1	Arginin
reusauren	[70]	Histidin
C 14:0	0,01	Valin
C 16:0	0,47	Isoleucin
C 16:1	0,01	Leucin
C 18:0	0,08	Phenylalanin
C 18:1	0,62	Phe+Tyr
C 18:2	1,80	Glycin
C 18:3	0,23	Glutaminsäure
C 20:0	0,01	Asparaginsäure
C 20:1	0,02	Prolin
C 20:5		Alanin
C 22:6		Serin

[%]	Vitamine	реі	r kg
1,00	Vitamin A	15.000	ΙE
0,30	Vitamin D ₃	1.000	IE
0,65	Vitamin E	110	mg
0,68	Vitamin K (als Menadion)	5	mg
0.25	Thiamin (B ₁)	18	mg
1.14	Riboflavin (B ₂)	23	mg
0.44	Pyridoxin (B ₆)	21	mg
0.88	Cobalamin (B ₁₂)	100	μg
0 76	Nicotinsäure	135	mg
1 30	Pantothensäure	43	mg
0.85	Folsäure	7	mg
1 43	Biotin	525	μg
0.80	Cholin-Cl	2.990	mg
3,90	Inositol	100	mg
1,61	Spurenelemente	реі	r kg
1,25	Eisen	179	mg
0,79	Mangan	69	mg
0.89	Zink	94	mg
-,	Kupfer	16	mg
	lod	2,2	mg
	Selen	0,3	mg
	Cobalt	2,1	mg

Futterzusammensetzung

absteigende Reihenfolge der Gruppen (FMV) Getreide und Getreidenebenprodukte, Ölsaatprodukte, Mineralstoffe, pflanzliche Öle, Vitamine, Spurenelemente.

* ME berechnet nach der Schätzformel für Schweine, Anlage 4 der Futtermittelverordnung

Hauptprodukte

V1530-0 Mehl, einfach vermahlen V1534-0 10 mm Pellets V1535-0 15 mm Pellets

Produktion und Vertrieb

ssniff Spezialdiäten GmbH Phone: +49-(0)2921-9658-0 Fax: +49-(0)2921-9658-40 E-Mail mail@ssniff.de www.ssniff.de

Energiedichte [MJ ME/kg] und Protein-/Energie-Verhältnis [g XP/MJ ME]

ssniff[®] EF R/M Kontrolle

Experimentalfuttermittel für Ratten und Mäuse

Beschreibung

Dieses Futtermittel basiert auf hoch gereinigten Ausgangserzeugnissen (purified diet) und ist daher für Studien vorgesehen, die eine besonders genaue Einstellung der Nährstoffkonzentrationen erfordern; dabei weist die Experimentaldiät eine hohe Nährstoffverfügbarkeit auf, sodass der Bedarf von Ratten und Mäusen im Erhaltungsstoffwechsel sowie im Wachstum in vollem Umfang gedeckt wird. Diese Futtermischung dient zugleich als Basis für nahezu sämtliche gereinigten bzw. halb-synthetischen ssniff[®] Diäten.

Zusammensetzung

Auf Anfrage

Hauptprodukte

E15000-00	Mehl, einfach vermahlen
E15000-04	10 mm Pellets

Produktion und Vertrieb

Cobalt

ssniff Spezialdiäten GmbH Phone: +49-(0)2921-9658-0 Fax: +49-(0)2921-9658-40 E-mail mail@ssniff.de www.ssniff.de

0,15 mg

Seite: 1

Nummer Lfd. Nummer Änderung 05.05.2009 13:07:04

10100000 100000 C 1000 Kontrolldiät Ratte/Maus | Control Diet Rats/Mice

Inhaltsstoff	Einheit	Bedarf	Gehalt	Differenz
Rohprotein / Crude Protein	mg/kg		176115,000	
Rohfett / Crude Fat	mg/kg	r-	50830,000	
Rohfaser / Crude Fibre	mg/kg		40450,000	
Rohasche / Crude Ash	mg/kg		54943,225	
Feuchtigkeit / Moisture	mg/kg	F	81735,625	
Disaccharide(s)	mg/kg	F	110960,500	
Polysaccharide(s)	mg/kg	F-	471700,000	
Umsetzb. Energie/Metab. Energy	kcal/kg	F-	3518,055	
Lysin / Lysine	mg/kg		17400,970	
Methionin / Methionine	mg/kg	F-	10688,000	
Cystin / Cystine	mg/kg	F	3196,180	
Threonin / Threonine	mg/kg	F	7154,170	
Tryptophan	mg/kg	F-	1976,960	
Arginin / Arginine	mg/kg	F-	9828,790	
Histidin / Histidine	mg/kg		5275,790	
Isoleucin / Isoleucine	mg/kg		7222,820	
Leucin / Leucine	mg/kg	ř	14762,770	
Phenylalanin / Phenylalanine	mg/kg		7171,970	
Valin / Valine	mg/kg	í -	3296,140	
Alanin / Alanine	mg/kg	i-	2528,000	
Asparaginsäure / Aspartic acid	mg/kg	j-	3583,140	
Glutaminsäure / Glutamic acid	mg/kg	j-	23674,970	
Glycin / Glycine	mg/kg	i-	3136,000	
Prolin / Proline	mg/kg	İ-	12762,980	
Serin / Serine	mg/kg	i	5267,800	
Tyrosin / Tyrosine	mg/kg	i-	9285,010	
Vitamin A	I.E./kg	r	15000,000	
Vitamin D3	I.E./kg	j-	500,000	
Vitamin E	mg/kg	j-	163,900	
Vitamin K3 als/as Menadion(e)	mg/kg	i	10,000	
Vitamin B1	mg/kg	İ-	20,040	
Vitamin B2	mg/kg	i-	20,322	
Vitamin B6	mg/kg	i-	15,034	
Vitamin B12	mg/kg	r-	0,030	
Nikotinsäure / Nicotinic acid	mg/kg	r-	50,170	
Pantothensre./Pantothenic acid	mg/kg	r-	50,106	
Folsäure / Folic acid	mg/kg	r-	10,00240	
Biotin	mg/kg		0,201	
Cholinchlorid/Choline chloride	mg/kg		1011,500	
P-Aminobenzoesre./Benzoic acid	mg/kg		100,000	
Inosit / Inositol	mg/kg		111,000	
Vitamin C	mg/kg		20,000	
Calcium	mg/kg		9310,506	
Ges.Phosphor / Phosphorus	mg/kg	F	7522,765	
Verd.Phosphor/Digest.Phosporus	mg/kg		7199,565	
Magnesium	mg/kg	[-	683,506	
Natrium / Sodium	mg/kg	ŕ-	2488,262	
Kalium / Potassium	mg/kg	ŕ-	7088,682	
Schwefel / Sulfur	mg/kg	ř-	2791,540	
Chlor / Chlorine	mg/kg	F-	3630,000	

				Seite: 2
Inhaltsstoff	Einheit	Bedarf	Gehalt	Differenz
Eisen / Iron	mg/kg		178,579	
Mangan / Manganese	mg/kg		100,888	
Zink / Zinc	mg/kg		29,299	
Kupfer / Copper	mg/kg		5,751	
Jod / lodine	mg/kg		0,514	
Molybdän / Molybdenum	mg/kg		0,198	
Fluor / Fluorine	mg/kg	r	4,170	
Selen / Selenium	mg/kg	r	0,334	
Kobalt / Cobalt	mg/kg	[0,147	
Caprinsäure C-10:0	mg/kg	[2,500	
Laurinsäure C-12:0	mg/kg		2,500	
Myristinsäue C-14:0	mg/kg		2,500	
Pentadecansäure C-15:0	mg/kg	٦۱	2,500	
Palmitinsäure C-16:0	mg/kg	۱	2700,000	
Palmitoleinsäure C-16:1	mg/kg	l	2,500	
Margarinsäure	mg/kg	I	2,500	
Stearinsäure C-18:0	mg/kg	[1250,000	
Ölsäure C-18:1	mg/kg		10950,000	
Linolsäure C-18:2	mg/kg	٦	35050,000	
Linolensäure C-18:3	mg/kg	٦	150,000	
Arachinsäure C-20:0	mg/kg]	250,000	
Eicosaensäure C-20:1	mg/kg	l	250,000	
Eicosadiensäure C-20:2	mg/kg		250,000	
Arachidonsäure C-20:4	mg/kg][2,500	
Eicosapentaensäure C-20:5	mg/kg]ا	2,500	
Behensäure C-22:0	mg/kg]ا	250,000	
Docosahexaensäure C-22:6	mg/kg][2,500	
Tricosansäure	mg/kg][2,500	
Nervonsäure C-24:1	mg/kg	[2,500	
Erucasäure C-22:1	mg/kg]	2,500	
Aluminium	mg/kg		3,706	
Volumen / Volume	kg [_	1000,000	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I-1. Interaction of genetic and environmental factors in the pathogenesis of IBD.7

Figure 1. Tissue pathology of WT and TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice on Chow diet and experimental	
diet	33
Figure 2. Body and organ weights of WT and TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice	34
Figure 3. Leukocyte counts in spleens and mesenteric lymph nodes.	35
Figure 4. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of proinflammatory cytokines	36
Figure 5. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of pattern recognition receptors	37
Figure 6. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of pattern recognition receptors	38
Figure 7. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of cell adhesion molecules and IP-10	39
Figure 8. Fluorescence microscopy of distal ileal tissues from TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice	40
Figure 9. Leukocyte counts in ileal tissues of WT and TNF ^{ARE/WT} mice	41
Figure 10. Flow cytometric analysis of IEL and LPL in WT and TNF ^{ARE/WT} mice.	42
Figure 11. Flow cytometric analysis of IEL and LPL in WT and TNF ^{ARE/WT} mice.	43
Figure 12. Flow cytometric analysis of MLNs from WT and TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice.	43
Figure 13. Tissue pathology of TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice after time-dependent transfer to experimental diet.	44
Figure 14. Tissue pathology of TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice after transfer to Chow diet	45
Figure 15. Tissue pathology of TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice being kept on diets with increasing Chow content.	48
Figure 16. Laser diffraction analysis of experimental (Exp), fine Chow and standard Chow diet.	49
Figure 17. Laser diffraction analysis of ileal contents from TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice being kept on experimental (Exp), fine Chow and standard Chow diet	50
Figure 18. Laser diffraction analysis of cecal contents from TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice being kept on experimental (Exp), fine Chow and standard Chow diet	50
Figure 19. Tissue pathology of TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice being kept on experimental (Exp), fine Chow and standard Chow diet	51

Figure 20. FT-IR analysis of cecal bacterial suspensions from TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice bei	ng
kept on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (4000 – 600 cm ⁻¹)	52
Figure 21. FT-IR analysis of cecal bacterial suspensions from TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice bei	ng
kept on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (1240-900 cm ⁻⁺)	53
Figure 22. FT-IR analysis of cecal bacterial suspensions from $TNF^{\Delta RE/WT}$ mice being the second state of the second state	ng
kept on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (1720-1480 cm ⁻⁺)	54
Figure 23. FT-IR analysis of cecal bacterial suspensions from $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WI}$ mice being the state of the s	ng
kept on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet (3000-2780 cm ⁻¹)	
Figure 24. Cell culture analysis of cecal lysates (CL) prepared from WT and TNF [™]	ARE/WI
mice being kept on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet	57
Figure 25. Coculture analysis of cecal lysates (CL) prepared from WT and TNF ^{∆AR}	E/WI
Thice being kept on experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet	
Figure 26. Endotoxin content in experimental diet (Exp) and Chow diet	60
Figure 27. Cell culture analysis of dietary suspensions (DS) from experimental die	t (DS
Exp), Chow diet (DS Chow) and autoclaved Chow diet (DS Chow (A)).	61
Figure 28. Tissue pathology of TNF ^{ΔARE/W1} mice being kept on experimental diet (E	Exp),
Chow diet and autoclaved Chow diet (Chow (A)).	62
Figure 29. Cell culture analysis of peptic-tryptic digested gluten (PT-gluten)	64
Figure 30. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of proinflammatory cytokines and	
pattern recognition receptors.	65
Figure 31. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of tight junction molecules.	66
Figure 32. Tissue pathology of TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice being kept on experimental diet (E	Exp),
gluten-fortified experimental diet (Glu) and Chow diet	67
Figure 33. Fluorescence microscopy of distal ileal tissues from TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice	68
Figure 34. Cell culture analysis of dietary suspensions (DS) from Chow diet (DS C	how)
and wheat depleted Chow diet (DS Chow (-W))	70
Figure 35. Tissue pathology of TNF ^{ΔARE/WT} mice being kept on Chow diet and whe	at
depleted Chow diet	71
Figure 36. Body and organ weights of IL-10 ^{-/-} mice	72
Figure 37. Tissue pathology and serum amyloid A (SAA) levels of IL-10 ^{-/-} mice	73
Figure 38. Body weight curves of Rag2 ^{-/-} mice	74

Figure 39. Organ weights of Rag2 ^{-/-} mice	.75
Figure 40. Tissue pathology in the ileum and colon of Rag2 ^{-/-} mice	.76
Figure 41. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of proinflammatory cytokines in the	
ileum and colon	.77
Figure 42. Serum amyloid A (SAA) levels of Rag2 ^{-/-} mice	78

LIST OF TABLES

Table M1. Diet description and information	24
Table M2. Primer sequences for real-time PCR	26
Table 1. Nutritional composition of Chow diet (Chow), experimental diet (Exp) and gluten-fortified experimental diet (Glu)	63
Table 2. Natural ingredients in standard Chow diet and wheat depleted Chow diet (Chow -W)	69

ABBREVIATIONS

5-ASA	Anti-inflammatory 5-aminosalicylic acid
APC	antigen presenting cell
ARE	TNF∆ARE/WT mouse
BM-DC	bone marrow-derived dendritic cell
CD	Crohn's disease
Chow	standard Chow diet
CL	cecal lysate
DC	dendritic cell
DS	dietary suspension
DSS	dextran sodium sulfate
ED	elemental diet
EEN	exclusive enteral nutrition
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EN	enteral nutrition
Exp	experimental diet
FT-IR	Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy
GALT	gut-associated lymphoid tissue
Glu	gluten-fortified experimental diet
GWAS	genome-wide association studies
H&E	hematoxylin and eosin
H&E	hematoxylin and eosin
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
IBD	inflammatory bowel disease
IBS	irritable bowel syndrome
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IEC	intestinal epithelial cell
IEL	intraepithelial lymphocyte
IFN-y	interferon-y
IL	interleukin
KLH	keyhole limpet hemocyanin
LBP	lipopolysaccharide binding protein
LPL	lamina propria lymphocyte
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MAdCAM-1	mucosal vascular addressin cell adhesion molecule-1
MLN	mesenteric lymph node

NF-ĸB	nuclear factor-кВ
NOD	nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
NSAID	nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug
OCLN	occluding
PAMP	pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PN	parenteral nutrition
PP	Peyer's patch
PPAR	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PRR	pattern recognition receptor
PUFA	polyunsaturated fatty acid
RAG	recombination activating gene
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SAA	serum amyloid A
SCFA	short-chain fatty acid
SPF	specific pathogen-free
TGF-β	transforming growth factor β
TLR	toll-like receptor
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
tTG	tissue transglutaminase
UC	ulcerative colitis
WHO	World Health Organization
WT	wild type mouse
ZO-1	zonula occludens-1

REFERENCES

- 1. Khor B, Gardet A, Xavier RJ. Genetics and pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2011 Jun 16;474:307-17.
- 2. Kaser A, Zeissig S, Blumberg RS. Inflammatory bowel disease. Annu Rev Immunol. 2010 Mar;28:573-621.
- 3. Xavier RJ, Podolsky DK. Unravelling the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2007 Jul 26;448:427-34.
- 4. Cosnes J, Gower-Rousseau C, Seksik P, Cortot A. Epidemiology and natural history of inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology. 2011 May;140:1785-94.
- 5. Hill DA, Artis D. Intestinal bacteria and the regulation of immune cell homeostasis. Annu Rev Immunol. 2010 Mar;28:623-67.
- 6. Elson CO, Cong Y, McCracken VJ, Dimmitt RA, Lorenz RG, Weaver CT. Experimental models of inflammatory bowel disease reveal innate, adaptive, and regulatory mechanisms of host dialogue with the microbiota. Immunol Rev. 2005 Aug;206:260-76.
- 7. Sartor RB. Microbial influences in inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology. 2008 Feb;134:577-94.
- 8. MacDonald TT, Monteleone I, Fantini MC, Monteleone G. Regulation of homeostasis and inflammation in the intestine. Gastroenterology. 2011 May;140:1768-75.
- 9. Franke A, McGovern DP, Barrett JC, Wang K, Radford-Smith GL, Ahmad T, Lees CW, Balschun T, Lee J, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis increases to 71 the number of confirmed Crohn's disease susceptibility loci. Nat Genet. 2010 Dec;42:1118-25.
- 10. Anderson CA, Boucher G, Lees CW, Franke A, D'Amato M, Taylor KD, Lee JC, Goyette P, Imielinski M, et al. Meta-analysis identifies 29 additional ulcerative colitis risk loci, increasing the number of confirmed associations to 47. Nat Genet. 2011 Mar;43:246-52.
- 11. Hugot JP, Chamaillard M, Zouali H, Lesage S, Cezard JP, Belaiche J, Almer S, Tysk C, O'Morain CA, et al. Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature. 2001 May 31;411:599-603.
- 12. Ogura Y, Bonen DK, Inohara N, Nicolae DL, Chen FF, Ramos R, Britton H, Moran T, Karaliuskas R, et al. A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature. 2001 May 31;411:603-6.
- 13. Fisher SA, Tremelling M, Anderson CA, Gwilliam R, Bumpstead S, Prescott NJ, Nimmo ER, Massey D, Berzuini C, et al. Genetic determinants of ulcerative colitis include the ECM1 locus and five loci implicated in Crohn's disease. Nat Genet. 2008 Jun;40:710-2.
- 14. Franke A, Balschun T, Karlsen TH, Hedderich J, May S, Lu T, Schuldt D, Nikolaus S, Rosenstiel P, et al. Replication of signals from recent studies of Crohn's disease identifies previously unknown disease loci for ulcerative colitis. Nat Genet. 2008 Jun;40:713-5.
- 15. Wang K, Baldassano R, Zhang H, Qu HQ, Imielinski M, Kugathasan S, Annese V, Dubinsky M, Rotter JI, et al. Comparative genetic analysis of inflammatory bowel disease and type 1 diabetes implicates multiple loci with opposite effects. Hum Mol Genet. 2010 May 15;19:2059-67.
- 16. Glocker EO, Kotlarz D, Boztug K, Gertz EM, Schaffer AA, Noyan F, Perro M, Diestelhorst J, Allroth A, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease and mutations affecting the interleukin-10 receptor. N Engl J Med. 2009 Nov 19;361:2033-45.
- 17. Monick MM, Powers LS, Walters K, Lovan N, Zhang M, Gerke A, Hansdottir S, Hunninghake GW. Identification of an autophagy defect in smokers' alveolar macrophages. J Immunol. 2010 Nov 1;185:5425-35.

- 18. Loftus EV, Jr. Clinical epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease: Incidence, prevalence, and environmental influences. Gastroenterology. 2004 May;126:1504-17.
- 19. Strachan DP. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. BMJ. 1989 Nov 18;299:1259-60.
- 20. Koloski NA, Bret L, Radford-Smith G. Hygiene hypothesis in inflammatory bowel disease: a critical review of the literature. World J Gastroenterol. 2008 Jan 14;14:165-73.
- 21. Castiglione F, Diaferia M, Morace F, Labianca O, Meucci C, Cuomo A, Panarese A, Romano M, Sorrentini I, et al. Risk factors for inflammatory bowel diseases according to the "hygiene hypothesis": a case-control, multi-centre, prospective study in Southern Italy. J Crohns Colitis. 2012 Apr;6:324-9.
- 22. Amre DK, D'Souza S, Morgan K, Seidman G, Lambrette P, Grimard G, Israel D, Mack D, Ghadirian P, et al. Imbalances in dietary consumption of fatty acids, vegetables, and fruits are associated with risk for Crohn's disease in children. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007 Sep;102:2016-25.
- 23. Maslowski KM, Mackay CR. Diet, gut microbiota and immune responses. Nat Immunol. 2011 Jan;12:5-9.
- 24. De Filippo C, Cavalieri D, Di Paola M, Ramazzotti M, Poullet JB, Massart S, Collini S, Pieraccini G, Lionetti P. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010 Aug 17;107:14691-6.
- 25. Turnbaugh PJ, Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, Knight R, Gordon JI. The effect of diet on the human gut microbiome: a metagenomic analysis in humanized gnotobiotic mice. Sci Transl Med. 2009 Nov 11;1:6ra14.
- 26. D'Souza S, Levy E, Mack D, Israel D, Lambrette P, Ghadirian P, Deslandres C, Morgan K, Seidman EG, Amre DK. Dietary patterns and risk for Crohn's disease in children. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2008 Mar;14:367-73.
- 27. Sakamoto N, Kono S, Wakai K, Fukuda Y, Satomi M, Shimoyama T, Inaba Y, Miyake Y, Sasaki S, et al. Dietary risk factors for inflammatory bowel disease: a multicenter case-control study in Japan. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2005 Feb;11:154-63.
- 28. Hou JK, Abraham B, El-Serag H. Dietary intake and risk of developing inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review of the literature. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011 Apr;106:563-73.
- 29. Shoda R, Matsueda K, Yamato S, Umeda N. Epidemiologic analysis of Crohn disease in Japan: increased dietary intake of n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids and animal protein relates to the increased incidence of Crohn disease in Japan. Am J Clin Nutr. 1996 May;63:741-5.
- 30. Yamamoto T, Nakahigashi M, Saniabadi AR. Review article: diet and inflammatory bowel disease--epidemiology and treatment. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2009 Jul 1;30:99-112.
- 31. Gil A. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammatory diseases. Biomed Pharmacother. 2002 Oct;56:388-96.
- 32. Shores DR, Binion DG, Freeman BA, Baker PR. New insights into the role of fatty acids in the pathogenesis and resolution of inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2011 Oct;17:2192-204.
- 33. Bassaganya-Riera J, Hontecillas R. CLA and n-3 PUFA differentially modulate clinical activity and colonic PPAR-responsive gene expression in a pig model of experimental IBD. Clin Nutr. 2006 Jun;25:454-65.
- 34. Roy N, Barnett M, Knoch B, Dommels Y, McNabb W. Nutrigenomics applied to an animal model of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: transcriptomic analysis of the effects of eicosapentaenoic acid- and arachidonic acid-enriched diets. Mutat Res. 2007 Sep 1;622:103-16.
- 35. Suzuki T, Hara H. Dietary fat and bile juice, but not obesity, are responsible for the increase in small intestinal permeability induced through the suppression of tight junction protein expression in LETO and OLETF rats. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2010;7:19.

- 36. Hudert CA, Weylandt KH, Lu Y, Wang J, Hong S, Dignass A, Serhan CN, Kang JX. Transgenic mice rich in endogenous omega-3 fatty acids are protected from colitis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Jul 25;103:11276-81.
- 37. Jantchou P, Morois S, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault MC, Carbonnel F. Animal protein intake and risk of inflammatory bowel disease: The E3N prospective study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010 Oct;105:2195-201.
- Geerling BJ, Dagnelie PC, Badart-Smook A, Russel MG, Stockbrugger RW, Brummer RJ. Diet as a risk factor for the development of ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2000 Apr;95:1008-13.
- 39. Cummings JH, Macfarlane GT. Role of intestinal bacteria in nutrient metabolism. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 1997 Nov-Dec;21:357-65.
- 40. Thangaraju M, Cresci GA, Liu K, Ananth S, Gnanaprakasam JP, Browning DD, Mellinger JD, Smith SB, Digby GJ, et al. GPR109A is a G-protein-coupled receptor for the bacterial fermentation product butyrate and functions as a tumor suppressor in colon. Cancer Res. 2009 Apr 1;69:2826-32.
- 41. Venkatraman A, Ramakrishna BS, Shaji RV, Kumar NS, Pulimood A, Patra S. Amelioration of dextran sulfate colitis by butyrate: role of heat shock protein 70 and NF-kappaB. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2003 Jul;285:G177-84.
- 42. Aoyagi Y, Nagata S, Kudo T, Fujii T, Wada M, Chiba Y, Ohtsuka Y, Yamashiro Y, Shimizu T, Ohkusa T. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma 2 mutation may cause a subset of ulcerative colitis. Pediatr Int. 2010 Oct;52:729-34.
- 43. Hontecillas R, Wannemeulher MJ, Zimmerman DR, Hutto DL, Wilson JH, Ahn DU, Bassaganya-Riera J. Nutritional regulation of porcine bacterial-induced colitis by conjugated linoleic acid. J Nutr. 2002 Jul;132:2019-27.
- 44. Bassaganya-Riera J, Reynolds K, Martino-Catt S, Cui Y, Hennighausen L, Gonzalez F, Rohrer J, Benninghoff AU, Hontecillas R. Activation of PPAR gamma and delta by conjugated linoleic acid mediates protection from experimental inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 2004 Sep;127:777-91.
- 45. Wohlfert EA, Nichols FC, Nevius E, Clark RB. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) and immunoregulation: enhancement of regulatory T cells through PPARgamma-dependent and -independent mechanisms. J Immunol. 2007 Apr 1;178:4129-35.
- 46. Evans NP, Misyak SA, Schmelz EM, Guri AJ, Hontecillas R, Bassaganya-Riera J. Conjugated linoleic acid ameliorates inflammation-induced colorectal cancer in mice through activation of PPARgamma. J Nutr. 2010 Mar;140:515-21.
- 47. Alonso L, Cuesta EP, Gilliland SE. Production of free conjugated linoleic acid by Lactobacillus acidophilus and Lactobacillus casei of human intestinal origin. J Dairy Sci. 2003 Jun;86:1941-6.
- 48. Dubuquoy L, Jansson EA, Deeb S, Rakotobe S, Karoui M, Colombel JF, Auwerx J, Pettersson S, Desreumaux P. Impaired expression of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma in ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology. 2003 May;124:1265-76.
- 49. Simmons JD, Mullighan C, Welsh KI, Jewell DP. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphism: association with Crohn's disease susceptibility. Gut. 2000 Aug;47:211-4.
- 50. Naderi N, Farnood A, Habibi M, Derakhshan F, Balaii H, Motahari Z, Agah MR, Firouzi F, Rad MG, et al. Association of vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms in Iranian patients with inflammatory bowel disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008 Dec;23:1816-22.
- 51. Jonuleit H, Schmitt E, Schuler G, Knop J, Enk AH. Induction of interleukin 10producing, nonproliferating CD4(+) T cells with regulatory properties by repetitive stimulation with allogeneic immature human dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2000 Nov 6;192:1213-22.
- 52. Gregori S, Casorati M, Amuchastegui S, Smiroldo S, Davalli AM, Adorini L. Regulatory T cells induced by 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and mycophenolate

mofetil treatment mediate transplantation tolerance. J Immunol. 2001 Aug 15;167:1945-53.

- 53. Cantorna MT. Vitamin D and its role in immunology: multiple sclerosis, and inflammatory bowel disease. Prog Biophys Mol Biol. 2006 Sep;92:60-4.
- 54. Froicu M, Weaver V, Wynn TA, McDowell MA, Welsh JE, Cantorna MT. A crucial role for the vitamin D receptor in experimental inflammatory bowel diseases. Mol Endocrinol. 2003 Dec;17:2386-92.
- 55. Hildebrandt MA, Hoffmann C, Sherrill-Mix SA, Keilbaugh SA, Hamady M, Chen YY, Knight R, Ahima RS, Bushman F, Wu GD. High-fat diet determines the composition of the murine gut microbiome independently of obesity. Gastroenterology. 2009 Nov;137:1716-24 e1-2.
- 56. Macfarlane S, Macfarlane GT, Cummings JH. Review article: prebiotics in the gastrointestinal tract. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006 Sep 1;24:701-14.
- 57. Koletzko S, Sherman P, Corey M, Griffiths A, Smith C. Role of infant feeding practices in development of Crohn's disease in childhood. BMJ. 1989 Jun 17;298:1617-8.
- 58. Corrao G, Tragnone A, Caprilli R, Trallori G, Papi C, Andreoli A, Di Paolo M, Riegler G, Rigo GP, et al. Risk of inflammatory bowel disease attributable to smoking, oral contraception and breastfeeding in Italy: a nationwide case-control study. Cooperative Investigators of the Italian Group for the Study of the Colon and the Rectum (GISC). Int J Epidemiol. 1998 Jun;27:397-404.
- 59. Thompson NP, Montgomery SM, Wadsworth ME, Pounder RE, Wakefield AJ. Early determinants of inflammatory bowel disease: use of two national longitudinal birth cohorts. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2000 Jan;12:25-30.
- 60. de Onis M, Blossner M. The World Health Organization Global Database on Child Growth and Malnutrition: methodology and applications. Int J Epidemiol. 2003 Aug;32:518-26.
- 61. Rigaud D, Angel LA, Cerf M, Carduner MJ, Melchior JC, Sautier C, Rene E, Apfelbaum M, Mignon M. Mechanisms of decreased food intake during weight loss in adult Crohn's disease patients without obvious malabsorption. Am J Clin Nutr. 1994 Nov;60:775-81.
- 62. Hodges P, Gee M, Grace M, Sherbaniuk RW, Wensel RH, Thomson AB. Proteinenergy intake and malnutrition in Crohn's disease. J Am Diet Assoc. 1984 Dec;84:1460-4.
- 63. Reimund JM, Arondel Y, Escalin G, Finck G, Baumann R, Duclos B. Immune activation and nutritional status in adult Crohn's disease patients. Dig Liver Dis. 2005 Jun;37:424-31.
- 64. Vaisman N, Dotan I, Halack A, Niv E. Malabsorption is a major contributor to underweight in Crohn's disease patients in remission. Nutrition. 2006 Sep;22:855-9.
- 65. Van Patter WN, Bargen JA, Dockerty MB, Feldman WH, Mayo CW, Waugh JM. Regional enteritis. Gastroenterology. 1954 Mar;26:347-450.
- 66. Lanfranchi GA, Brignola C, Campieri M, Bazzocchi G, Pasquali R, Bassein L, Labo G. Assessment of nutritional status in Crohn's disease in remission or low activity. Hepatogastroenterology. 1984 Jun;31:129-32.
- 67. Rocha R, Santana GO, Almeida N, Lyra AC. Analysis of fat and muscle mass in patients with inflammatory bowel disease during remission and active phase. Br J Nutr. 2009 Mar;101:676-9.
- 68. Driscoll RH, Jr., Rosenberg IH. Total parenteral nutrition in inflammatory bowel disease. Med Clin North Am. 1978 Jan;62:185-201.
- 69. Kulnigg S, Gasche C. Systematic review: managing anaemia in Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006 Dec;24:1507-23.
- 70. Mekhjian HS, Switz DM, Melnyk CS, Rankin GB, Brooks RK. Clinical features and natural history of Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. 1979 Oct;77:898-906.
- 71. Hanauer SB, Baert F. Medical therapy of inflammatory bowel disease. Med Clin North Am. 1994 Nov;78:1413-26.
- 72. Grisham MB. Oxidants and free radicals in inflammatory bowel disease. Lancet. 1994 Sep 24;344:859-61.
- 73. Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Reinisch W, Mantzaris GJ, Kornbluth A, Rachmilewitz D, Lichtiger S, D'Haens G, Diamond RH, et al. Infliximab, azathioprine, or combination therapy for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med. 2010 Apr 15;362:1383-95.
- 74. Ford AC, Khan KJ, Talley NJ, Moayyedi P. 5-aminosalicylates prevent relapse of Crohn's disease after surgically induced remission: systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011 Mar;106:413-20.
- 75. Hanauer S, Schwartz J, Robinson M, Roufail W, Arora S, Cello J, Safdi M. Mesalamine capsules for treatment of active ulcerative colitis: results of a controlled trial. Pentasa Study Group. Am J Gastroenterol. 1993 Aug;88:1188-97.
- 76. Kane SV. Systematic review: adherence issues in the treatment of ulcerative colitis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006 Mar 1;23:577-85.
- 77. Steinhart AH, Ewe K, Griffiths AM, Modigliani R, Thomsen OO. Corticosteroids for maintenance of remission in Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2003:CD000301.
- 78. Prefontaine E, Macdonald JK, Sutherland LR. Azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine for induction of remission in Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009:CD000545.
- 79. Prefontaine E, Sutherland LR, Macdonald JK, Cepoiu M. Azathioprine or 6mercaptopurine for maintenance of remission in Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009:CD000067.
- 80. Timmer A, McDonald JW, Macdonald JK. Azathioprine and 6-mercaptopurine for maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007:CD000478.
- 81. D'Haens G, Geboes K, Rutgeerts P. Endoscopic and histologic healing of Crohn's (ileo-) colitis with azathioprine. Gastrointest Endosc. 1999 Nov;50:667-71.
- 82. Mantzaris GJ, Christidou A, Sfakianakis M, Roussos A, Koilakou S, Petraki K, Polyzou P. Azathioprine is superior to budesonide in achieving and maintaining mucosal healing and histologic remission in steroid-dependent Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009 Mar;15:375-82.
- 83. Meyers S, Sachar DB. Medical management of Crohn's disease. Hepatogastroenterology. 1990 Feb;37:42-55.
- 84. Rutgeerts P, Van Assche G, Vermeire S, D'Haens G, Baert F, Noman M, Aerden I, De Hertogh G, Geboes K, et al. Ornidazole for prophylaxis of postoperative Crohn's disease recurrence: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Gastroenterology. 2005 Apr;128:856-61.
- 85. Taylor KM, Irving PM. Optimization of conventional therapy in patients with IBD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011 Nov;8:646-56.
- 86. MacDonald TT, Di Sabatino A, Gordon JN. Immunopathogenesis of Crohn's disease. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2005 Jul-Aug;29:S118-24; discussion S24-5, S84-8.
- 87. Di Sabatino A, Biancheri P, Rovedatti L, MacDonald TT, Corazza GR. New pathogenic paradigms in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2012 Feb;18:368-71.
- 88. Gordon JN, Di Sabatino A, Macdonald TT. The pathophysiologic rationale for biological therapies in inflammatory bowel disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2005 Jul;21:431-7.
- 89. Targan SR, Hanauer SB, van Deventer SJ, Mayer L, Present DH, Braakman T, DeWoody KL, Schaible TF, Rutgeerts PJ. A short-term study of chimeric monoclonal antibody cA2 to tumor necrosis factor alpha for Crohn's disease. Crohn's Disease cA2 Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1997 Oct 9;337:1029-35.
- 90. Di Sabatino A, Ciccocioppo R, Cinque B, Millimaggi D, Morera R, Ricevuti L, Cifone MG, Corazza GR. Defective mucosal T cell death is sustainably reverted by infliximab in a caspase dependent pathway in Crohn's disease. Gut. 2004 Jan;53:70-7.
- 91. Nesbitt A, Fossati G, Bergin M, Stephens P, Stephens S, Foulkes R, Brown D, Robinson M, Bourne T. Mechanism of action of certolizumab pegol (CDP870): in vitro

comparison with other anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha agents. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2007 Nov;13:1323-32.

- 92. Rutgeerts P, Van Assche G, Sandborn WJ, Wolf DC, Geboes K, Colombel JF, Reinisch W, Kumar A, Lazar A, et al. Adalimumab Induces and Maintains Mucosal Healing in Patients With Crohn's Disease: Data From the EXTEND Trial. Gastroenterology. 2012 Feb 8.
- 93. Sands BE, Anderson FH, Bernstein CN, Chey WY, Feagan BG, Fedorak RN, Kamm MA, Korzenik JR, Lashner BA, et al. Infliximab maintenance therapy for fistulizing Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med. 2004 Feb 26;350:876-85.
- 94. Rutgeerts P, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Reinisch W, Olson A, Johanns J, Travers S, Rachmilewitz D, Hanauer SB, et al. Infliximab for induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med. 2005 Dec 8;353:2462-76.
- 95. Waugh AW, Garg S, Matic K, Gramlich L, Wong C, Sadowski DC, Millan M, Bailey R, Todoruk D, et al. Maintenance of clinical benefit in Crohn's disease patients after discontinuation of infliximab: long-term follow-up of a single centre cohort. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2010 Nov;32:1129-34.
- 96. Peyrin-Biroulet L. Anti-TNF therapy in inflammatory bowel diseases: a huge review. Minerva Gastroenterol Dietol. 2010 Jun;56:233-43.
- 97. D'Haens GR, Panaccione R, Higgins PD, Vermeire S, Gassull M, Chowers Y, Hanauer SB, Herfarth H, Hommes DW, et al. The London Position Statement of the World Congress of Gastroenterology on Biological Therapy for IBD with the European Crohn's and Colitis Organization: when to start, when to stop, which drug to choose, and how to predict response? Am J Gastroenterol. 2011 Feb;106:199-212; guiz 3.
- 98. Lochs H, Dejong C, Hammarqvist F, Hebuterne X, Leon-Sanz M, Schutz T, van Gemert W, van Gossum A, Valentini L, et al. ESPEN Guidelines on Enteral Nutrition: Gastroenterology. Clin Nutr. 2006 Apr;25:260-74.
- 99. Dupont B, Dupont C, Justum AM, Piquet MA, Reimund JM. Enteral nutrition in adult Crohn's disease: present status and perspectives. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2008 Aug;52:875-84.
- 100. Day AS, Whitten KE, Sidler M, Lemberg DA. Systematic review: nutritional therapy in paediatric Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008 Feb 15;27:293-307.
- 101. El-Matary W. Enteral nutrition as a primary therapy of Crohn's disease: the pediatric perspective. Nutr Clin Pract. 2009 Feb-Mar;24:91-7.
- 102. Griffiths AM. Enteral nutrition in the management of Crohn's disease. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2005 Jul-Aug;29:S108-12; discussion S12-7, S84-8.
- 103. Smith PA. Nutritional therapy for active Crohn's disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2008 Jul 21;14:4420-3.
- 104. Verma S, Holdsworth CD, Giaffer MH. Does adjuvant nutritional support diminish steroid dependency in Crohn disease? Scand J Gastroenterol. 2001 Apr;36:383-8.
- 105. Yamamoto T, Nakahigashi M, Saniabadi AR, Iwata T, Maruyama Y, Umegae S, Matsumoto K. Impacts of long-term enteral nutrition on clinical and endoscopic disease activities and mucosal cytokines during remission in patients with Crohn's disease: a prospective study. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2007 Dec;13:1493-501.
- 106. Takagi S, Utsunomiya K, Kuriyama S, Yokoyama H, Takahashi S, Iwabuchi M, Takahashi H, Kinouchi Y, Hiwatashi N, et al. Effectiveness of an 'half elemental diet' as maintenance therapy for Crohn's disease: A randomized-controlled trial. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006 Nov 1;24:1333-40.
- 107. Yamamoto T, Nakahigashi M, Umegae S, Kitagawa T, Matsumoto K. Impact of longterm enteral nutrition on clinical and endoscopic recurrence after resection for Crohn's disease: A prospective, non-randomized, parallel, controlled study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007 Jan 1;25:67-72.
- 108. Esaki M, Matsumoto T, Hizawa K, Nakamura S, Jo Y, Mibu R, Iida M. Preventive effect of nutritional therapy against postoperative recurrence of Crohn disease, with reference to findings determined by intra-operative enteroscopy. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2005 Dec;40:1431-7.

- 109. Ikeuchi H, Yamamura T, Nakano H, Kosaka T, Shimoyama T, Fukuda Y. Efficacy of nutritional therapy for perforating and non-perforating Crohn's disease. Hepatogastroenterology. 2004 Jul-Aug;51:1050-2.
- 110. Berni Canani R, Terrin G, Borrelli O, Romano MT, Manguso F, Coruzzo A, D'Armiento F, Romeo EF, Cucchiara S. Short- and long-term therapeutic efficacy of nutritional therapy and corticosteroids in paediatric Crohn's disease. Dig Liver Dis. 2006 Jun;38:381-7.
- 111. Klaassen J, Zapata R, Mella JG, Aguayo G, Alvarado D, Espinosa O, Maiz A, Zuniga A, Quintana C. [Enteral nutrition in severe ulcerative colitis. Digestive tolerance and nutritional efficiency]. Rev Med Chil. 1998 Aug;126:899-904.
- 112. Hartman C, Eliakim R, Shamir R. Nutritional status and nutritional therapy in inflammatory bowel diseases. World J Gastroenterol. 2009 Jun 7;15:2570-8.
- 113. Dudrick SJ, Wilmore DW, Vars HM, Rhoads JE. Can intravenous feeding as the sole means of nutrition support growth in the child and restore weight loss in an adult? An affirmative answer. Ann Surg. 1969 Jun;169:974-84.
- 114. Mullen JL, Hargrove WC, Dudrick SJ, Fitts WT, Jr., Rosato EF. Ten years experience with intravenous hyperalimentation and inflammatory bowel disease. Ann Surg. 1978 May;187:523-9.
- 115. Scolapio JS. The role of total parenteral nutrition in the management of patients with acute attacks of inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Gastroenterol. 1999 Oct;29:223-4.
- 116. Elson CO, Layden TJ, Nemchausky BA, Rosenberg JL, Rosenberg IH. An evaluation of total parenteral nutrition in the management of inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Dis Sci. 1980 Jan;25:42-8.
- 117. Yao GX, Wang XR, Jiang ZM, Zhang SY, Ni AP. Role of perioperative parenteral nutrition in severely malnourished patients with Crohn's disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2005 Sep 28;11:5732-4.
- 118. Shiloni E, Coronado E, Freund HR. Role of total parenteral nutrition in the treatment of Crohn's disease. Am J Surg. 1989 Jan;157:180-5.
- 119. Bannerjee K, Camacho-Hubner C, Babinska K, Dryhurst KM, Edwards R, Savage MO, Sanderson IR, Croft NM. Anti-inflammatory and growth-stimulating effects precede nutritional restitution during enteral feeding in Crohn disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2004 Mar;38:270-5.
- 120. Fell JM. Control of systemic and local inflammation with transforming growth factor beta containing formulas. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2005 Jul-Aug;29:S126-8; discussion S9-33, S84-8.
- 121. Royall D, Greenberg GR, Allard JP, Baker JP, Jeejeebhoy KN. Total enteral nutrition support improves body composition of patients with active Crohn's disease. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 1995 Mar-Apr;19:95-9.
- 122. Zachos M, Tondeur M, Griffiths AM. Enteral nutritional therapy for induction of remission in Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007:CD000542.
- 123. Zachos M, Tondeur M, Griffiths AM. Enteral nutritional therapy for inducing remission of Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2001:CD000542.
- 124. Messori A, Trallori G, D'Albasio G, Milla M, Vannozzi G, Pacini F. Defined-formula diets versus steroids in the treatment of active Crohn's disease: a meta-analysis. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1996 Mar;31:267-72.
- 125. Fernandez-Banares F, Cabre E, Gonzalez-Huix F, Gassull MA. Enteral nutrition as primary therapy in Crohn's disease. Gut. 1994 Jan;35:S55-9.
- 126. Heuschkel RB, Menache CC, Megerian JT, Baird AE. Enteral nutrition and corticosteroids in the treatment of acute Crohn's disease in children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2000 Jul;31:8-15.
- 127. Dziechciarz P, Horvath A, Shamir R, Szajewska H. Meta-analysis: enteral nutrition in active Crohn's disease in children. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007 Sep 15;26:795-806.
- 128. Travis SP, Stange EF, Lemann M, Oresland T, Chowers Y, Forbes A, D'Haens G, Kitis G, Cortot A, et al. European evidence based consensus on the diagnosis and

management of Crohn's disease: current management. Gut. 2006 Mar;55 Suppl 1:i16-35.

- 129. Johnson T, Macdonald S, Hill SM, Thomas A, Murphy MS. Treatment of active Crohn's disease in children using partial enteral nutrition with liquid formula: a randomised controlled trial. Gut. 2006 Mar;55:356-61.
- 130. Knight C, El-Matary W, Spray C, Sandhu BK. Long-term outcome of nutritional therapy in paediatric Crohn's disease. Clin Nutr. 2005 Oct;24:775-9.
- 131. Day AS, Whitten KE, Lemberg DA, Clarkson C, Vitug-Sales M, Jackson R, Bohane TD. Exclusive enteral feeding as primary therapy for Crohn's disease in Australian children and adolescents: a feasible and effective approach. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006 Oct;21:1609-14.
- 132. Afzal NA, Davies S, Paintin M, Arnaud-Battandier F, Walker-Smith JA, Murch S, Heuschkel R, Fell J. Colonic Crohn's disease in children does not respond well to treatment with enteral nutrition if the ileum is not involved. Dig Dis Sci. 2005 Aug;50:1471-5.
- 133. Borrelli O, Cordischi L, Cirulli M, Paganelli M, Labalestra V, Uccini S, Russo PM, Cucchiara S. Polymeric diet alone versus corticosteroids in the treatment of active pediatric Crohn's disease: a randomized controlled open-label trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006 Jun;4:744-53.
- 134. Afzal NA, Addai S, Fagbemi A, Murch S, Thomson M, Heuschkel R. Refeeding syndrome with enteral nutrition in children: a case report, literature review and clinical guidelines. Clin Nutr. 2002 Dec;21:515-20.
- 135. Yamamoto T, Nakahigashi M, Umegae S, Kitagawa T, Matsumoto K. Impact of elemental diet on mucosal inflammation in patients with active Crohn's disease: cytokine production and endoscopic and histological findings. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2005 Jun;11:580-8.
- 136. Fell JM, Paintin M, Arnaud-Battandier F, Beattie RM, Hollis A, Kitching P, Donnet-Hughes A, MacDonald TT, Walker-Smith JA. Mucosal healing and a fall in mucosal pro-inflammatory cytokine mRNA induced by a specific oral polymeric diet in paediatric Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2000 Mar;14:281-9.
- 137. Rutgeerts P, Vermeire S, Van Assche G. Mucosal healing in inflammatory bowel disease: impossible ideal or therapeutic target? Gut. 2007 Apr;56:453-5.
- 138. Green PH, Cellier C. Celiac disease. N Engl J Med. 2007 Oct 25;357:1731-43.
- 139. Sollid LM, Markussen G, Ek J, Gjerde H, Vartdal F, Thorsby E. Evidence for a primary association of celiac disease to a particular HLA-DQ alpha/beta heterodimer. J Exp Med. 1989 Jan 1;169:345-50.
- 140. Marsh MN. Gluten, major histocompatibility complex, and the small intestine. A molecular and immunobiologic approach to the spectrum of gluten sensitivity ('celiac sprue'). Gastroenterology. 1992 Jan;102:330-54.
- 141. Cobden I, Rothwell J, Axon AT. Intestinal permeability and screening tests for coeliac disease. Gut. 1980 Jun;21:512-8.
- 142. Biesiekierski JR, Newnham ED, Irving PM, Barrett JS, Haines M, Doecke JD, Shepherd SJ, Muir JG, Gibson PR. Gluten causes gastrointestinal symptoms in subjects without celiac disease: a double-blind randomized placebo-controlled trial. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011 Mar;106:508-14; quiz 15.
- 143. Fan X, Sellin JH. Review article: Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth, bile acid malabsorption and gluten intolerance as possible causes of chronic watery diarrhoea. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2009 May 15;29:1069-77.
- 144. Wahnschaffe U, Schulzke JD, Zeitz M, Ullrich R. Predictors of clinical response to gluten-free diet in patients diagnosed with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007 Jul;5:844-50; quiz 769.
- 145. Wahnschaffe U, Stockmann M, Daum S, Ullrich R, Riecken EO, Schulzke JD. Intestinal antibodies against gliadin, tissue-transglutaminase, beta-lactoglobulin, and ovalbumin in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1998 Nov 17;859:280-4.

- 146. Rumessen JJ, Gudmand-Hoyer E. Fructans of chicory: intestinal transport and fermentation of different chain lengths and relation to fructose and sorbitol malabsorption. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998 Aug;68:357-64.
- 147. Shepherd SJ, Parker FC, Muir JG, Gibson PR. Dietary triggers of abdominal symptoms in patients with irritable bowel syndrome: randomized placebo-controlled evidence. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008 Jul;6:765-71.
- 148. Kontoyiannis D, Pasparakis M, Pizarro TT, Cominelli F, Kollias G. Impaired on/off regulation of TNF biosynthesis in mice lacking TNF AU-rich elements: implications for joint and gut-associated immunopathologies. Immunity. 1999 Mar;10:387-98.
- 149. Apostolaki M, Manoloukos M, Roulis M, Wurbel MA, Muller W, Papadakis KA, Kontoyiannis DL, Malissen B, Kollias G. Role of beta7 integrin and the chemokine/chemokine receptor pair CCL25/CCR9 in modeled TNF-dependent Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. 2008 Jun;134:2025-35.
- 150. Roulis M, Armaka M, Manoloukos M, Apostolaki M, Kollias G. Intestinal epithelial cells as producers but not targets of chronic TNF suffice to cause murine Crohn-like pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011 Mar 29;108:5396-401.
- 151. Kontoyiannis D, Boulougouris G, Manoloukos M, Armaka M, Apostolaki M, Pizarro T, Kotlyarov A, Forster I, Flavell R, et al. Genetic dissection of the cellular pathways and signaling mechanisms in modeled tumor necrosis factor-induced Crohn's-like inflammatory bowel disease. J Exp Med. 2002 Dec 16;196:1563-74.
- 152. Groux H, O'Garra A, Bigler M, Rouleau M, Antonenko S, de Vries JE, Roncarolo MG. A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. Nature. 1997 Oct 16;389:737-42.
- 153. Kuhn R, Lohler J, Rennick D, Rajewsky K, Muller W. Interleukin-10-deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. Cell. 1993 Oct 22;75:263-74.
- 154. Berg DJ, Davidson N, Kuhn R, Muller W, Menon S, Holland G, Thompson-Snipes L, Leach MW, Rennick D. Enterocolitis and colon cancer in interleukin-10-deficient mice are associated with aberrant cytokine production and CD4(+) TH1-like responses. J Clin Invest. 1996 Aug 15;98:1010-20.
- 155. Powrie F, Leach MW, Mauze S, Menon S, Caddle LB, Coffman RL. Inhibition of Th1 responses prevents inflammatory bowel disease in scid mice reconstituted with CD45RBhi CD4+ T cells. Immunity. 1994 Oct;1:553-62.
- 156. Powrie F, Leach MW, Mauze S, Caddle LB, Coffman RL. Phenotypically distinct subsets of CD4+ T cells induce or protect from chronic intestinal inflammation in C. B-17 scid mice. Int Immunol. 1993 Nov;5:1461-71.
- 157. Leach MW, Bean AG, Mauze S, Coffman RL, Powrie F. Inflammatory bowel disease in C.B-17 scid mice reconstituted with the CD45RBhigh subset of CD4+ T cells. Am J Pathol. 1996 May;148:1503-15.
- 158. Read S, Malmstrom V, Powrie F. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 plays an essential role in the function of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory cells that control intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med. 2000 Jul 17;192:295-302.
- 159. Ostanin DV, Pavlick KP, Bharwani S, D'Souza D, Furr KL, Brown CM, Grisham MB. T cell-induced inflammation of the small and large intestine in immunodeficient mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2006 Jan;290:G109-19.
- 160. Menezes JS, Andrade MC, Senra B, Rodrigues VS, Vaz NM, Faria AM. Immunological activities are modulated by enteral administration of an elemental diet in mice. Clin Nutr. 2006 Aug;25:643-52.
- 161. Shou J, Redmond HP, Leon P, Hofmann KP, Daly JM. Elemental diet alters macrophage function in mice. J Surg Res. 1991 Sep;51:192-6.
- 162. Tanaka S, Miura S, Kimura H, Ohkubo N, Tsuzuki Y, Fukumura D, Serizawa H, Kurose I, Mori M, Ishii H. Amelioration of chronic inflammation by ingestion of elemental diet in a rat model of granulomatous enteritis. Dig Dis Sci. 1997 Feb;42:408-19.
- 163. Mane J, Pedrosa E, Loren V, Ojanguren I, Fluvia L, Cabre E, Rogler G, Gassull MA. Partial replacement of dietary (n-6) fatty acids with medium-chain triglycerides

decreases the incidence of spontaneous colitis in interleukin-10-deficient mice. J Nutr. 2009 Mar;139:603-10.

- 164. Kajiura T, Takeda T, Sakata S, Sakamoto M, Hashimoto M, Suzuki H, Suzuki M, Benno Y. Change of intestinal microbiota with elemental diet and its impact on therapeutic effects in a murine model of chronic colitis. Dig Dis Sci. 2009 Sep;54:1892-900.
- 165. Kishi D, Takahashi I, Kai Y, Tamagawa H, Iijima H, Obunai S, Nezu R, Ito T, Matsuda H, Kiyono H. Alteration of V beta usage and cytokine production of CD4+ TCR beta beta homodimer T cells by elimination of Bacteroides vulgatus prevents colitis in TCR alpha-chain-deficient mice. J Immunol. 2000 Nov 15;165:5891-9.
- 166. Katakura K, Lee J, Rachmilewitz D, Li G, Eckmann L, Raz E. Toll-like receptor 9induced type I IFN protects mice from experimental colitis. J Clin Invest. 2005 Mar;115:695-702.
- 167. Cong Y, Brandwein SL, McCabe RP, Lazenby A, Birkenmeier EH, Sundberg JP, Elson CO. CD4+ T cells reactive to enteric bacterial antigens in spontaneously colitic C3H/HeJBir mice: increased T helper cell type 1 response and ability to transfer disease. J Exp Med. 1998 Mar 16;187:855-64.
- 168. Albright CA, Sartor RB, Tonkonogy SL. Endogenous antigen presenting cell-derived IL-10 inhibits T lymphocyte responses to commensal enteric bacteria. Immunol Lett. 2009 Mar 24;123:77-87.
- 169. Frazer AC, Fletcher RF, Ross CA, Shaw B, Sammons HG, Schneider R. Gluteninduced enteropathy: the effect of partially digested gluten. Lancet. 1959 Sep 5;2:252-5.
- 170. Lutz MB, Kukutsch N, Ogilvie AL, Rossner S, Koch F, Romani N, Schuler G. An advanced culture method for generating large quantities of highly pure dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow. J Immunol Methods. 1999 Feb 1;223:77-92.
- 171. Fernandez-Banares F, Cabre E, Esteve-Comas M, Gassull MA. How effective is enteral nutrition in inducing clinical remission in active Crohn's disease? A metaanalysis of the randomized clinical trials. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 1995 Sep-Oct;19:356-64.
- 172. Scholz D. The role of nutrition in the etiology of inflammatory bowel disease. Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care. 2011 Oct;41:248-53.
- 173. Demetriou AA. Comparison of enteral nutrition and drug treatment in active Crohn's disease: results of the European Cooperative Crohn's Disease Study IV. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 1992 Jan-Feb;16:84-5.
- 174. Nolte MA, Hamann A, Kraal G, Mebius RE. The strict regulation of lymphocyte migration to splenic white pulp does not involve common homing receptors. Immunology. 2002 Jul;106:299-307.
- 175. Balogh P, Horvath G, Szakal AK. Immunoarchitecture of distinct reticular fibroblastic domains in the white pulp of mouse spleen. J Histochem Cytochem. 2004 Oct;52:1287-98.
- 176. Li P, Schwarz EM. The TNF-alpha transgenic mouse model of inflammatory arthritis. Springer Semin Immunopathol. 2003 Aug;25:19-33.
- 177. Armaka M, Apostolaki M, Jacques P, Kontoyiannis DL, Elewaut D, Kollias G. Mesenchymal cell targeting by TNF as a common pathogenic principle in chronic inflammatory joint and intestinal diseases. J Exp Med. 2008 Feb 18;205:331-7.
- 178. Koboziev I, Karlsson F, Grisham MB. Gut-associated lymphoid tissue, T cell trafficking, and chronic intestinal inflammation. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010 Oct;1207 Suppl 1:E86-93.
- 179. Weaver CT, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Harrington LE. IL-17 family cytokines and the expanding diversity of effector T cell lineages. Annu Rev Immunol. 2007;25:821-52.
- 180. Yen D, Cheung J, Scheerens H, Poulet F, McClanahan T, McKenzie B, Kleinschek MA, Owyang A, Mattson J, et al. IL-23 is essential for T cell-mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. J Clin Invest. 2006 May;116:1310-6.
- 181. Coombes JL, Powrie F. Dendritic cells in intestinal immune regulation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008 Jun;8:435-46.

- 182. Powrie F. T cells in inflammatory bowel disease: protective and pathogenic roles. Immunity. 1995 Aug;3:171-4.
- 183. Powrie F, Read S, Mottet C, Uhlig H, Maloy K. Control of immune pathology by regulatory T cells. Novartis Found Symp. 2003;252:92-8; discussion 8-105, 6-14.
- 184. Baur P, Martin FP, Gruber L, Bosco N, Brahmbhatt V, Collino S, Guy P, Montoliu I, Rozman J, et al. Metabolic phenotyping of the Crohn's disease-like IBD etiopathology in the TNF(DeltaARE/WT) mouse model. J Proteome Res. 2011 Dec 2;10:5523-35.
- 185. Sartor RB. Mechanisms of disease: pathogenesis of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006 Jul;3:390-407.
- 186. Savage DC, McAllister JS. Cecal enlargement and microbial flora in suckling mice given antibacterial drugs. Infect Immun. 1971 Feb;3:342-9.
- 187. Guarner F, Malagelada JR. Gut flora in health and disease. Lancet. 2003 Feb 8;361:512-9.
- 188. Loeschke K, Gordon HA. Water movement across the cecal wall of the germfree rat. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1970 Apr;133:1217-22.
- 189. Savage DC, Dubos R. Alterations in the mouse cecum and its flora produced by antibacterial drugs. J Exp Med. 1968 Jul 1;128:97-110.
- 190. Schreiner J, Weber M, Loeschke K. Sodium chloride transport of normal and dietary enlarged rat cecum in vitro. Digestion. 1998 Nov-Dec;59:676-82.
- 191. Meynell GG. Antibacterial mechanisms of the mouse gut. II. The role of Eh and volatile fatty acids in the normal gut. Br J Exp Pathol. 1963 Apr;44:209-19.
- 192. Beattie RM, Schiffrin EJ, Donnet-Hughes A, Huggett AC, Domizio P, MacDonald TT, Walker-Smith JA. Polymeric nutrition as the primary therapy in children with small bowel Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 1994 Dec;8:609-15.
- 193. Gayer CP, Basson MD. The effects of mechanical forces on intestinal physiology and pathology. Cell Signal. 2009 Aug;21:1237-44.
- 194. Kellow JE, Phillips SF. Altered small bowel motility in irritable bowel syndrome is correlated with symptoms. Gastroenterology. 1987 Jun;92:1885-93.
- 195. Alizadeh H, Weems WA, Castro GA. Long-term influence of enteric infection on jejunal propulsion in guinea pigs. Gastroenterology. 1989 Dec;97:1461-8.
- 196. Santos C, Fraga ME, Kozakiewicz Z, Lima N. Fourier transform infrared as a powerful technique for the identification and characterization of filamentous fungi and yeasts. Res Microbiol. 2010 Mar;161:168-75.
- 197. Alvarez-Ordonez A, Mouwen DJ, Lopez M, Prieto M. Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy as a tool to characterize molecular composition and stress response in foodborne pathogenic bacteria. J Microbiol Methods. 2011 Mar;84:369-78.
- 198. Kim SC, Tonkonogy SL, Albright CA, Tsang J, Balish EJ, Braun J, Huycke MM, Sartor RB. Variable phenotypes of enterocolitis in interleukin 10-deficient mice monoassociated with two different commensal bacteria. Gastroenterology. 2005 Apr;128:891-906.
- 199. Strober W, Fuss IJ, Blumberg RS. The immunology of mucosal models of inflammation. Annu Rev Immunol. 2002;20:495-549.
- 200. Werner T, Wagner SJ, Martinez I, Walter J, Chang JS, Clavel T, Kisling S, Schuemann K, Haller D. Depletion of luminal iron alters the gut microbiota and prevents Crohn's disease-like ileitis. Gut. 2011 Mar;60:325-33.
- 201. Reliene R, Schiestl RH. Differences in animal housing facilities and diet may affect study outcomes-a plea for inclusion of such information in publications. DNA Repair (Amst). 2006 Jun 10;5:651-3.
- 202. Pietzak M. Celiac disease, wheat allergy, and gluten sensitivity: when gluten free is not a fad. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2012 Jan;36:68S-75S.
- 203. Sollid LM, Thorsby E. HLA susceptibility genes in celiac disease: genetic mapping and role in pathogenesis. Gastroenterology. 1993 Sep;105:910-22.
- 204. Schuppan D. Current concepts of celiac disease pathogenesis. Gastroenterology. 2000 Jul;119:234-42.
- 205. Madara JL, Trier JS. Structural abnormalities of jejunal epithelial cell membranes in celiac sprue. Lab Invest. 1980 Sep;43:254-61.

- 206. Schulzke JD, Bentzel CJ, Schulzke I, Riecken EO, Fromm M. Epithelial tight junction structure in the jejunum of children with acute and treated celiac sprue. Pediatr Res. 1998 Apr;43:435-41.
- 207. Verdu EF, Armstrong D, Murray JA. Between celiac disease and irritable bowel syndrome: the "no man's land" of gluten sensitivity. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009 Jun;104:1587-94.
- 208. Newnham ED. Does gluten cause gastrointestinal symptoms in subjects without coeliac disease? J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011 Apr;26 Suppl 3:132-4.
- 209. Drago S, El Asmar R, Di Pierro M, Grazia Clemente M, Tripathi A, Sapone A, Thakar M, Iacono G, Carroccio A, et al. Gliadin, zonulin and gut permeability: Effects on celiac and non-celiac intestinal mucosa and intestinal cell lines. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2006 Apr;41:408-19.
- 210. Fasano A, Berti I, Gerarduzzi T, Not T, Colletti RB, Drago S, Elitsur Y, Green PH, Guandalini S, et al. Prevalence of celiac disease in at-risk and not-at-risk groups in the United States: a large multicenter study. Arch Intern Med. 2003 Feb 10;163:286-92.
- 211. Leach L, Firth JA. Structure and permeability of human placental microvasculature. Microsc Res Tech. 1997 Jul 1-15;38:137-44.
- 212. Madsen KL, Lewis SA, Tavernini MM, Hibbard J, Fedorak RN. Interleukin 10 prevents cytokine-induced disruption of T84 monolayer barrier integrity and limits chloride secretion. Gastroenterology. 1997 Jul;113:151-9.
- 213. Tollefsen S, Arentz-Hansen H, Fleckenstein B, Molberg O, Raki M, Kwok WW, Jung G, Lundin KE, Sollid LM. HLA-DQ2 and -DQ8 signatures of gluten T cell epitopes in celiac disease. J Clin Invest. 2006 Aug;116:2226-36.
- 214. Maiuri L, Ciacci C, Ricciardelli I, Vacca L, Raia V, Auricchio S, Picard J, Osman M, Quaratino S, Londei M. Association between innate response to gliadin and activation of pathogenic T cells in coeliac disease. Lancet. 2003 Jul 5;362:30-7.
- 215. Arentz-Hansen H, Korner R, Molberg O, Quarsten H, Vader W, Kooy YM, Lundin KE, Koning F, Roepstorff P, et al. The intestinal T cell response to alpha-gliadin in adult celiac disease is focused on a single deamidated glutamine targeted by tissue transglutaminase. J Exp Med. 2000 Feb 21;191:603-12.
- 216. Anderson RP, Degano P, Godkin AJ, Jewell DP, Hill AV. In vivo antigen challenge in celiac disease identifies a single transglutaminase-modified peptide as the dominant A-gliadin T-cell epitope. Nat Med. 2000 Mar;6:337-42.
- 217. Meresse B, Chen Z, Ciszewski C, Tretiakova M, Bhagat G, Krausz TN, Raulet DH, Lanier LL, Groh V, et al. Coordinated induction by IL15 of a TCR-independent NKG2D signaling pathway converts CTL into lymphokine-activated killer cells in celiac disease. Immunity. 2004 Sep;21:357-66.
- 218. Rossi M, Schwartz KB. Editorial: Celiac disease and intestinal bacteria: not only gluten? J Leukoc Biol. 2010 May;87:749-51.
- 219. Natividad JM, Huang X, Slack E, Jury J, Sanz Y, David C, Denou E, Yang P, Murray J, et al. Host responses to intestinal microbial antigens in gluten-sensitive mice. PLoS One. 2009;4:e6472.
- 220. Tjon JM, van Bergen J, Koning F. Celiac disease: how complicated can it get? Immunogenetics. 2010 Oct;62:641-51.
- 221. Dieleman LA, Arends A, Tonkonogy SL, Goerres MS, Craft DW, Grenther W, Sellon RK, Balish E, Sartor RB. Helicobacter hepaticus does not induce or potentiate colitis in interleukin-10-deficient mice. Infect Immun. 2000 Sep;68:5107-13.
- 222. Kullberg MC, Ward JM, Gorelick PL, Caspar P, Hieny S, Cheever A, Jankovic D, Sher A. Helicobacter hepaticus triggers colitis in specific-pathogen-free interleukin-10 (IL-10)-deficient mice through an IL-12- and gamma interferon-dependent mechanism. Infect Immun. 1998 Nov;66:5157-66.
- 223. Madsen KL, Malfair D, Gray D, Doyle JS, Jewell LD, Fedorak RN. Interleukin-10 gene-deficient mice develop a primary intestinal permeability defect in response to enteric microflora. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 1999 Nov;5:262-70.

- 224. Ostanin DV, Bao J, Koboziev I, Gray L, Robinson-Jackson SA, Kosloski-Davidson M, Price VH, Grisham MB. T cell transfer model of chronic colitis: concepts, considerations, and tricks of the trade. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2009 Feb;296:G135-46.
- 225. Coombes JL, Robinson NJ, Maloy KJ, Uhlig HH, Powrie F. Regulatory T cells and intestinal homeostasis. Immunol Rev. 2005 Apr;204:184-94.
- 226. Strauch UG, Obermeier F, Grunwald N, Gurster S, Dunger N, Schultz M, Griese DP, Mahler M, Scholmerich J, Rath HC. Influence of intestinal bacteria on induction of regulatory T cells: lessons from a transfer model of colitis. Gut. 2005 Nov;54:1546-52.
- 227. Leach ST, Mitchell HM, Eng WR, Zhang L, Day AS. Sustained modulation of intestinal bacteria by exclusive enteral nutrition used to treat children with Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008 Sep 15;28:724-33.
- 228. Guzy C, Schirbel A, Paclik D, Wiedenmann B, Dignass A, Sturm A. Enteral and parenteral nutrition distinctively modulate intestinal permeability and T cell function in vitro. Eur J Nutr. 2009 Feb;48:12-21.
- 229. de Jong NS, Leach ST, Day AS. Polymeric formula has direct anti-inflammatory effects on enterocytes in an in vitro model of intestinal inflammation. Dig Dis Sci. 2007 Sep;52:2029-36.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Dirk Haller and the whole group of Biofunctionality for their support. Further, I would like to thank the GRK1482 and TUM Graduate School for financial support. Special thanks go to Annemarie Schmidt and her tremendous efforts that contributed to the success of the project.

PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

Peer-reviewed original manuscripts and reviews

Wagner SJ, Schmidt A, Effenberger MJP, Haller D. Semi-synthetic diet ameliorates Crohn's disease-like ileitis in $TNF^{\Delta ARE/WT}$ mice. *Inflamm Bowel Dis, accepted for publication.*

Werner T, **Wagner SJ**, Martínez I, Walter J, Chang JS, Clavel T, Kisling S, Schuemann K, Haller D.

Depletion of luminal iron alters the gut microbiota and prevents Crohn's disease-like ileitis. *Gut.* 2011; 60:325-333

Schümann K, Becker C, **Wagner SJ**, Windisch W. Eisen. In *Praxishandbuch Functional Food*. Erbersdobler HF, Mayer AH, Behr's Verlag, 2011:1-39

Werner T, **Wagner SJ**, Haller D. Die Bedeutung von Eisen bei chronisch entzündlichen Darmerkrankungen. In *Bauchredner: Ernährung - Freund und Feind bei CED*. DCCV-Journal, Gerd Rieker Verlag, Neckartailfingen, 1/2010

Published abstracts

Wagner SJ, Werner T, Martínez I, Walter J, Chang JS, Clavel T, Kisling S, Schuemann K, Haller D.

Depletion of Dietary Iron Alters the Gut Microbiome and Prevents Crohn's Disease-Like Ileitis *Z Gastroenterol.* 2011; 49:A2

Werner T, **Wagner SJ**, Martínez I, Walter J, Chang JS, Kisling S, Schuemann K, Haller D. Impact of Luminal and Systemic Iron on the Development of Chronic Ileitis Targeting the Gut Microbial Composition and Stress Response in Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Gastroenterology*. 2010; 138:S-413

Oral presentations

Wagner SJ, Werner T, Martínez I, Walter J, Chang JS, Clavel T, Kisling S, Schuemann K, Haller D.

Depletion of Dietary Iron Alters the Gut Microbiome and Prevents Crohn's Disease-Like Ileitis III. Kloster Arnsburg - Meeting Intestinale Mucosafunktion, July 9-10, 2010, Lich, Germany

Wagner SJ, Werner T, Martínez I, Walter J, Chang JS, Clavel T, Kisling S, Schuemann K, Haller D.

Impact of Luminal and Systemic Iron on the Development of Chronic Ileitis Targeting the Gut Microbial Composition and Stress Response in Intestinal Epithelial Cells.

3rd Seeon Conference (German Society for Hygiene and Mikrobiology, DGHM), June 18-20, 2010, Kloster Seeon, Germany

Wagner SJ, Werner T, Martínez I, Walter J, Chang JS, Kisling S, Schuemann K, Haller D. Effects of dietary and systemic iron on chronic ileitis: Impact on stress response mechanisms in intestinal epithelial cells (IEC).

47. Wissenschaftlicher Kongress der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Ernährung (German Nutrition Society), March 11-12, 2010, Jena, Germany

Wagner SJ, Werner T, Martínez I, Walter J, Chang JS, Kisling S, Schuemann K, Haller D. Effects of dietary and systemic iron on chronic ileitis targeting endoplasmic reticulum stress responses and apoptosis in the epithelium.

5th Congress of the European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation (ECCO), February 25-27, 2010, Prague, Czech Republic

Poster presentations

Wagner SJ, Schmidt A, Haller D.

Dietary Factors in the Regulation of Crohn's Disease-Like Ileitis. 49. Wissenschaftlicher Kongress der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Ernährung (German Nutrition Society), March 14-16, 2012, Freising-Weihenstephan, Germany

Wagner SJ, Werner T, Martínez I, Walter J, Chang JS, Kisling S, Schuemann K, Haller D. Impact of Luminal and Systemic Iron on the Development of Chronic Ileitis Targeting the Gut Microbial Composition and Stress Response in Intestinal Epithelial Cells. Digestive Disease Week (DDW), May 1-5, 2010, New Orleans, USA

CURRICULUM VITAE

Personal information	
Surname / First name	Wagner, Stefan
Date of birth	28 June 1983
Nationality	German
E-mail	Stefan.J.Wagner@gmail.com
Telephone	+49 178 1849771
Address	Valerystraße 96
	85716 Unterschleißheim
Work experience	
since 10/2008	PhD Student
Title of Doctoral Thesis	Dietary factors in the modulation of Crohn's disease-like ileitis
	ZIEL - Chair for Biofunctionality
	Technische Universität München
Education	
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008	Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology)
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis	Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic large
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis	Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma using RNA interference technology and
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis	Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma using RNA interference technology and cytokine neutralization
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis	Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma using RNA interference technology and cytokine neutralization Helmholtz Zentrum München
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis	Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma using RNA interference technology and cytokine neutralization Helmholtz Zentrum München
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis 10/2003 - 09/2006	 Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma using RNA interference technology and cytokine neutralization Helmholtz Zentrum München Bachelor of Science (Molecular Biotechnology)
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis 10/2003 - 09/2006 Title of Bachelor's Thesis	 Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma using RNA interference technology and cytokine neutralization Helmholtz Zentrum München Bachelor of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of functional transgenes and active centromeres
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis 10/2003 - 09/2006 Title of Bachelor's Thesis	 Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma using RNA interference technology and cytokine neutralization Helmholtz Zentrum München Bachelor of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of functional transgenes and active centromeres using FISH and Immuno-FISH
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis 10/2003 - 09/2006 Title of Bachelor's Thesis	 Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma using RNA interference technology and cytokine neutralization Helmholtz Zentrum München Bachelor of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of functional transgenes and active centromeres using FISH and Immuno-FISH Technische Universität München
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis 10/2003 - 09/2006 Title of Bachelor's Thesis	Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology)Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic largecell lymphoma using RNA interference technology andcytokine neutralizationHelmholtz Zentrum MünchenBachelor of Science (Molecular Biotechnology)Analysis of functional transgenes and active centromeresusing FISH and Immuno-FISHTechnische Universität München
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis 10/2003 - 09/2006 Title of Bachelor's Thesis 06/2003	Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology)Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic largecell lymphoma using RNA interference technology andcytokine neutralizationHelmholtz Zentrum MünchenBachelor of Science (Molecular Biotechnology)Analysis of functional transgenes and active centromeresusing FISH and Immuno-FISHTechnische Universität MünchenAbitur (university-entrance diploma)Carl-Orff-Gymnasium, Unterschleiß heim
Education 10/2006 – 09/2008 Title of Master's Thesis 10/2003 - 09/2006 Title of Bachelor's Thesis 06/2003	Master of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of C/EBPβ regulation in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma using RNA interference technology and cytokine neutralization Helmholtz Zentrum München Bachelor of Science (Molecular Biotechnology) Analysis of functional transgenes and active centromeres using FISH and Immuno-FISH Technische Universität München Abitur (university-entrance diploma) Carl-Orff-Gymnasium, Unterschleißheim

ERKLÄRUNG

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die vorliegende Doktorarbeit selbstständig angefertigt habe. Es wurden nur die in der Arbeit genannten Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt. Wörtlich oder sinngemäß übernommenes Gedankengut habe ich als solches kenntlich gemacht.

Ort, Datum

Unterschrift